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Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration and production company with a 
Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange 
(“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). The Company is a 
member of the FTSE 250 Index. The Company has 
Exchangeable Shares listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) and the LSE 
(symbol HOX). 

Heritage is a versatile organisation, dedicated 
to creating and increasing shareholder value 
with a portfolio of quality assets managed by a 
highly experienced team with excellent technical, 
commercial and financial skills. The Company 
has exploration assets in the Kurdistan Region of 
Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, Tanzania, Mali and the 
Democratic Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) and a 
producing asset in Russia.

The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.
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Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.
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2010 Highlights

  Discovered the largest gas field in Iraq in the last 30 years >
Highly productive Jurassic reservoir intervals tested in the Miran West-2  >
well at a restricted cumulative flow rate of over 75 million cubic feet per 
day (“MMscfd”)
Estimated gross P90-P50 in-place volumes of 6.8–9.1 trillion cubic feet  >
(“TCF”), with a P10 upside of 12.3 TCF for Miran West
Management estimates Heritage has mean net risked contingent and  >
prospective resources in Miran West and Miran East of 744 million barrels 
of oil equivalent (“MMboe”), based on a 75% working interest
Miran development options being considered with first export production  >
targeted for 2015 using planned regional infrastructure 
Achieved nearly a twelvefold increase in contingent resources from 53  >
MMbbls to 605 MMboe, following the successful testing of hydrocarbons
Completed 3D seismic acquisition offshore Tanzania; data currently   >
being processed
Further development work in Russia, production increased 65% in 2010 >
Completed the disposal of interests in Block 3A and Block 1, Uganda,   >
(the “Ugandan Assets”)
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Sale of the Ugandan Assets

$1.45BN
2010 special dividend

100pence 
per share

Cash at year end1

$598M

Operational

Financial

Outlook

1 Excluding amounts relating to the Ugandan tax dispute.

All dollars are US dollars unless otherwise stated.

Rig contract to drill Miran West-3 well signed in April, well scheduled to   >
spud July 2011
Exploration drilling to commence on Miran East in Q4 2011 >
3D seismic data being processed for Tanzania with a view to establishing a  >
drilling location
Mali 2D seismic data currently being acquired with a well expected to be  >
drilled in early 2012
Malta 2D seismic data to be acquired during summer 2011 >
Well in Pakistan planned for H2 2011 >
Development options being reviewed for Kurdistan which include a phased  >
development for oil, condensate and gas
First horizontal well to be drilled in Q2, 2011, in the Zapadno Chumpasskoye  >
Field, Russia, which should help to provide a material increase in production
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o u r  a s s e t s

Asset Overview Heritage typically focuses on regions 
which may have been overlooked and where it can 
participate as an early entrant. 

Pakistan
t w o  b l o c k s
3 , 4 8 7  s q  k M

Mali
t w o  b l o c k s
7 2 , 0 0 0  s q  k M

Tanzania
f o u r  b l o c k s
2 5 , 5 0 0  s q  k M

The DRC1

t w o  b l o c k s
6 , 0 0 0  s q  k M

Malta
t w o  b l o c k s
1 8 , 0 0 0  s q  k M

Kurdistan
o n e  b l o c k

1 , 0 1 5  s q  k M

Russia
o n e  b l o c k

2 0 0  s q  k M

1 Licences have been awarded to another operator, see details on page 32.

The Company seeks out opportunities which 
have the potential to continue to generate 
shareholder value including high-impact 
exploration which will target the potential  
for significant hydrocarbon reserves.

c u r r e n t  p o r t f o l i o
The Heritage asset portfolio is geographically 
diversified across Africa, the Middle 
East and Russia with a portfolio of assets 
encompassing a mix of exploration, 
development and production.

Kurdistan remains a core area of focus with 
near-term exploration and appraisal drilling. 
Following the discovery of the large Miran 
Field, the Company is also considering 
development options whilst accelerating the 
current work programme. The 3D seismic 
programme, which is the largest to be 
undertaken in Kurdistan to date, has been 
extended to cover 730 square kilometres.

The first batch of 3D seismic data, covering 
180 square kilometres, is currently being 
processed. In addition, 180 kilometres of 
2D seismic data is scheduled to be acquired 
during the summer of 2011 to define other 
potential prospects.

Appraisal drilling is expected to commence 
on Miran West in the summer of 2011. It is 
planned for two rigs to be drilling by the end 
of the year as exploration drilling on Miran 
East commences.

Work programmes across the remainder of 
Heritage’s portfolio are progressing with 
the acquisition of seismic data and drilling 
planned for 2011. 

 Production
 Exploration
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12.3 TCF

Potential gas in Miran West1

1 Gross P10 estimate.

Targeting approximately 500 MMboe

500MMboe

Heritage has a diverse portfolio of assets 
encompassing a mixture of exploration, development 
and production across different geographical areas.

k u r d i s ta n M a lta ta n z a n i a

Miran block; 75% working interest   >
& operator

heritage was one of the first companies to 
be awarded a production sharing contract 
(“psc”) in kurdistan, an autonomous region 
in the north of federal iraq bordering syria, 
iran and turkey.

early in 2011, heritage announced the 
discovery of a large gas field with the Miran 
west-2 well. the company believes this to 
be the largest gas field to be discovered in 
iraq in the last 30 years. 

a 3d seismic programme began on the 
block in q4 2010 and will cover 730 square 
kilometres. this will define further 
appraisal drilling locations to exploit the 
reservoirs’ fractured networks. in addition, 
180 kilometres of 2d seismic will be  
acquired in the summer to define other 
potential prospects.

a phased development of oil, condensate 
and gas is being considered.

area 2 and area 7; 100% working interest   >
& operator

in december 2007, the group entered into 
a psc with the Maltese government for a 
100% interest in areas 2 and 7 in the south-
eastern offshore region of Malta. the two 
areas are close to, and similar to, a number of 
producing fields offshore libya and tunisia.

heritage has an extensive data set of 
approximately 3,500 kilometres of 2d seismic 
acquired in 2000 which indicates a variety 
of potential prospects. primary targets are 
recognised as major hydrocarbon producing 
zones in the central part of the Mediterranean. 

a further 1,000 kilometres of 2d seismic is 
planned to be acquired in the summer. 

kimbiji; 70.0% working interest & operator  >
of work programme
latham; 29.9% working interest & operator  >
of work programme
kisangire; 55.0% working interest & operator >
lukuliro; 55.0% working interest & operator >

the four areas have a total area of 
approximately 25,500 square kilometres. 
the kimbiji and latham licence areas cover 
approximately 9,300 square kilometres 
and are held under one psc, whilst the 
kisangire and lukuliro licence areas cover the 
remainder and are held under a second psc.

east africa will be a hotspot of exploration 
and appraisal drilling activity throughout 2011.

the acquisition of 300 square kilometres of 
3d seismic offshore tanzania was completed 
in January 2011. this is currently being 
processed with a view to establishing a  
drilling location.
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$298M

pa k i s ta n M a l i r u s s i a

sanjawi; 54% working interest & operator >
zamzama north; 48% working interest   >
& operator

the sanjawi onshore exploration licence 
covers a gross area of 2,258 square kilometres. 
the licence is considered highly prospective 
due to a recent oil discovery to the west of the 
licence, a number of gas fields to the south-
east of the licence and the presence of oil 
seeps on the licence. 

the zamzama north licence is located in 
the south of pakistan in the western part of 
the sindh province and covers an area of 
1,229 square kilometres. heritage acquired 
350 kilometres of 2d seismic on the licence 
in the fourth quarter of 2010 and has since 
confirmed the presence of prospects and 
leads. drilling of a well on the zamzama north 
licence is currently under consideration and 
may commence in the second half of 2011. 
however, this will be dependent on access to 
the licence area which has been affected by 
the large scale floods in 2010.

block 7 and block 11; 75% working interest   >
& operator

heritage has been appointed operator  
with the right to earn a 75% working interest  
in each of blocks 7 and 11 by financing 100% 
of the minimum work programme of seismic 
acquisition and the drilling of one exploration 
well. the two licences have a gross area  
of over 72,000 square kilometres in the  
gao graben. 

the acquisition of over 500 kilometres  
of seismic commenced in april 2011 with  
a view to selecting an initial drilling location  
in early 2012.

zapadno chumpasskoye; 95% equity  >
interest

the licence covers an area of about 200 
square kilometres and contains the zapadno 
chumpasskoye field, discovered in 1997.  

in 2010, well p14 was re-entered and 
relogged but work had to be suspended 
due to spring break-up and resultant access 
difficulties. retesting is expected to occur 
in the second quarter of 2011. in addition a 
horizontal well is planned for May 2011.

in 2010, production averaged 542 bopd 
which is an increase of 65% compared  
to 2009.

rps energy (“rps”), in an independent 
evaluation, estimated that zapadno 
chumpasskoye contains proved and 
probable reserves of 60.6 MMbbls of  
oil net to the group as at 30 June 2009. 

Net present value (discounted at 10%)1

1 RPS as at 30 June 2009.
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Board of Directors

t h e  b u s i n e s s  m o d e l
Portfolio management
The Group seeks high-impact exploration 
plays to deliver shareholder growth. At the 
same time, the Group manages a portfolio of 
assets at different stages of the value chain and 
prioritises work programmes to achieve the 
maximum return.

Experience within the team enables the 
Company to capitalise on opportunities and 
build upon the existing portfolio through the 
acquisition of value creating opportunities. 

Capital discipline
The Group seeks to balance the exploration 
and operational demands of the portfolio  
with financing requirements. This can include 
the monetisation of assets or accessing  
capital markets.

o u r  s t r en g t h s

At the heart of our strategic vision is 
our diverse portfolio. The Company’s 
competitive strengths include:

Demonstrated success of first  >
mover advantage in territories  
such as Uganda and Kurdistan
Proven track record of   >
monetising assets
Ability to expand a portfolio of  >
international plays
Management expertise with a team  >
containing experience of corporate 
finance, legal and industry specific 
skills
Technical expertise with senior  >
members of the team each with 
in excess of 30 years’ industry 
experience
The Group has developed a highly  >
effective network of influential 
industry, political and institutional 
relationships

Strategic Overview and Business Model Heritage 
aims to generate growth in shareholder value by 
focusing on both high-impact international plays 
with the potential to discover significant hydrocarbon 
reserves and through the acquisition of value creating 
opportunities.

First Mover
Investment
Acquisitions

Risk
Financial
Flexibility

Diverse Portfolio

Reputation CSR

Governance
Partnerships

JVs

Governance
The Company seeks to achieve and  
maintain the highest standards in all  
areas of governance.

Regional knowledge and contacts
Relationships with national and regional 
governments are a key focus within the 
business. These relationships provide the 
Company with the ability to assess risk and 
provides a competitive edge versus its peers.

Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”)
The Group considers that an effective CSR 
strategy, supported by robust policies, systems 
and exemplary performance, is a key element 
of our long-term success.
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tota l  s h a r eh o l d er 
r e t u r n  (“ t s r” ) 
f o r  2 010

Track Record Heritage has an exceptional track 
record of generating shareholder value and monetising 
assets. Post the completion of the sale of Heritage’s 
Ugandan Assets, the Company paid a special 
dividend of 100 pence per share to shareholders  
and Bondholders.

2010 special dividend

2011 total mean resources of 744 MMboe1,3

2009 total mean resources of 1,014 MMbbls2,3

TSR since listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange in 19991

10,276%

1 Contingent gas 714
2 Prospective gas 41
3 Contingent oil 75
4 Prospective oil 171

1 Contingent gas 0
2 Prospective gas 0
3 Contingent oil 53
4 Prospective oil 850

1 Management estimates as at January 2011 for Kurdistan.

2 RPS estimates as at 30 June 2009 for Kurdistan.

An independent valuation by RPS in 2009 
estimated that Heritage had total mean 
resources of 1,014 MMbbls in Kurdistan,  
of which the majority were classified  
as prospective. 

In January 2011, Heritage announced the 
discovery of the largest gas field in Iraq in 
the last 30 years. Following this discovery, 
the Miran Field was re-evaluated and 
management estimates, based on initial 
evaluation of the Miran West-2 well, that 
Heritage has mean net risked contingent and 
prospective resources in Miran West and 
Miran East of 744 MMboe, based on a 75% 
working interest. The Kurdistan Regional 
Government (“KRG”) have a back-in right 
which, if exercised, could reduce Heritage’s 
interest to 56.25%.

Following completion of the Miran West-2 
well, management estimates that mean net 
risked contingent resources increased from 
53 MMbbls to 605 MMboe.

3    This information is not covered by the audit opinion of 
the independent registered public accounting firm that 
has audited and reported on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

1 Assumes reinvestment of the 100 pence per share   
 special dividend paid in August 2010.

100pence 
per share
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Sale of Oman holdings for  
$28 million

Achievements Heritage has coupled experienced 
management and technical teams with a track  
record of finding hydrocarbons. The Company has 
long-established relationships and an extensive 
network of contacts in its core activity areas.

08

FTSE 250

$28M
Sale of Oman holdings

09
Entry into the FTSE 250  
Index 

2D Seismic acquisition  
completed on Miran  
Block in Kurdistan

Obtained government 
approval and completed 
farm-in documentation  
in Tanzania 

Commenced three well 
drilling programme in  
Block 1, Uganda

Successful Giraffe 
discovery, connected  
to the Buffalo discovery 

Announced the  
commerciality threshold 
required for development of 
the Albert Basin, Uganda, 
had been surpassed

Reported record test 
results in Uganda with the 
Kingfisher-2 well, Block 3A

Re-organisation of the 
Company and listing  
in London

Successful completion of 
the Kingfisher-3 well, Block 
3A, Uganda, increasing the 
areal extent of the field 

Successful completion of the 
Buffalo-1 well in Block 1, 
Uganda

march 2008 august 2008 december 2008 april 2009

June 2008 september 2008 January 2009
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Completed the disposal  
of the Ugandan Assets  
for a cash consideration 
of $1.45 billion, which 
included $100 million from 
a contractual settlement,  
of which Heritage received 
and retained $1.045 billion

Announced major discovery 
with the Miran West-1 well 
in Kurdistan

Raised approximately 
$217 million through  
a successful placing  
of 25.4 million new 
Ordinary Shares

100 pence 
per share

Miran West-2 well reached 
target depth of 4,426 metres

$217M
Equity placing

Payment of special dividend 
of 100 pence per share

July 2010 november 2010 June 2009

may 2009 august 2009 august 2010 december 2010

Completion of Miran  
West-1 testing, upper 
zone tested at 3,640 
bopd. Testing constrained, 
estimated production 
potential of between  
8,000–10,000 bopd

december 2010
Miran 3D seismic 
programme started 

Offshore Tanzania 3D 
seismic programme began
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h o W  t h e  b oa r d  o p e r at e s
The Board delegates certain responsibilities 
to committees in line with recommendations 
of the 2008 Combined Code (the “Combined 
Code”) and to facilitate the business of  
the Company. 

d e v e lo p m e n t s  i n  2 0 10
We continue to make progress to comply 
fully with the Combined Code and there are 
now only two areas of non-compliance as 
detailed in the Corporate Governance Report 
on page 9. During the year we reviewed the 
new requirements of the 2010 UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the “2010 Code”) and 
the UK Stewardship Code and we made 
preparations for the UK Bribery Act, for which 
guidance has recently been published.

co r p o r at e  s t r u c t u r e

co m m u n i c at i o n s

Corporate Governance The Company aims 
to achieve best practice reporting on corporate 
governance. With a Premium Listing on the LSE, 
the Company is subject to the Financial Services 
Authority’s Listing Rules and the requirement to 
explain how it has applied the main principles of the 
2008 Combined Code on Corporate Governance. 

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Shareholders
Nomination
Committee

Reserves
Committee

CSR
Committee

el ec t
Board

lo o K i n g  a h e a d
In 2011, we will continue with progress 
towards compliance with the 2010 Code and 
review our processes with respect to the UK 
Bribery Act which will become law in July 
2011. The Nomination Committee will, in 
addition, be considering, as part of its general 
review of Board, the requirements of diversity, 
specifically gender, introduced by the 2010 
Code and the implications of the recently 
published Davies Report concerning the 
representation of women on company boards.

For further detail on corporate governance 
please see the separate Corporate  
Governance Report.
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c s r  i n  ac t i o n
Our CSR policy framework is 
integrated within our business model 
and sets out the essential core values 
that we believe make Heritage a good 
corporate citizen. The Company sets 
itself a high standard with which  
to measure itself and we recognise  
the importance of being a partner  
of choice.

Heritage aims to make a positive 
contribution in all areas where it 
operates. Examples of these activities 
can be seen throughout the Asset 
Review on pages 21 to 29 and in the 
separate CSR Report.

d e v e lo p m e n t s  i n  2 0 10
Heritage continued with an excellent health 
and safety record in 2010 with no lost time 
incidents or fatalities. Community projects 
were implemented through health and safety 
programme investments in Tanzania, Russia, 
Kurdistan and Pakistan.

There were no environmental incidents in the 
year and Environmental Impact Assessments 
were conducted for all major work 
programmes in line with local regulations. 

During the year the Company also undertook 
a proactive dissemination exercise to obtain 
feedback on its CSR approach and, in 
addition, engaged a third party to enhance 
policies, stakeholder engagement and 
reporting of CSR issues.

For further detail on CSR please see the 
separate CSR Report.

o u r  v is i o n

We aim to be a responsible and  
transparent business in all the areas  
in which we operate.

CSR encompasses our management 
of relationships with shareholders, 
stakeholders, employees, contractors and 
the local communities in which we work, 
together with our impacts on society and 
the environment.

o u r  a r e a s  o f  i m pac t  a n d  o pp o r t u n i t y

o u r  a ppr oac h

Corporate Social Responsibility The business 
approach of Heritage is underpinned by CSR from 
the first stages of planning and being awarded a 
licence through to the exploration and production 
from a field. 

0 1

0 3

0 5

0 2

0 4

0 6

en v iro nmen t a nd 
sus ta in a bil it y

employ ee s

busine ss 
co nd u c t

he a lt h a nd 
s a fe t y

co m m u ni t y  a nd 
h u m a n r igh ts

co rp o r at e 
gov ern a n ce

Set policies
Devise and 
maintain 
systems

Measure 
and monitor 
performance

Communicate 
and report to 
stakeholders

Apply 
stakeholder 

feedback
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It also provided us with the opportunity to 
pay out a special dividend of 100 pence per 
share in August 2010, which, from investor 
feedback, was well received. This payout 
has still left Heritage with a year end cash 
position approaching $600 million, excluding 
monies relating to the tax dispute in Uganda. 
The decision to exit Uganda was taken with 
recognition that the very large multi-billion 
dollar investment required to develop the 
Albert Basin and the related infrastructure 
was beyond our existing resource capabilities. 
We believe this sale, which generated cash 
of $1.45 billion, of which Heritage received 
and retained $1.045 billion, constituted 
one of the largest completed oil deals in 
Sub-Saharan Africa. Monetisation of these 
assets demonstrates the continued success 
of Heritage’s strategy of gaining a first mover 
advantage, supported by sound decision 
making and technical and operating expertise. 
Our balance sheet remains strong following  
the sale of the Ugandan Assets and we continue 
to actively appraise many new opportunities 
with the potential of generating value  
for shareholders.

Global equity markets remained volatile in 
2010, with debt issues causing markets to 
decline sharply before rebounding in the 
second half of the year. Oil prices remained 
steady in the range of $70–$80 per barrel 
over the year. However, towards the end 
of the year demand growth, particularly in 
emerging markets, coupled with concerns over 
a cold winter caused oil prices to strengthen. 
Oil prices have risen sharply since year end 
following escalating instability in North Africa 
and the Middle East. Heightened instability in 
the world means that there should be further 
opportunities for oil companies, such as 
Heritage, which have an excellent appreciation 
of political and security risk and are nimble 
and able to operate safely and responsibly in 
challenging locations. 

The oil sector continues to face many 
future challenges. In 2010, the spectre 
of environmental, health and safety and 
operational issues rose to prominence with the 
unfortunate incident in the Gulf of Mexico. 
Heritage recognises that its business approach 
is reliant on its approach to CSR matters, 
which includes health and safety and the 
environment. Our track record in both is very 
good. We have operated in Kurdistan for over 
one million man hours without incident. 

As a matter of course we review our systems 
continually to ensure that our operations 
are consistently carried out to the highest 
international standards. The health and safety 
of our employees and contractors, and of those 
living around the areas where we operate, is 
of paramount importance to us. We had no 
environmental spills or incidents and have not 
incurred any warnings or fines relating to our 
environmental management during 2010.

e x p lo r at i o n  o p e r at i o n s
Kurdistan
The Miran West-2 well commenced drilling 
in November 2009 as an appraisal well for 
carbonate reservoirs encountered in the Miran 
West-1 well. After commencing drilling, 
additional seismic data was acquired which 
indicated that the Miran West-2 location was 
optimally located to drill to deeper exploration 
targets. Accordingly, the Miran West-2 well 
was deepened and reached a total depth of 
4,426 metres in November 2010 after which 
a series of tests were conducted. In January 
2011, we announced the discovery of a major 
gas field with oil and condensate. 

Following completion of the test programme, 
hydrocarbon volumes of the Miran Field have 
been re-evaluated. Management currently 
estimates in-place volumes for the Miran West 
structure to have a P90–P50 range of 6.8–9.1 
TCF, with an upside P10 potential of 12.3 
TCF of gas with a P90–P50 range of 42–71 
MMbbls of condensate and 53–75 MMbbls 
of oil. Miran East has an additional estimated 
P90–P50 gas in-place range of 0.6–0.9 TCF 
with a P10 upside of 1.3 TCF. We believe 
Miran to be the largest gas field discovered 
in Iraq in the last 30 years. We are delighted 
to have discovered such a large hydrocarbon 
accumulation, one of the largest within 
Kurdistan, and to have had incredible success 
on this wildcat acreage with our first two wells. 

Most importantly, a gas field of this size is a 
commercial discovery and we are considering 
many different development options including 
deliveries to local markets in Kurdistan 
and exports to Turkey and to the European 
market via the proposed Nabucco Pipeline. 
Discussions with the Kurdistan Regional 
Government (the “KRG”) over the fast-
tracked phased development of the Miran 
Field have continued. The KRG has outlined 
their favoured development options for gas 
utilisation and the initial priority will be 
to satisfy local gas demand by supplying 
produced gas on commercial terms to local 
power stations and other end-users in the 

Chief Executive’s Review The sale of our 
Ugandan Assets in 2010 reconfirms our 
ability to monetise assets at the appropriate 
stage of a project. 

a n t h o n y  b u c K i n gh a m
c h i ef  e x ec u t i v e
o ff i c er
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Sulymaniyah region in 2013. This will then 
be followed by the export of gas to Turkey/
Europe and production of the oil and 
condensate zones enabling full development 
of the field.

Management believes that there is further 
potential for condensate and gas which we 
will appraise with our accelerated drilling 
programme which will begin in July with the 
Miran West-3 well. This will take an estimated 
160 days to drill and test and is targeting 
the flanks of the Jurassic structure, with 
the benefit of the current 3D seismic survey. 
The well will appraise the Upper and Lower 
Cretaceous reservoirs whilst drilling to its 
primary Jurassic objective, with an estimated 
total depth of approximately 3,800 metres. 
On completion of this well the rig will move 
to drill the Miran West-4 appraisal well. 
A second rig is being sourced to drill the 
Miran East-1 exploration well in the fourth 
quarter of this year, at which point we will 
have two rigs operating in country. 

Additionally, deeper potential remains in the 
Miran Field as a target in the Triassic was not 
reached in the Miran West-2 well, since this 
proved to be beyond the operating capability 
of the rig. 

We were expecting to discover a multi-
phase hydrocarbon province with gas and 
condensate in the deeper horizons and 
oil in the shallower Cretaceous zones and 
while drilling, there were shows throughout 
the Cretaceous consistent with liquid 
hydrocarbons. However, on test, the Lower 
Cretaceous produced liquid rich gas which 
resulted in a reduction in the overall estimated 
oil resources of the field. Management now 
estimates, based on initial evaluation of 
the well, that Heritage has mean net risked 
contingent and prospective resources in Miran 
West and Miran East of 744 MMboe, based 
on a 75% working interest, thereby increasing 
mean net contingent risked resources from 
53 MMbbls to 605 MMboe. The KRG has a 
back-in right which could, if exercised, reduce 
Heritage’s working interest to 56.25%. 

We are currently acquiring 730 square 
kilometres of 3D seismic across the Miran 
Block to help define further appraisal drilling 
locations to exploit the fracture networks. 
This is the largest ever 3D seismic programme 
undertaken, to date, in Kurdistan. We will 
be analysing the data in separate tranches 
to expedite understanding of the structures. 

In addition we will also be acquiring 180 
kilometres of 2D seismic across the Block 
in the summer of 2011 to help define other 
potential prospects.

tanz ania
Acquisition of 300 square kilometres of 3D 
seismic data offshore Tanzania commenced 
in 2010 and was completed in January 2011. 
The data is currently being processed which 
should help to establish a location for drilling. 
East Africa has become a hot-spot in recent 
months as there have been many significant 
gas discoveries made offshore Tanzania and in 
neighbouring Mozambique. This is significant 
as the possibility of an export LNG terminal 
moves much closer with each new discovery. 

other explor ation assets
Work programmes are progressing across 
the remainder of Heritage’s exploration asset 
portfolio. Acquisition of approximately 500 
kilometres of 2D seismic data has commenced 
in Block 11 in Mali with a view to establishing a 
drilling location for early 2012. In Malta, Heritage 
is planning the acquisition of 1,000 kilometres of 
2D seismic data this summer. Finally, in Pakistan, 
we plan to commence drilling on the Zamzama 
North licence when the challenges presented by 
last year’s floods are overcome which we estimate 
will be in the second half of this year.

p r o d u c t i o n  o p e r at i o n s 
russia
Our Zapadno Chumpasskoye Field is located 
in Western Siberia. Production during the 
year averaged 542 bopd which is an increase 
over the previous year of 65%. In 2010, well 
P14, an exploration well drilled in 1976, 
was re-entered and relogged but work was 
suspended due to spring break-up and access 
difficulties. Further development work is 
being undertaken in 2011 and a horizontal 
well should commence drilling in May 2011. 
This is the first horizontal well to be drilled in 
the licence and it is hoped that this will lead to 
a material increase in production.

c o r p o r at e
In December 2009, a Sale and Purchase 
Agreement (the “SPA”) was executed with ENI 
International B.V. (“Eni”) to sell Heritage’s 
50% working interests in Blocks 1 and 3A in 
Uganda (the “Ugandan Assets”). In January 
2010, Tullow Uganda Limited (“Tullow”) 
exercised its right of pre-emption on the same 
terms and conditions as agreed with Eni. 
The transaction completed on 26 July 2010.

“ As a matter of course we review our systems 
continually to ensure that our operations  
are consistently carried out to the highest 
international standards.”
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Chief Executive’s Review continued

“ We are firmly focused on upstream 
opportunities that will create value through a 
balanced international portfolio of production, 
development and high-impact exploration.”

On completion, Tullow paid a cash 
consideration of $1.35 billion and an 
additional contractual settlement amount of 
$100 million, of which Heritage has received 
and retained $1.045 billion. An additional, 
approximately $405 million, was in part 
deposited with the Government of the 
Republic of Uganda (“Government”) and 
in part held in escrow pending resolution 
of a tax dispute with the Ugandan Revenue 
Authority (the “URA”). Heritage’s position, 
based on comprehensive advice from leading 
tax experts in Uganda, the United Kingdom 
and North America, is that the disposal of the 
Ugandan Assets is not taxable in Uganda. 

On 15 April 2011, Heritage and its wholly 
owned subsidiary Heritage Oil and Gas 
Limited (“HOGL”) received Particulars of 
Claim filed in the High Court of Justice in 
England by Tullow seeking $313,447,500 
for alleged breach of contract as a result of 
HOGL’s and Heritage’s refusal to reimburse 
Tullow in relation to a payment made by 
Tullow of $313,447,500 on 7 April 2011 to 
the URA. Heritage and HOGL believe that 
the claim has no basis and will vigorously and 
robustly defend it. Heritage and HOGL have 
also reserved their other rights against Tullow 
and against Government.

On 15 April 2011, HOGL sent a request 
to Tullow, as a co-signatory to the escrow 
account with Standard Chartered Bank, for 
the release of $283,447,000 plus interest to 
HOGL. HOGL contends that, consequent 
on Tullow’s admission that its payment of 
$313,447,000 to the URA has discharged 
HOGL’s alleged tax liability, funds no longer 
need to be held in escrow.

On 27 August, 2010, Heritage returned 
approximately $490 million to shareholders 
and Bondholders through a 100 pence per 
share special dividend. The remainder of 
Heritage’s funds, $598 million excluding 
amounts related to the Uganda tax dispute, 
will be allocated between accelerating work 

programmes on our existing asset portfolio 
and potential acquisitions.

Heritage’s strategy of first mover advantage, 
supported by sound decision making and 
technical and operating expertise, has proven 
to be successful. Since listing in 1999 on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange, Heritage has 
achieved a remarkable return to shareholders 
of 10,276% to 31 December 2010. Our 
management team is closely aligned in 
interests to our shareholders, through its 30% 
shareholding, and is dedicated to continuing 
to achieve superior performance during the 
next decade. 

o p p o r t u n i t i e s
Heritage has been reviewing a substantial 
number of corporate and asset opportunities 
to position itself to continue to generate value 
for shareholders. We are firmly focused on 
upstream opportunities that will create value 
through a balanced international portfolio 
of production, development and high impact 
exploration. 

c o r p o r at e  s o c i a l 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y
The framework of our CSR policy continues 
to evolve and in 2010 we established a Board 
level CSR Committee. One of the important 
responsibilities of this new committee is to 
review community involvement regularly. 
We believe that our active, ongoing 
involvement in community projects in the 
areas where we operate is fundamental 
in developing and maintaining strong 
relationships within these regions. 

During 2010, we spent a total of $945,991 on 
CSR related activities. During the first half 
of 2010 we continued with our programmes 
in Uganda with the completion of the 
water gravity system in Hoima, providing 
clean water to over 6,000 villagers across 
five villages and with our support for the 
Carl Nefdt School. 
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CSR spend in 2010, $’000

$946
Our community programmes in both 
Kurdistan and Tanzania are progressing with 
the benefit of the framework developed from 
our experience in Uganda.

Kurdistan
Our current activities in this region are 
focused on supporting local education, 
healthcare and assisting the development of 
local infrastructure. We pay an annual fee to 
the KRG towards environmental costs and 
for the training of local staff. During 2010, 
our initiatives in local schools have benefited 
approximately 250 teachers and pupils. 
Furthermore, we have undertaken work in the 
region to help repair some of the main access 
roads to villages near our operations.

tanz ania
Our activities in this region have focused on 
supporting the local health services. In June 
2010, we made a donation to the Baobab 
Maternity Hospital in Dar es Salaam where 
a new maternity hospital is urgently needed. 
The government has donated land for the 
hospital and will provide support in terms of 
salaries, supplies and equipment. The donation 
has been provided to contribute towards 
the construction, management and service 
delivery of the Baobab Maternity Hospital. 
The expectation is that every year this hospital 
will save thousands of lives, reduce the spread 
of HIV/AIDS and prevent the occurrence of 
disabilities. Currently, reproductive health 
services in Dar es Salaam are insufficient and 
do not meet the needs of the hundreds of daily 
births. Consequently, maternal and newborn 
death rates are very high and much of this 
suffering can be prevented.

paKistan
In light of the unprecedented floods in 
Pakistan, Heritage committed $72,000 to a 
disaster relief fund and immediate relief to 
those most affected in our Zamzama North 
licence area.

o u t lo o K
Heritage has a strong balance sheet with 
which to pursue opportunities to create 
further value for our shareholders. I believe 
that 2011 will be Heritage’s busiest year 
ever as we accelerate work programmes in 
our current portfolio and also look for new 
opportunities. 

As always, I am very grateful to our 
management team, employees and supportive 
Board for their dedication and contribution to 
the remarkable progress made by Heritage this 
past year.

Finally, to our shareholders, thank you for your 
continued support and interest in Heritage.

a n t h o n y  b u c K i n g h a m
c h i ef  e x ec u t i v e  o ff i c er



In 1997 Heritage entered Uganda as the 
pioneering oil company and the first to 
explore there for almost 60 years. After 
13 years in country and having spent 
$182 million, Heritage sold the Ugandan 
Assets to Tullow for a cash consideration of 
$1.45 billion, including $100 million from  
a contractual settlement, for which Heritage 
received and retained $1.045 billion. During 
this time Heritage proved up approximately 
0.8 billion barrels of oil in the Albert Basin 
and surpassed the commerciality threshold 
for the development of the basin.

A producing asset in Oman was acquired in 
1996 and this was disposed in 2009 for $28 
million. In 2005, Heritage acquired a 95% 
interest in the Zapadno Chumpasskoye Field 
in Russia which remains the producing asset 
within the portfolio. 

Exploration assets in Kurdistan, Mali, Malta 
and Pakistan were added to the portfolio in 
2007 and in 2008 licences in Tanzania were 
awarded to Heritage.

Our Heritage

Wells planned over 2011/2012

10
Increase in production in 2010

65%

Having listed in 1999 on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange, Heritage undertook a corporate 
reorganisation in 2008 and moved its primary 
listing to the UK. In June 2008, the Company 
entered the FTSE 250 Index. 

Today the portfolio covers seven countries 
over the core areas of Africa, the Middle East 
and Russia. Assets remain predominantly 
exploration and appraisal focused with a 
producing asset in Russia. At the end of 2010 
Heritage had $598 million in available cash 
with which to fund exploration, appraisal and 
development opportunities across the current 
portfolio whilst also looking to add further 
value through new ventures. 

Heritage was founded in 1992 and was initially 
formed to hold certain oil and gas exploration 
interests offshore Angola. In 1997 Heritage was 
awarded interests onshore Congo and later went 
on to discover the M’Boundi Field in 2001 which 
Heritage went on to monetise with substantial  
gains achieved.
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k u r d is ta n  c s r  pr o gr a m m e s

In October 2007, the Group signed a PSC 
with the KRG and was appointed operator of 
the Miran Block, which covers approximately 
1,015 square kilometres, in the southern 
part of Kurdistan. The Miran structure lies 
approximately 65 kilometres from the giant 
Kirkuk oilfield and 30 kilometres from the Taq 
Taq Field, which is on production.

As an early entrant in Kurdistan, the Group 
is strongly positioned to benefit from 
development of this significant hydrocarbon-
prone region especially as the already stable 
security situation and political environment 
continue to improve. Federal elections 
were held in March 2010 and a coalition 
government, which included officials from 
Kurdistan, was formed in December 2010.  

 Area Date Heritage 
Licence (sq km) awarded equity Partners Operator

Miran 1,015 Oct 2007 75%1 Genel Energy Heritage

1 Back-in rights exist which, if exercised fully, could result in a minimum holding of 56.25%.

Kurdistan Heritage was one of the first companies 
to be awarded a PSC in Kurdistan. Kurdistan is 
an autonomous region in the north of federal Iraq 
bordering Syria, Iran and Turkey.

In February 2011, production from two fields in 
Kurdistan was exported to Turkey by pipeline.

It is generally acknowledged that there is huge 
potential in Kurdistan for as yet undiscovered 
hydrocarbons, estimated by the US Geological 
Survey at approximately 40 billion barrels 
of oil and 60 TCF of gas. Additionally, it has 
been reported that 80% of all wells drilled in 
Iraq have encountered hydrocarbons.

The work programme to date has been very 
successful with Heritage finding the largest 
gas field to be discovered in Iraq in the last 
30 years with the Miran West-2 well.

IRAQ

MIRAn

Erbil

Mosul

Sulymaniyah

 Heritage licence
 Oil fields
 Gas fields
 Gas condensate field
 Existing oil pipeline
 Existing gas pipeline
 Proposed oil pipeline
  Proposed gas pipeline

In Kurdistan our CSR programmes have, 
over the year, been focused on supporting 
local education, healthcare and assisting 
the development of local infrastructure. In 
addition, we pay an annual fee to the KRG 

towards environmental costs and the training 
of local staff. 75% of our staff in Kurdistan are 
local people. 



Annual Review 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

2 2

Kurdistan continued

Cretaceous, identified on the basis of oil shows 
in the Miran West-1 well, being reclassified as 
wet gas/condensate. 

Management expects that the proven 
hydrocarbons in the Upper Cretaceous can be 
produced commercially as demonstrated by 
the 8,000–10,000 bopd potential of the Miran 
West-1 well. Furthermore, future drilling 
programmes will be designed to benefit from 
the fracture networks in order to achieve 
optimal production rates.

i n - p l ac e  h y d r o c a r b o n 
V o l u m e s
Following completion of the test programme, 
the hydrocarbon volumes of the Miran Field 
have been re-evaluated and management 
estimates in-place volumes for the Miran West 
structure to have a P90–P50 range of 6.8–9.1 
TCF, with an upside P10 potential of 12.3 TCF 
of gas. Miran East has an additional estimated 
P90–P50 gas in–place range of 0.6–0.9 
TCF with a P10 upside of 1.3 TCF. This is 
in addition to the estimated P50–P90 range 
of 42–71 MMbbls of condensate and 53–75 
MMbbls of oil. 

An extensive coring programme linked  
with wireline log analysis in Miran West-2 
has indicated the presence of matrix porosity 

h e a lt h  a n d  s a fe t y

The Miran West-2 appraisal well, located 
approximately four kilometres north-west of 
the Miran West-1 discovery well, commenced 
drilling in november 2009 with the aim of 
appraising hydrocarbons in the Cretaceous 
formations discovered by that well. Data 
acquired after drilling operations commenced 
indicated that the Miran West-2 well was also 
optimally positioned to test deeper exploration 
objectives with potential for further substantial 
quantities of hydrocarbons.

The well was subsequently modified to assess 
the exploration potential of these deeper 
formations and was eventually drilled to a total 
depth of 4,426 metres. The well results have 
confirmed three additional pay zones within 
the Lower Cretaceous and Jurassic formations, 
in addition to the pay zone identified in the 
Upper Cretaceous in the Miran West-1 well.  
A deeper target in the Triassic was not reached 
as this was beyond the operational capability  
of the drilling rig.

Well results have established that the Miran 
Field contains two hydrocarbon systems, with 
oil in the shallower Upper Cretaceous section 
and wet gas/condensate within the deeper 
Lower Cretaceous and Jurassic formations. 
This resulted in the previously anticipated 
prospective oil resources in the Lower 

t h e  W o r k  p r o g r a m m e 
to  dat e
The Miran Block contains two large structures, 
Miran West and Miran East, which have been 
mapped from the 332 kilometres of excellent 
quality 2D seismic data acquired by Heritage in 
2008. The Miran West structure is believed to 
be one of the larger structures in Kurdistan, 
with an estimated areal extent of up to 200 
square kilometres. Miran East has an estimated 
areal extent of 130 square kilometres.

Drilling of the Miran West-1 well commenced 
in December 2008 and reached a total depth 
of 2,935 metres in March 2009. Drilling 
operations were designed to cope with potential 
high reservoir pressures which, in fact, were not 
encountered and resulted in the loss of drilling 
fluid and lost circulation material in the highly 
permeable fractured reservoirs. The large 
volumes of fluids lost constrained initial testing 
operations severely. Testing was completed in 
August 2009 with a flow rate of 3,640 bopd 
recorded from a single upper reservoir interval. 
The tests in the Lower Cretaceous were 
unsuccessful due to formation damage that had 
occurred whilst drilling, although oil shows 
were seen throughout this section. 

s u m m a r y  o f  t h e  r e s u lt s  o f  t e s t i n g  o p e r at i o n s  o f  m i r a n  W e s t- 2

 Depth Gross      
 of test thickness   Flow Rates   
 interval interval Choke Gas Oil Yield Oil  
Reservoir age (m MDBRT) metres (64ths ) (MMscfd) (bbld) (bbl/MMscf) Api Hydrocarbon type

Upper Cretaceous  714 to 1,000 436 Pump – Trace – –  Oil

Lower Cretaceous  2,117 to 2,220 911 24/64 0.2 Trace – –  Wet gas

Jurassic
  2,992 to 3,115 

540
 40/64 26.71 432 16.2 60.9 Wet gas/lean

 3,327 to 3,410  40/64 25.51 67 2.6 54.3 condensate

Jurassic  3,465 to 3,533 92 40/64 26.01 70 2.7 52.2 Wet gas

1  The test rates were constrained by the capacity of the surface equipment and the well test data indicate that individual test intervals could produce at rates of 40 MMscfd with the well 
capable of producing between 60–100 MMscfd when placed on production. 

Health and safety is a priority and a core 
element of all of our activities. In 2010 there 
were no lost time incidents (“LTIs”) and no 
fatalities reported across our operations.
There have been over one million man hours 

worked in Kurdistan with zero LTIs which is a 
remarkable achievement. 

Heritage also helps with healthcare in local 
communities where we operate.

+1m 
hrs



t r a i n i n g

e s t i m at e d  r e s o u r c e s1, 2 –  m i r a n  W e s t  a n d  m i r a n  e a s t
 
  Low Best High  
Resources   (P90) (P50) (P10) Mean 
MMboe  MMboe MMboe MMboe MMboe

Contingent  420 578 822 605

Prospective3 Miran West and Miran East  100 131 175 135

Consolidated Total4  550 722 968 744

1  Management estimates.
2  Based on 75% working interest.
3  Risked at 76% Chance of Success.
4  Volumes were calculated separately and consolidated so may not sum.

within the Cretaceous and Jurassic formations. 
Management estimates, based on initial 
evaluation of the Miran West-2 well, that 
Heritage has mean net risked contingent and 
prospective resources in Miran West and Miran 
East of 744 MMboe, based on a 75% working 
interest, thereby increasing mean net risked 
contingent resources almost twelvefold from 
53 MMbbls to 605 MMboe. The KRG has a 
back-in right which could, if exercised, reduce 
Heritage’s working interest to 56.25%.

f o r Wa r d  p r o g r a m m e  a n d 
d e V e lo p m e n t
Results from drilling, fieldwork and initial 
indications from the 3D seismic programme 
indicate that there are pervasive fracture 
networks across the Miran structures. Future 
drilling plans will be designed to intersect 
these fracture networks in order to achieve 
optimal flow rates. Following the success of 
the Miran West-2 well, Heritage is accelerating 
the forward programme on the Miran West 
structure with an additional angled well, Miran 
West-3, expected to commence drilling in the 
summer of 2011. On completion of this well 
the rig will move to drill the Miran West-4 
appraisal well. A second rig is being sourced to 
drill the Miran East-1 exploration well in the 
fourth quarter of 2011.

The acquisition of 3D seismic over the Miran 
Block began in the fourth quarter of 2010 
and will help define further appraisal drilling 
locations designed to exploit the reservoirs’ 
fracture networks. After the success of the 
Miran West-2 well, the programme was 
enlarged by a further 180 square kilometres to 
a total of approximately 730 square kilometres.
This extension to the programme is aimed at 
the southern flanks of both the Jurassic and 
Cretaceous structures. Data will be analysed 
in separate tranches to expedite understanding 
of the structures. Initial samples indicate 
good quality data and the first batch of 3D 
seismic data, covering 180 square kilometres, 
is currently being processed. In addition, 180 
kilometres of 2D seismic will be acquired in the 
summer to define other potential prospects.

d e V e lo p m e n t  o f  t h e  
m i r a n  f i e l d
Heritage is currently considering potential 
development options which could include an 
early phased development of the oil, condensate 
and gas. This could include gas sales to a local 
power station in Kurdistan and either bringing 
gas into Turkey and/or into Europe via the 
nabucco pipeline, with first export production 
targeted for 2015. 

All employees are provided with the 
opportunity to develop their potential and, 
where appropriate, to further their careers 
within the Group. On the job training  
and third party training is provided to  
all local personnel. 

$212,500 was spent on training and related 
courses in 2010 which includes a focus on 
operational, ecological and fire safety and 
health and safety.
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The location of the Miran Field in Kurdistan 
makes it ideally placed to gain access to secure 
and profitable gas markets in either Turkey or 
Europe. Over the last two years, a number of 
major gas companies, including OMV, MOL 
and RWE, have entered into agreements in 
Kurdistan with a view to creating a route to 
market for Kurdistan’s major gas reserves.
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en V i r o n m en t  a n d  su s ta i n a b i l i t y

The licences cover almost 18,000 square 
kilometres and are situated approximately 
80 kilometres and 140 kilometres, offshore 
Malta, for Area 2 and Area 7 respectively, 
in water depths of up to approximately 300 
metres. The two Areas are close to, and similar 
to, a number of producing fields offshore 
Libya and Tunisia.

The licences are under explored with only one 
well previously drilled in Area 2; the Medina 
Bank-1 well in 1980. The well was drilled to 
a depth of 1,225 metres but failed to reach 
the target horizons, estimated to be between 
1,500 and 4,500 metres. 

The current seismic interpretation is based 
on an extensive data set of almost 3,500 
kilometres of 2D seismic data acquired in 
2000 which indicates a variety of potential 
prospects. Primary targets are Miocene, Lower 
Eocene and Cretaceous mounded carbonates 
that are recognised as major hydrocarbon 
producing zones in the central part of the 
Mediterranean. In addition, the Company 
has recognised the presence of a north-south 
trending shelf margin on the eastern part of 
the blocks where a number of attractive reef 
prospects have been mapped.

The original PSC had a term of three years and 
was extended in December 2010 for a further 
period of two years. 

Heritage will acquire a further 1,000 
kilometres of 2D seismic data this summer 
following which a high impact exploration 
well is planned, targeting approximately 
500 MMboe.

  Area Date Heritage 
Licence  (sq km) awarded equity

Area 2  9,190 December 2007 100%

Area 7  8,778 December 2007 100%

Malta In December 2007, the Group entered into a 
PSC with the Maltese government for a 100% interest 
in Areas 2 and 7 in the south-eastern offshore region 
of Malta.

 Heritage licence
 Exploration well
 Oil and gas shows
 Oil fields
 Gas fields

TUnISIA

LIBYA

SICILY

MALTA

AREA 7

AREA 2

Tunis
Siracusa

Medina 
Bank-1

Stax

Tripoli

Heritage is committed to making a positive 
contribution to the protection of the 
environment in areas in which we operate  
and to minimise any adverse effects of  
our operations.

Again in 2010, Heritage had no environmental 
incidents, such as spills, during the year. 
Environmental Impact Assessments are 
conducted for all major work programmes  
in line with local regulations.
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b ao b a b  m at er n i t y  h os pi ta l

The four areas comprise approximately 
25,000 square kilometres. The Kimbiji and 
Latham licence areas cover approximately 
9,300 square kilometres and are held under 
one PSC, whilst the Kisangire and Lukuliro 
licence areas cover the remainder and are held 
under a second PSC.

The licence areas are close to the Mkuranga-1 
gas discovery which was drilled in 2007 and 
reportedly flowed gas at a rate of 20 MMscfd 
from an Upper Cretaceous reservoir. The large 
Songo Songo producing gas field is located to the 
south-east of the licence areas. The Wingayongo 
oil seep is present within the Kisangire licence 
area, indicating the presence in the region of a 
working hydrocarbon system that is generating 
both oil and gas. The Mafia Deep discovery 
is close to the Latham licence area and has 
estimated recoverable gas of 4 TCF.

Activity off the east coast of Africa has 
increased over the last year with wells drilled 
by BG Group, Ophir, Cove and Anadarko with 
several gas discoveries made which underpins 
the gas potential of the area. This is significant 
as the possibility of an export LnG terminal 
moves much closer with each new discovery.

l at h a m  a n d  k i m b i j i
The Latham and Kimbiji licence areas, 
encompasses onshore (1,881 square 
kilometres), near shore (2,981 square 
kilometres) and deep water (4,491 square 
kilometres) areas. The PSC was awarded  
to Petrodel Resources Limited (“Petrodel”)  
by the Tanzanian government in  
September 2006. 

In 2008, 207 kilometres of 2D seismic was 
acquired onshore in the Kimbiji licence area. 
The acquisition of over 300 square kilometres 

 Area Date Heritage   
Licence (sq km) awarded equity Partners Operator

Kisangire 7,280 May 2005 55% Dominion Heritage

Lukuliro 8,829 May 2005 55% Dominion Heritage

Kimbiji 4,298 September 2006 70% Petrodel Heritage1

Latham 5,056 September 2006 29.9% Petrodel Heritage1

1 Operator of the work programme.

Tanzania In April 2008, Heritage entered into  
farm-in agreements on two licences in eastern 
Tanzania, comprising four areas (Latham, Kimbiji, 
Kisangire and Lukuliro licence areas).

of fully migrated 3D seismic offshore 
Tanzania commenced in December 2010 and 
was completed in January 2011. The data 
is currently being processed with a view to 
establishing a drilling location.

k i s a n g i r e  a n d  l u k u l i r o
The PSA was originally awarded to Dominion 
Oil & Gas Limited (“Dominion”) in May 
2005. The acquisition of 207 kilometres of 2D 
seismic data commenced in the onshore part 
of the Kimbiji licence area in September 2008 
and was followed by the acquisition of 198 
kilometres of 2D seismic data in the Kisangire 
licence area. Following a technical review it 
was decided that the Kisangire and Lukuliro 
licence areas have limited prospectivity and 
so all capitalised costs in respect of these two 
areas have been written off.

 Heritage licence
 Exploration well
 Oil and gas shows
 Oil seep
 Gas fields

TAnZAnIA

LUKULIRO

KISAnGIRE

Songo Songo

Mafia Deep-1
Wingayongo
oil seep

LATHAM
Mkuranga-1

KIMBIJI

In June 2010, Heritage made a donation to the 
Baobab Maternity Hospital in Dar es Salaam 
where a new maternity hospital is urgently 
needed. The donation has been provided 
to contribute towards the construction, 
management and service delivery of the 

Baobab Maternity Hospital with the 
expectation that every year the hospital will 
save thousands of lives, reduce the spread  
of HIV/AIDS and prevent the occurrence  
of disabilities.
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The current seismic database used to map 
the Zamzama north licence comprises some 
1,000 kilometres of good quality 2D seismic 
including 350 kilometres of new, very good 
quality data acquired by Heritage in the fourth 
quarter of 2010. On the basis of this data, 
Heritage has mapped a number of structural 
prospects and leads. The drilling of a well 
on the Zamzama north licence is currently 
under consideration and may commence in 
the second half of 2011. However, this will be 
dependent on access to the licence area which 
was affected by large scale floods in 2010.

Z a m Z a m a  n o r t h
In December 2008, Heritage obtained a 
48% interest in the Zamzama north licence 
(number 2667-8) and was appointed operator. 
The Zamzama north licence is located in the 
south of Pakistan in the western part of the 
Sindh Province approximately 200 kilometres 
north-west of Hyderabad and covers an area of 
1,229 square kilometres.

Any discovered hydrocarbons could be readily 
connected to the existing infrastructure as one 
of the main pipelines runs through the licence. 
To the south of, and adjacent to Zamzama 
north, is the Zamzama Gas Field, a major 
Upper Cretaceous gas accumulation.

 Area Date Heritage   
Licence (sq km) awarded equity Partners Operator

Sanjawi Permit 2,258 november 54% Hycarbex Heritage
  2007  American Energy 
    Sprint Energy 
    Trakker Energy 

Zamzama north 1,229 December 48% Hycarbex Heritage
  2008  American Energy 
    Sprint Energy 
    Trakker Energy 

Pakistan Heritage is operator of two licences  
in Pakistan.

s a n jaW i
Heritage has a 54% interest and is operator 
of the Sanjawi licence (number 3068–2) in 
Zone II (Baluchistan) which was awarded in 
november 2007. This onshore exploration 
licence covers a gross area of 2,258 square 
kilometres and is considered highly 
prospective due to a recent oil discovery to the 
west of the licence, a number of gas fields to 
the south-east of the licence and the presence 
of oil seeps on the licence. The licence is 
dominated by a series of broad east-west 
trending surface features including the Dabbar 
and Warkan Shah anticlines. These are large 
structures, the Dabbar anticline being some 
300 square kilometres in area.

 Heritage licence
 Oil fields
 Gas fields
 Existing oil pipeline
 Existing gas pipeline

AFGHAnISTAn

IRAn

PAKISTAn

InDIA

ZAMZAMA
nORTH

SAnJAWIQuetta

Peshawar
Islamabad

Lahore

l a r ge  s c a l e  flo o ds  i n  2 010

In 2010 Pakistan experienced large scale 
floods. As a consequence Heritage committed 
$72,000 to a disaster relief fund and for 
immediate relief to those that were most 
affected in our Zamzama north licence area. 

Heritage staff in the region personally 
delivered survival packs, which were 
sustenance living for a family of four for  
a week, on several occasions. 

$72k
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magnetic survey. This data shows the presence 
of tilted fault-blocks and indicates the possible 
presence of up to 4,000 metres of sediments 
above a Paleozoic succession.

Previous drilling in the Gao Graben 
encountered oil and gas shows. The Tin 
Bergoui water well, which lies approximately 
30 kilometres to the west of Block 11, 
was drilled to a depth of 350 metres and 
encountered oil and gas shows in a number 
of horizons, indicating the potential for a 
working hydrocarbon system.

A two year extension to the original term of 
the licences was awarded in January 2009 
and a further three year extension to Block 
11, which was due to expire this year, was 
awarded in 2011. This will allow the Group a 
better opportunity to refine and complete the 
work programme. The acquisition of over 500 
kilometres of 2D seismic data commenced 
in February 2011, with a view to selecting an 
initial drilling location for early 2012.

Heritage has been appointed operator with 
the right to earn a 75% working interest 
in each of Blocks 7 and 11 by financing 
100% of the minimum work programme of 
seismic acquisition and the drilling of one 
exploration well. The Group’s partner is Mali 
Oil Developments SARL, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Centric Energy Corporation 
which has since been acquired by Africa Oil 
Corporation (“Africa Oil”) in a deal completed 
in February 2011.

The two licences are located in the Gao 
Graben in the eastern part of the country; a 
Mesozoic basin that management considers 
geologically similar to other Mesozoic interior-
rift basins within north Africa, such as the 
Muglad Basin of Sudan and the Doba Basin of 
Chad. The Gao Graben has been delineated 
by various surveys conducted since the early 
1970’s, including over 2,000 kilometres of 
2D seismic and a comprehensive gravity and 

 Area 
Licence (sq km) Awarded Equity Partner Operator

Block 7 39,804 July 2006 75% Africa Oil Heritage

Block 11 32,810 June 2005 75% Africa Oil Heritage

Mali Heritage announced in March 2008 that the 
Government of Mali had approved Heritage’s farm-in 
on two exploration licences with a gross area of over 
72,000 square kilometres in the Gao Graben.

 Heritage licence
 Exploration well
 Oil and gas shows

MALI

MAURITAnIA

ALGERIA

nIGERIA

BURKInO FASO

BLOCK 7

BLOCK 11

Bamako

Koulikoro
Segou

Mopti

Gao

Kidal

niarney

Ouagadougou
Sikasso

Timbuktu

Tin Bergoui-1

co m m u n i t y  a n d  h u m a n  r i gh t s

Heritage aims to promote sharing of economic 
benefits created by activities through the conduct 
of community relationships and is firmly 
committed to upholding principles set out in the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

A natural part of new project development 
involves consultation with local communities as 
well as government authorities, to identify ways 
in which Heritage’s expertise can be best applied.
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This licence, which expires in 2024, is in the 
hydrocarbon-rich West Siberian province 
of Khanty-Mansiysk, approximately 100 
kilometres from the city of nizhnevartovsk 
and in the area of the region’s prolific Samotlor 
oilfield, which makes it accessible to existing 
infrastructure. The licence covers an area of 
about 200 square kilometres and contains the 
Zapadno Chumpasskoye Field, discovered 
in 1997. A total of nine wells were drilled on 
the licence prior to 2005, and the Group has 
drilled a further three wells.

RPS, in an independent evaluation, estimated 
that Zapadno Chumpasskoye contains proved 
and probable reserves of 60.6 million barrels 
of oil net to the Group as at 30 June 2009 
with a net Present Value, discounted at 10%, 
estimated to be $298 million.

 net working and net present value 
 entitlement reserves ($ million in 
 MMbbls money of the day)

Proved   23.4  60

Probable Additional   37.2  238

Total Proved + Probable   60.6  298

Total Proved + Probable + Possible   164.0  935

Russia Since 2005, the Group has held a 95% 
equity interest in ChumpassNefteDobycha Limited, 
a Russian company whose sole asset is the Zapadno 
Chumpasskoye licence.

Since 2006, the Group has acquired 2D 
seismic data covering an area of 200 
kilometres, constructed pilot production 
facilities, drilled three wells and re-entered 
existing well #226. Production facilities were 
commissioned and production commenced 
in May 2007. In 2009, an electric submersible 
pump was installed on well #226 to arrest the 
natural well production decline. Also, in 2009, 
a water shut-off operation was completed on 
well P4. 

In 2010, well P14, an exploration well drilled 
in 1976, was re-entered and relogged but work 
had to be suspended due to spring break-up 
and resultant access difficulties. It is intended 
that the Jurassic and Cretaceous zones will be 
retested in the second quarter of 2011. 

 Heritage licence
 Oil pipeline
 Gas pipeline
 Fields

 Exploration and appraisal well

WESTERn
SIBERIA

Zapadno
Chumpasskoye
licence

b u s i n e s s  co n d u c t

Heritage has had no breaches of its policies in 
2010. Over the year the Company has engaged 
with a number of stakeholders (including 
non-Governmental Organisations (“nGOs”), 
certain investors and research companies). 

This has increased their understanding 
of the Company’s approach and provided 
the Company with the ability to apply the 
feedback to further develop systems and 
procedures where necessary.
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u g a n da
Heritage has had remarkable operational 
success in Uganda as a result of technical 
excellence and first mover advantage. In 1997, 
Heritage became the first oil and gas company 
in almost 60 years to undertake exploration 
in Uganda after being awarded a licence in the 
Albert Basin of western Uganda.

On 18 December 2009, Heritage announced 
that the Company, and its subsidiary HOGL, 
had entered into a SPA, with Eni for the sale 
of the Ugandan Assets. On 17 January 2010, 
Tullow exercised its right to pre-empt the sale 
of the Ugandan Assets to Eni on the same 
terms and conditions as agreed in the SPA 
entered into between Heritage and Eni. The 
transaction was overwhelmingly approved by 
Heritage shareholders at the General Meeting 
on 25 January 2010.

On 27 July 2010, Heritage announced 
that HOGL had completed the disposal 
of the Ugandan Assets. Tullow paid cash 
consideration of $1.35 billion and an 
additional contractual settlement amount of 
$100 million, of which Heritage received and 
retained $1.045 billion with an additional 
approximately $405 million in part deposited 
with Government and in part held in escrow 
pending resolution of a tax dispute with  
the URA.

The further $100 million was paid by Tullow 
in full and final settlement of a potential 
contractual dispute between the parties on the 
interpretation of the SPA provisions relating 
to the contingent deferred amount, which 
could have been payable up to the amount of 
$150 million, dependent on certain conditions 
being achieved.

Heritage had spent approximately $182 
million in Uganda proving the success of the 
Company’s strategy of gaining first mover 
advantage. Heritage considers this sale to 
be the largest oil and gas asset sale ever in 
onshore Sub-Saharan Africa.

t h e  d r c
Heritage has a 39.75% working interest in two 
Blocks in the DRC covering entirely that part 
of Lake Albert within the DRC plus a smaller 
onshore area to the south of the lake. no work 
has ever been undertaken in the area and on 
24 June 2010, the DRC government awarded 
the licences via Presidential decree to two 
British Virgin Islands-registered companies. 
Heritage has decided to write down to nil 
expenditures of $1.6 million incurred on  
these blocks and is currently considering 
further options.

Other Developments

All regulatory approvals have been obtained 
for a horizontal drilling programme which 
will commence in the second quarter of 
2011. Rozgortechnadzor, the Russian Federal 
State authority and inspection agency for 
field facilities and operations, completed an 
inspection of the Zapadno Chumpasskoye 
facilities and found these to be satisfactory. 

The Group commenced shipment 
via Transneft at the end of 2009 and 
completed the first export sales of Zapadno 
Chumpasskoye crude via the Black Sea. 
Approval was obtained in 2010 from Transneft 
for a permanent pipeline tie-in to the 
Transneft transportation system. The capacity 
of our separation facility was expanded to 
handle the forecast production from the 
upcoming planned horizontal wells. The 
Company has an agreement with Lukoil for 
the use of the Langepas gas plant to conserve 
associated gas and therefore eliminate gas 
flaring in the field.

During the year, a geologic remapping of the 
eastern area of the field was completed and 
increased the official C1 Russian reserves  
by 2.42 MMbbls while C2 was reduced by  
1.46 MMbbls resulting in an overall increase 
of 1 MMbbls. Overall, gross C1 and C2 
Russian reserves evaluated by Sibtechneft are 
in line with RPS’ evaluation.

The Chumpasskoye crude is light, sweet, 
(42º API) oil, with moderate gas-to-oil ratios. 
In 2010, production averaged 542 bopd, an 
increase of approximately 65% from 2009 
levels. The current production rate is 502 bopd 
and is expected to increase further over the 
year as a result of drilling horizontal wells with 
the first one planned to be drilled in May 2011.

i n d e p e n d e n t  r e s e r V e s  at  t h e 
Z a pa d n o  c h u m pa s s koy e
A summary of RPS’ estimated net working 
interest reserves and their net present value of 
Heritage’s assets in Russia, based on forecast 
prices and costs, discounted at 10%, as of  
30 June 2009, is detailed on the previous page.

l eg ac y  i n  u g a n da

Heritage operated in Uganda for 13 years and 
through active stakeholder engagement created 
a lasting legacy in the country.

During the first half of 2010, Heritage 
continued with community programmes  

in Uganda and spent $114,428. The water 
gravity system in Hoima was completed, 
providing clean water to over 6,000 villagers 
across five villages. Support for the Carl nefdt 
school, which Heritage built and upgraded, 
also continued.



e x c e l l e n c e   p e r f o r m a n c e
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Financial Review The sale of our Ugandan Assets 
has left Heritage with a strong balance sheet for 2011.

c o r p o r at e  p e r f o r m a n c e
Production and sales volumes
2010 petroleum revenue was generated 
from the Zapadno Chumpasskoye Field in 
Russia, following the disposal of our Oman 
operations, with effect from 1 January 2009. 

Average daily production increased by 65% 
from 329 bopd in 2009 to 542 bopd in 2010. 
This increase resulted from a full year of 
production in 2010 compared to 2009 where 
the field was temporarily shut-in at the 
beginning of the year due to unfavourable 
domestic market conditions in Russia. 
In addition, three well workovers were 
undertaken in 2010 which further contributed 
to increased production.

The difference between the production 
volumes and sales volumes is due to the 
change in the oil inventory balance during  
the year.

Revenue
Petroleum revenue increased by $2.3 million 
(85%) to $5.0 million in 2010. This increase 
comprised:

$1.25 million from an increase in sales  >
volumes that increased from 368 bopd in 
2009 to 539 bopd in 2010; and
$1.05 million from an increase in average  >
commodity prices from $20.15/bbl in 2009 
to $25.51/bbl in 2010. 

 
Operating results
Petroleum operating costs increased by 38% 
to $2.1 million in 2010, due to higher crude oil 
production. However, the average operating 
cost per produced barrel of oil decreased from 
$11.12/bbl in 2009 to $10.64/bbl in 2010.

Production tax in Russia increased from  
$1.3 million in 2009 to $2.6 million in 2010 
as a result of both higher production volumes 
and increased average commodity prices in 
2010 used in the calculation of production tax.

General and administrative expenses 
increased from $18.7 million in 2009 to  
$29.8 million in 2010. This is due, principally, 
to uncompleted corporate transaction 
expenses, arbitration settlement costs to be 
paid to a former director and higher legal and 
transportation expenses. 

If share-based compensation expenses are 
excluded, net general and administrative 
expenses increased from $15.6 million in 2009 
to $26.6 million in 2010. In 2010, the Group 
capitalised $6.7 million (2009 – $7.6 million) 
of general and administrative costs relating 
to exploration and development activities, 
including share-based compensation of  
$1.1 million (2009 – $2.1 million).

Acquisition expenses of $7.1 million in 
2009 represent one-off expenses relating 
to the aborted acquisition of Genel Energy 
International Limited (“Genel Energy”). 
In November 2009, Heritage announced 
that it had terminated all discussions and 
consequently expensed all costs incurred  
with respect to the planned acquisition  
of Genel Energy.

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation 
expenses increased by 23% to $2.1 million 
in 2010, due to higher production volumes. 
Net depletion, depreciation and amortisation 
expenses per barrel reduced from $14.24/bbl 
in 2009 to $10.67/bbl in 2010. 

pau l  at h er to n
c h i ef  f i n a n c i a l  
o ff i c er

S e l e c t e d  o p e r at i o n a l  a n d  f i n a n c i a l  data     
   2010 2009 Change

Production  bopd 542 329 65%

Sales volume  bopd 539 368 46%

Average realised price  $/bbl 25.5 20.2 26%

    
Petroleum revenue  $ million 5.0 2.7 85%

    
Loss from continuing operations  $ million (44.2) (36.8) (20%)

Gain/(loss) from discontinued operations  $ million 1,267.2 (2.5) n/a

Net profit/(loss)  $ million 1,223.0 (39.3) n/a

Special dividend per share   Pence per share 100 – n/a

    
Total cash capital expenditures  $ million (119.0) (104.1) 

Year end cash balance  $ million 598.3 208.1 
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Exploration expenditures expensed in the 
year, and not capitalised, increased from 
$0.2 million in 2009 to $2.8 million in 2010. 
Exploration expenditures in 2010 related 
principally to potential new ventures in Africa 
and South America.

In 2010, the Group recognised an impairment 
of intangible exploration and evaluation  
assets of $10.5 million (2009 – nil) comprised 
of two elements. Following changes in future 
plans, management decided to write-down 
to nil expenditure of $1.6 million incurred 
with respect to interests in Block 1 and 2 
in the DRC. Additionally, after a technical 
review, management decided to write-off 
expenditures of $8.9 million incurred with 
respect to the Kisangire and Lukuliro licence 
areas in Tanzania.

In 2010, the Group recognised an impairment 
write-down of property, plant and equipment 
of $1.9 million (2009 – $2.9 million) relating 
to a reduction in the fair value of an aircraft 
due to unfavourable economic conditions. 

In 2010, interest income was $3.0 million 
(2009 – $0.6 million). Cash and cash 
equivalents are typically held in interest 
bearing treasury accounts. This increase in 
interest income is primarily due to an increase 
in cash and cash equivalents balances in 2010 
in comparison with 2009.

At 30 June 2009, the carrying value of 
investments in unlisted securities (shares of 
SeaDragon Offshore Limited (“SeaDragon”) 
was written down to nil following completion 
of a financial reorganisation by SeaDragon and 
resulted in an impairment write-down of $2.4 
million in 2009. It is not possible to determine 
whether any of the original investment will be 
recoverable in the near future. 

Other finance costs decreased from $4.3 
million in 2009 to $3.0 million in 2010, due 
primarily to Bondholders exercising their 
conversion rights in respect of $30.6 million 
of convertible bonds in 2009 and forgoing 
the right to earn any interest. This had a full 
year’s impact on other finance costs in 2010 
compared with only a partial year impact in 
2009. Additionally, the level of interest costs 
capitalised in 2010 was higher than 2009 due 
to an increased capitalisation rate resulting 
from increased convertible bonds accretion 
costs following a $2.4 million payment of 
consent fees in January 2010 to Bondholders. 

In 2010, the Group had foreign exchange gains 
of $1.8 million compared to a $1.0 million loss 
in 2009. The gain is primarily as a result of 
revaluation of the British pounds’ denominated 
liability to pay the special dividend. The 
liability for special dividends was outstanding 
between the date of the special dividend 
announcement and date of payment.

Heritage recognised an unrealised gain of 
$0.9 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.0 million), 
in the fair value of its investment in Afren 
plc (“Afren”) warrants. The gain or loss is 
determined by the performance of the share 
price of Afren. Heritage holds 1,500,000 
warrants in Afren with an exercise price 
of £0.60 per warrant, received as partial 
consideration from the sale of Heritage Congo 
Limited in 2006. The warrants have a term 
until 22 December 2011. At 31 December 
2010, Afren’s share price was £1.48 per share.

Heritage’s loss from continuing operations 
in 2010 was $44.2 million, compared to 
$36.8 million in 2009. The adjusted loss 
from continuing operations in 2010 was 
$31.3 million compared to $21.2 million 
in 2009 if certain non-cash items (share-
based compensation expense, impairment of 
intangible exploration and evaluation assets, 
property, plant and equipment impairment 
write-down, impairment of investment in 
unlisted securities, foreign exchange gains/
losses and unrealised gain on revaluation 
of Afren warrants) and the one-off aborted 
acquisition costs are excluded.

Disposals 
On 18 December 2009, Heritage announced 
that the Company and HOGL had entered 
into a SPA with Eni for the sale of the Ugandan 
Assets and on 17 January 2010, Tullow 
exercised its rights of pre-emption. The sale 
of the Ugandan Assets completed on 26 
July 2010; Tullow paid cash of $1.45 billion, 
including $100 million from a contractual 
settlement, of which Heritage received and 
retained $1.045 billion. 

The URA contends that income tax is due 
on the capital gain arising on the disposal 
and it raised assessments amounting to 
$404,925,000 prior to completion of the 
disposal. Heritage’s position, based on 
comprehensive advice from leading legal and 
tax experts in Uganda, the United Kingdom 
and North America, is that no tax should 

Net Profit for 2010

$1.2 BN

Financial Review continued
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robustly defend it. Heritage and HOGL have 
also reserved their other rights against Tullow 
and against Government.

On 15 April 2011, HOGL sent a request 
to Tullow, as a co-signatory to the escrow 
account with Standard Chartered Bank, for 
the release of $283,447,000 plus interest to 
HOGL. HOGL contends that, consequent 
on Tullow’s admission that its payment of 
$313,447,500 to the URA has discharged 
HOGL’s alleged tax liability, funds no longer 
need to be held in escrow.

The results of operations in Uganda and 
Oman have been classified as discontinued 
operations. The gain from discontinued 
operations in Uganda was $1,267.2 million in 
2010 compared to the loss from discontinued 
operations of $1.8 million in 2009. The loss  
on disposal of discontinued operations in 
Oman was $0.7 million in 2009. The gain 
from discontinued operations in Uganda  
of $1,267.2 million may be summarised  
as follows: 
  Year ended  
  31 December 2010 
  $ million

Consideration received 
Cash consideration and amount 

to settle contractual dispute  1,450.0

Working capital adjustments  13.6

Total   1,463.6

Less:  
 Carrying amount of net assets 

sold and expenses   (196.4)

Gain on disposal of discontinued 
operations   1,267.2

In 2010, the basic and diluted loss per share 
from continuing operations was $0.15 and 
$0.30 respectively, compared to the basic 
and diluted loss per share from continuing 
operations of $0.13 in 2009.

Heritage’s net profit in 2010 was $1,223.0 
million, compared to a net loss of $39.3 
million in 2009. The adjusted net profit in 
2010 was $1,225.4 million, compared to 
a net loss of $23.7 million in the previous 
year if certain non-cash items (share-based 
compensation expense, impairment of 
intangible exploration and evaluation assets, 
property, plant and equipment impairment 
write-down, impairment of investment in 
unlisted securities, foreign exchange gains/
losses and unrealised gain on revaluation 

of Afren warrants) and the one-off aborted 
acquisition costs are excluded. 

In 2010, the basic and diluted earnings per 
share were $4.25 and $3.57 respectively, 
compared to the basic and diluted loss per 
share of $0.14 in 2009.

Cash flow and capital expenditures
Cash used in continuing operating activities 
was $21.0 million in 2010 compared to 
$20.7 million in 2009. Total cash capital 
expenditures, including discontinued 
operations, in 2010 were $119.0 million which 
is higher by $14.9 million than in 2009. The 
following major work programmes were 
undertaken in 2010:

the Miran West-2 well commenced drilling  >
on 26 November 2009 and drilling and 
testing continued throughout 2010 and 
into January 2011. The well was drilled to 
a total depth of 4,426 metres. This resulted 
in the discovery of a large gas field which 
management considers to be the largest gas 
field to be discovered in Iraq in the last  
30 years; 
the acquisition of a 3D seismic survey  >
commenced on the Miran Block in 
Kurdistan in the fourth quarter of 2010; 
capital expenditures of $21.7 million in  >
respect of Block 1 and 3A in Uganda; 
336 kilometres of 2D seismic were   >
acquired on the Zamzama North licence, 
Pakistan; and
the acquisition of 300 square kilometres of  >
3D seismic offshore Tanzania commenced 
in December 2010.

Capital expenditures also included the 
acquisition of an aircraft for $42.9 million. 

Special dividend
On 2 August 2010, Heritage announced 
the declaration of a special dividend of 100 
pence per Ordinary Share of the Company 
and Heritage Oil Corporation (“HOC”, the 
“Corporation”), the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, also announced a declaration 
of a special dividend of Cdn$1.62 per 
Exchangeable Share of HOC, calculated at an 
exchange rate of £1.00:Cdn$1.62. The special 
dividend was paid on 27 August 2010. 

Following an amendment to the terms of the 
$165,000,000 8.00% convertible bonds due 
2012 (the “Bonds”), the special dividend was 
also paid to Bondholders and no adjustments 

be payable in Uganda on the disposal of the 
Ugandan Assets.

In order to allow the disposal to proceed, the 
Group agreed with Tullow a mechanism to 
provide the Government with security over the 
disputed amounts through depositing some 
of the proceeds with the URA and placing a 
further amount in escrow.

Tullow paid cash consideration of  
$1.35 billion and an additional contractual 
settlement amount of $100 million. On 
closing, Heritage deposited $121,477,000 
with the URA, amounting to 30% of the 
disputed tax assessment of $404,925,000. 
$121,477,000 has been classified as a deposit 
in the balance sheet at 31 December 2010. A 
further $283,447,000 has been retained in 
escrow, pursuant to an agreement between 
HOGL, Tullow and Standard Chartered Bank 
pending resolution between Government and 
HOGL of the tax dispute. Including accrued 
interest, an amount of $286,603,000 is 
classified as restricted cash in the balance sheet 
at 31 December 2010.

In August 2010, the URA issued a further 
income tax assessment of $30 million 
representing 30% of the additional contractual 
settlement amount of $100 million. HOGL 
disputed this assessment and no provision 
has been made for this amount. There is a 
tax tribunal ongoing in Uganda, and HOGL 
continues to review options to recover monies 
held in relation to the Ugandan tax dispute 
which could include arbitration in London.

Although disputes of this nature are inherently 
uncertain, the Directors believe that the monies 
on deposit and held in the escrow account will 
ultimately be recovered by Heritage. 

As at 31 December 2010 a working capital 
adjustment with respect to the disposal of the 
Ugandan Assets of $13.6 million was owed by 
Tullow. This was paid in March 2011. 

On 15 April 2011, Heritage and its wholly 
owned subsidiary HOGL received Particulars 
of Claim filed in the High Court of Justice 
in England by Tullow seeking $313,447,500 
for alleged breach of contract as a result of 
HOGL’s and Heritage’s refusal to reimburse 
Tullow in relation to a payment made by 
Tullow of $313,447,500 on 7 April 2011 to 
the URA. Heritage and HOGL believe that 
the claim has no basis and will vigorously and 
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Financial Review continued

Year end cash balance

$598M

were made to the conversion rights under 
the terms of the Bond (the “Conversion 
Rights”) in respect of any dividend paid or 
made by the Company. The Company paid 
a $2.4 million consent fee to Bondholders 
who voted in favour of the amendment to the 
terms. Accordingly, the Company agreed to 
pay the holder of each Bond a pass-through 
dividend (the “Pass-through Dividend”) 
which is equal to the dividend which would 
be received by the holder of a number of 
Ordinary Shares equal to the number of 
Ordinary Shares to which the Bondholder 
would have been entitled if it had exercised 
its Conversion Rights on the record date of 13 
August 2010. The aggregate principal amount 
of Bonds outstanding on the record date was 
$127,100,000. These Bonds are convertible 
into 27,042,553 Ordinary Shares pursuant to 
the Conversion Rights and accordingly the 
Company paid to Bondholders a Pass-through 
Dividend of £27,042,553 on 27 August 2010.

f i n a n c i a l  p o S i t i o n
Liquidity
Heritage had a net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents in 2010 of $390.1 million. At 
31 December 2010, Heritage had a working 
capital surplus of $969.3 million, including 
cash and cash equivalents of $598.3 million. 

Like most oil and gas exploration companies, 
Heritage raises financing for its activities 
from time to time using a variety of sources. 
Sources of funding for future exploration and 
development programmes will be derived 
from inter alia disposal proceeds from the sale 
of assets, such as the sale of the Company’s 
holdings in Oman in 2009 and the sale of the 
Ugandan Assets in 2010 (see disposals section 
on pages 32 to 33), using its existing treasury 
resources, new credit facilities, reinvesting its 
funds from operations, farm-outs and, when 
considered appropriate, issuing debt and 
additional equity. Accordingly, the Group has 
a number of different sources of finance.
 
Capital structure
Heritage’s financial strategy has been to fund 
its capital expenditure programmes and any 
potential acquisitions by selling non-core 
assets, reinvesting funds from operations, 
using existing treasury resources, finding 
new credit facilities and, when considered 
appropriate, either issuing unsecured 
convertible bonds or equity. 

On 7 April 2009, the Company completed 
the sale of Eagle Energy, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Heritage, to RAK Petroleum 
Oman Limited for $28 million, plus a working 
capital adjustment of $0.4 million. 

On 18 June 2009, the Company completed the 
placing of 25,400,000 new Ordinary Shares at 
a price of £5.20 per share for gross proceeds 
of $216,848,944 (£132,080,000). Share issue 
costs were $11,820,609 (£7,157,379). 

On 26 July 2010, the Company completed 
the disposal of the Ugandan Assets for cash 
consideration of $1.35 billion and an additional 
contractual settlement amount of $100 million.

At 31 December 2010, Heritage had net cash 
of $409.2 million (31 December 2009 – $41.7 
million) (cash and cash equivalents less total 
liabilities) and nil gearing (31 December 
2009 – nil) (net debt as a percentage of total 
shareholders’ equity). 

Creditors’ payment policy
It is the Company and Group’s general 
policy to settle all debts with creditors on 
a timely basis and in accordance with the 
terms of credit agreed with each supplier. 
Average creditor payment days in 2010 were 
approximately 45 days (2009 – 45 days).

p r i m a r y  r i S k S  a n d 
u n c e r ta i n t i e S  fac i n g  
t h e  B u S i n e S S
Heritage’s business, financial standing and 
reputation may be impacted by various risks, 
not all of which are within its control. The 
Group identifies and monitors the key risks 
and uncertainties affecting the Group and 
runs its business in a way that minimises  
the impact of such risks where possible.  

The primary risks to the business include:

Exploration and development expenditures  >
and success rates – the Group has 
experienced management and technical 
teams with a track record of finding 
attractive hydrocarbon discoveries and 
has a diversified portfolio of exploration, 
development and production assets. 
Considerable technical work is undertaken 
to reduce related areas of risk and 
maximise opportunities.
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Factors associated with operating in  >
developing countries, political, fiscal and 
regulatory instability – the Group maintains 
close contact with governments in the 
areas within which it operates and, where 
appropriate, invests in community projects. 
Considerable work is undertaken before 
commencing operations in any new territory. 
The Group continually reviews fiscal 
regimes and enters into robust, transparent 
PSCs or licences.
Title disputes – notwithstanding potential  >
challenges in Kurdistan and Malta, the 
Group believes that it has good title to its 
oil and gas properties. However, the Group 
cannot control or completely protect itself 
against the risk of title disputes or challenges 
and there can be no assurance that claims 
or challenges by third parties against the 
Group’s properties will not be asserted at 
a future date. Naturally, the Group strives 
to employ the best internal and advisory 
knowledge available to help to minimise this 
risk associated with its activities.
Oil and gas sales volumes and prices –  >
whilst not under the direct control of 
the Company, a material movement in 
commodity prices could impact on the 
Group. The Group did not hedge oil prices 
in 2010.
Loss of key employees – remuneration  >
packages are regularly reviewed to ensure 
key executives and senior management are 
properly remunerated. Long-term incentive 
programmes have been established.
Foreign exchange exposure – generally,  >
it is the Group’s policy to conduct and 
manage its business in US dollars, which 
is its reporting currency. Cash balances in 
Group Subsidiaries are primarily held in US 
dollars but small amounts may be held in 
other currencies in order to meet immediate 
operating or administrative expenses or to 
comply with local currency regulations.

Further details on risks and how the Company 
mitigates them are disclosed on pages 36 to 39.

i n t e r n a l  c o n t r o l S 
A system of internal controls was designed 
and tailored to ensure key risks are addressed 
appropriately and to provide assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and preparation of financial statements. Risk 
and internal controls are assessed continually. 
See the separate Corporate Governance 

Report for further details. One weakness 
identified in its financial procedures reporting 
concerns accounting for complex transactions 
and the Company ensures that it seeks third 
party advice to mitigate this weakness. 

As part of the internal controls, all 
transactions with related parties are identified, 
scrutinised and disclosed in the financial 
statements appropriately. 

Heritage maintains insurance policies in 
accordance with industry standards. Heritage 
believes that the level of insurance cover it 
maintains is adequate based on various factors 
such as the cost of the policies, industry 
standard practice and the risks associated 
with the exploration and development of oil 
and gas properties in the countries in which 
it operates. Heritage does not insure against 
political risk and, therefore, shareholders have 
full exposure to the risks and rewards  
of investing in its territories.

Heritage maintains detailed financial models 
which allows the Company to plan future 
operating and capital activities in an  
efficient manner. 

pau l  at h er to n
c h i ef  f i n a n c i a l  o ff i c er
18  a pr i l  2 011
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d e s c r i p t i o n  o f  r i s k m i t i g at i o n

Risks Heritage’s business, financial standing and 
reputation may be impacted by various risks, not all 
of which are within its control. The Group identifies 
and monitors the key risks and uncertainties affecting 
the Group and runs the business in a way that 
minimises their impact where possible.

The Group’s level of risk and its management approach is discussed and reviewed by the 
Board, Audit Committee and senior management. The Group maintains comprehensive risk 
management procedures.

The Group maintains a diverse portfolio of assets across a range of geographies and life cycles 
in order to minimise exposure to local geographical, political and cyclical market risk.

Our experienced management team and highly knowledgeable advisers devised the Company’s 
business model at the outset and review it regularly in light of current economic and political 
circumstances.

The Group and its advisers have considerable experience in the business environment in which 
the Group operates. This experience is applied regularly and carefully to assess potential 
merger, acquisition and disposal opportunities.

The Group recognises political risks and opportunities associated with parts of the globe 
where it conducts business. The Group’s management and advisory network have considerable 
experience in this area and apply this knowledge to regularly assess and monitor this aspect  
of activities.

The Group maintains strong and positive relationships with host country governments, local 
communities, regulators and domestic industry partners. The Group’s operations are to the 
highest industry standards.

s t r at e g i c  r i s k s

Identification and management of risk

Portfolio mix

Business model

Acquisitions and disposals

Political

Reputation
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d e s c r i p t i o n  o f  r i s k m i t i g at i o n

The Group has experienced management and technical teams with a track record of finding 
attractive hydrocarbon discoveries and has a diversified portfolio of exploration, development 
and production assets. Considerable technical work is undertaken to reduce related areas of 
risk and maximise opportunities.

The Group applies its knowledge of the industry to devise structured planning processes  
which allow sufficient time for procurement of services.

The Group maintains close contact with governments in the areas within which it operates and, 
where appropriate, invests in community projects. Considerable work is undertaken before 
commencing operations in any new territory. The Group continually reviews fiscal regimes and 
enters into robust, transparent PSCs or licences.

Notwithstanding potential challenges in the DRC, Kurdistan and Malta, the Group believes 
that it has good title to its stated oil and gas properties. However, the Group cannot control 
or protect itself completely against the risk of title disputes or challenges and there can be no 
assurance that claims or challenges by third parties against the Group’s properties will not be 
asserted at a future date. Naturally, the Group strives to employ the best internal and advisory 
knowledge available to help to minimise this risk associated with its activities.

Continual dialogue exists between the Group and its stakeholders which is central to 
operations. Local labour is employed wherever possible and there is a transfer of skills.

Remuneration packages are reviewed regularly to ensure key executives and senior 
management are properly remunerated. Long-term incentive programmes have  
been established.

The Group undertakes operations to the high international environmental standards of 
the oil industry. Environmental impact assessments are prepared before any major capital 
expenditures are incurred.

The Group is aware of the local cultural issues that can impact its management of health and 
safety matters. It has devised a comprehensive policy framework as well as health and safety 
management and reporting systems. These are regularly monitored and reviewed by our CSR 
Committee and senior management. The Group also works closely with the local authorities 
where it is based to manage this aspect of our activities.

Detailed CSR policies and programmes are implemented across operations.

o p e r at i o n a l  r i s k s

Exploration and development expenditure 
and success rates

Availability of rigs and services

Factors associated with operating in 
developing countries, political and 
regulatory instability 

Title disputes

Local community issues

Loss of key employees

Environmental issues

Health and safety

CSR
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Risks continued

d e s c r i p t i o n  o f  r i s k m i t i g at i o n

Whilst not under the direct control of the Company, a material movement in commodity prices 
could have an impact on the Group. The Group did not hedge oil prices in 2010.

Reviewed periodically by the Board. No hedges in 2010.

Generally, it is the Group’s policy to conduct and manage its business in US dollars, which is 
its reporting currency. Cash balances in Group subsidiaries are primarily held in US dollars 
but small amounts may be held in other currencies in order to meet immediate operating or 
administrative expenses or to comply with local currency regulations.

A formal budgeting and forecasting process is in place and cash forecasts identifying liquidity 
requirements of the Group are reviewed regularly to ensure compliance with the approved 
funding plans.

Trade debtors of the Company are subject to internal credit review to minimise risk of non-
payment. Additionally, the Group monitors closely the funding position of joint venture 
partners and key contractors.

The Group’s activities are subject to various laws and regulations around the world. Changes 
could affect the short, medium and long-term value of the Group. Risks are mitigated by 
employing skilled and experienced staff and advisers to conduct proactive assessment, 
contingency planning and, where necessary, the use of appropriate mitigation techniques.

The Group believes that maintenance of good relations with local communities is an important 
and integral part of its strategy. The Group therefore maintains regularly reviewed relationship 
protocols to ensure that this is the situation at all of its sites. More information is recorded 
within the separate CSR Report.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining close, transparent and responsible 
relationships with a wide variety of stakeholders (including host governments). The Group  
is developing its systems in this area continually to ensure that it is managing related areas of 
risk effectively.

f i n a n c i a l  r i s k s

Oil and gas sales volumes and prices

Interest rate risk

Foreign exchange exposure

Liquidity risk

Credit risk

compliance and ethical risks

Legal, regulatory and litigation

Relations with local stakeholders

Business conduct risks
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m i t i g at i o nd e s c r i p t i o n  o f  r i s k

 
The Company maintains a regular dialogue with the Group’s shareholder base and the  
general public. A Senior Independent Director has been appointed and the Company employs 
an investor relations specialist. The Board is aware of reporting responsibilities and, where 
necessary, takes advice to ensure that material information is released on a timely basis. It is the 
Company’s policy not to comment on market rumours or press speculation.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining strong corporate governance procedures 
and processes. The Group is developing systems in this area continually and generally this is 
managed by employing the skill, expertise and resources of the Group and its advisers. The 
Board reviews compliance with the Combined Code and other regulatory guidelines regularly.

ot h e r  r i s k s

Investor sentiment

 
 

Corporate governance

forward - looking s tatements
The Business Review (contained on pages 16 to 35) contains forward-looking statements with respect to the financial condition, results and 
operations of the Group. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or assumptions that could cause 
actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These risks, uncertainties or 
assumptions could adversely affect the outcome and financial effects of the plans and events described herein. Forward-looking statements 
contained in the Business Review regarding past trends or activities should not be taken as a representation that these will continue in the 
future. Heritage undertakes no obligation to update the forward-looking statements contained in this review or any other forward-looking 
statements made.
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Annual Review Glossary

$  US dollars unless otherwise stated
a f r e n  Afren plc
a f r i c a  o i l  Africa Oil Corporation
a p i  a specific gravity scale developed by the American Petroleum Institute for measuring the relative  
 density of various petroleum liquids, expressed in degrees
b b l / b b l s  barrel/barrels
b b l s / d  o r  b o p d  barrels per day or barrels of oil per day
b c f  billion cubic feet
b o e  barrels of oil equivalent1

b o e / d  o r  b o e p d  barrels of oil equivalent per day
b o n d s  $165,000,000 8.00% convertible bonds due 2012
c o m b i n e d  c o d e  Combined Code of Corporate Governance published in 2008
c o m pa n y  Heritage Oil Plc
c o n d e n s at e   low density, high API hydrocarbon liquids that are present in natural gas fields where it   

condensates out of the raw gas if the temperature is reduced to below the hydrocarbon dew 
point temperature of the raw gas

c o n t i n g e n t  r e s o u r c e s   those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from 
known accumulations by application of development projects but which are not currently 
considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies

c o n v e r s i o n  r i g h t s  conversion rights under the terms of the Bond
c s r  Corporate Social Responsibility
d o m i n i o n  Dominion Oil and Gas Limited
d r c  the Democratic Republic of Congo
e n i  Eni International B.V. 
g e n e l  e n e r g y  Genel Energy International Limited
g o v e r n m e n t  Government of the Republic of Uganda
g r o u p,  h e r i tag e  the Company and all of its subsidiaries
h o c  o r  c o r p o r at i o n   Heritage Oil Corporation, incorporated in Canada and a wholly owned subsidiary  

of the Company
K r g  Kurdistan Regional Government
K p i  Key Performance Indicators
K u r d i s ta n  Kurdistan Region of Iraq
l e a d   potential drilling target that is less well defined than a prospect and requires further data before 

being considered a prospect for drilling
l s e  London Stock Exchange
lt i  Lost Time Injury
lt i f r  Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate per 10,000 hours worked
lt i p  Long Term Incentive Plan
m  metres
m 3 cubic metres
m b b l s  thousand barrels
m m b b l s  million barrels
m b o e  thousands of barrels of oil equivalent
m m b o e  millions of barrels of oil equivalent
m c f  thousand cubic feet
m c f/ d  thousand cubic feet per day
m m b t u  million british thermal units
m m s c f  million cubic feet
m m s c f d  million cubic feet per day
m m s t b  million stock tank barrels
n /a  not applicable

1  boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf: 1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily  
applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.
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n g o  Non-Governmental Organisation
p 10  10% certainty
p 5 0  50% certainty
p 9 0  90% certainty 
pa s s -t h r o u g h  d i v i d e n d  special dividend paid to Bondholders
p e t r o d e l  Petrodel Resources Limited
p e t r o l e u m   any mineral, oil or relative hydrocarbon (including condensate and natural gas liquids) and 

natural gas existing in its natural condition in strata (but not including coal or bituminous shale 
or other stratified deposits from which oil can be extracted by destructive distillation)

p o s s i b l e  r e s e r v e s   those additional reserves which analysis and geoscience and engineering data suggest are less 
likely to be recovered than Probable Reserves. The total quantities ultimately recovered from the 
project have a low probability to exceed the sum of Proved plus Probable plus Possible Reserves

p r o b a b l e  r e s e r v e s   those additional reserves that are less likely to be recovered than Proved Reserves but more 
certain to be recovered than Possible Reserves. It is equally likely that actual remaining 
quantities recovered will be greater than or less than the sum of the estimated Proved plus 
Probable Reserves

p r o s p e c t  potential drilling target that is well defined, usually by seismic data
p r o s p e c t i v e  r e s o u r c e s   those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 

recoverable from undiscovered accumulations
p r o v e d  r e s e r v e s   those quantities of petroleum, which by analysis and geoscience, can be estimated with 

reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining 
quantities recovered will exceed the estimated Proved Reserves

p s a  o r  p s c  production sharing agreement or production sharing contract
r e p l ac e m e n t  s c h e m e  The Heritage Oil Limited 2008 Replacement Share Option Scheme
r p s  RPS Energy
s e a d r ag o n  SeaDragon Offshore Limited
s pa  Sale and Purchase Agreement
tc f  trillion cubic feet
t s r  Total Shareholder Return 
t s X  Toronto Stock Exchange
t u l lo w  Tullow Uganda Limited
u r a  Uganda Revenue Authority
u g a n da n  a s s e t s  Interests in Blocks 1 and 3A in Uganda
w t i  West Texas Intermediate
2 0 10  c o d e  2010 UK Corporate Governance Code

c o n v e r s i o n  ta b l e 
The following table sets forth standard conversions from Standard Imperial Units to the International System of Units (or metric units). 

To convert from       To Multiply by

boe       mcf 6
mcf       cubic metres 28.174
cubic metres       cubic feet 35.494
bbls       cubic metres 0.159
cubic metres       bbls oil 6.290
feet       metres 0.305
metres       feet 3.281
miles       kilometres 1.609
kilometres       miles 0.621
acres       hectares 0.405
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Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration and production company with a 
Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange 
(“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). The Company is a 
member of the FTSE 250 Index. The Company has 
Exchangeable Shares listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) and the LSE 
(symbol HOX). 

Heritage is a versatile organisation, dedicated 
to creating and increasing shareholder value 
with a portfolio of quality assets managed by a 
highly experienced team with excellent technical, 
commercial and financial skills. The Company 
has exploration assets in the Kurdistan Region of 
Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, Tanzania, Mali and the 
Democratic Republic of Congo (the “DRC”) and a 
producing asset in Russia.

The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.
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Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.

Contents

Advisers and Financial Calendar

c o m pa n y  s e c r e ta r y   
Woodbourne Secretaries (Jersey) Limited
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road 
St Helier JE4 8PW Jersey
Channel Islands

r e g i s t e r e d  o F F i c e  o F  
t h e  c o m pa n y 
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road
St Helier JE4 8PW Jersey
Channel Islands

h e a d  o F F i c e  a n d  d i r e c to r s’ 
B u s i n e s s  a d d r e s s   
Fourth Floor
Windward House
La Route de la Liberation
St Helier JE2 3BQ Jersey
Channel Islands

u K  o F F i c e  o F  t h e  c o m pa n y  
34 Park Street
London W1K 2JD
United Kingdom

B r o K e r  a n d  F i n a n c i a l 
a d V i s e r s   
J.P. Morgan Securities Limited
10 Aldermanbury
London EC2V 7RF
United Kingdom

e n g l i s h  l e g a l  a d V i s e r s  
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
McCarthy Tétrault
Registered Foreign Lawyers & Solicitors
125 Old Broad Street, 26th Floor
London EC2N 1AR
United Kingdom

J e r s e y  l e g a l  a d V i s e r s 
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
Mourant Ozannes
22 Grenville Street
St Helier JE4 8PX Jersey
Channel Islands

c a n a d i a n  l e g a l  a d V i s e r s  
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
McCarthy Tétrault LLP
Suite 3300
421–7th Avenue SW
Calgary Alberta
T2P 4K9
Canada

au d i to r s  o F  t h e  c o m pa n y
KPMG Audit Plc
15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5GL
United Kingdom

r e g i s t r a r s  o F  t h e  c o m pa n y
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Ltd
Queensway House
Hilgrove Street
St Helier JE1 1ES Jersey
Channel Islands

p r i n c i pa l  B a n K e r s  o F  
t h e  c o m pa n y
Standard Bank (Europe)
Barclays Bank
Bank of Scotland (Europe)
Investec

i n d e p e n d e n t  p e t r o l e u m 
e n g i n e e r i n g  c o n s u lta n t s 
to  t h e  c o m pa n y   
RPS Energy
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Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration and production company with a 
Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange 
(“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). The Company is a 
member of the FTSE 250 Index. The Company has 
Exchangeable Shares listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) and the LSE 
(symbol HOX). The Company has exploration assets 
in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, 
Tanzania, Mali and the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”) and a producing asset in Russia.

This Corporate Governance Report is a report from 
the Board of Directors on its role, function and 
operation. It complies with the requirements of the 
UK Listing Authority’s Listing and Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules and aims to achieve best practice 
reporting on corporate governance and provide 
information of use to shareholders.
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The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.

Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.
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2010 Highlights

Company continues with further progress towards UK best practice >
Formed a Board level Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Committee  >
to strengthen the approach to this important aspect of our activities
Changes to the 2008 Combined Code (the “Combined Code”) have   >
been reviewed
Nomination Committee will consider the requirements of diversity   >
as introduced by the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code  
(the “2010 Code”) and the Davies Report
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) continue to show good performance >
Preparations in place for the UK Bribery Act which becomes law at the  >
beginning of July 2011

Overview

2010 Key Performance
Indicators

2011 Annual General
Meeting

The 2011 AGM will be held at 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, JE4 8PX, Jersey, Channel Islands 
on 20 June 2011. Formal notice of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) including details 
of special business will be set out in the Notice of AGM and dispatched to shareholders at 
least 20 working days before the meeting. The Notice of AGM will also be available on the 
Company’s website at www.heritageoilplc.com.

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate1

0
Production from continuing operations

+65%
Averaged realised price

+26%

Staff turnover2

3%
Reserves and contingent resources additions3

+42%
1 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate per 10,000 hours  
 worked.
2 Excludes staff members in Uganda who transferred  
 with the sale of the interests in Block 3A and Block 1,  
 Uganda (the “Ugandan Assets”).
3 Management estimates.

All dollars are US dollars unless otherwise stated.
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Dear Shareholder I am delighted to be commenting 
on corporate governance in this year’s Annual 
Report. The past year has seen the continued review 
of governance standards and practices. 

M i c h a el  J .  h i b b er d
c h a i r M a n

These industry reviews have been set in train 
by the financial crises of 2008. A number of 
key themes have emerged from these reviews 
including the necessity for continued focus 
on risk, Board effectiveness and executive 
remuneration. As a Board we are mindful of 
our obligations in these areas. 

Our aim as a Board is to embrace “best 
thinking” in corporate governance practices. 
It is important for us that governance and 
responsible business practices are a way of 
doing business rather than an isolated exercise 
and this is underpinned by how our Board 
operates. Heritage has in place a corporate 
governance framework which supports 
an enterprising management team whilst 
managing risks that are inherent in running 
an international business. The open and 
effective communication which exists between 
our Executive and Non-Executive Directors is 
one of our strengths that enables us to actively 
monitor activities and to make informed 
decisions in a decisive manner.

As previously reported, we have made 
progress in the last two years towards 
achieving full compliance with the 
requirements of the Combined Code. There 
are now only two areas of non-compliance 
which are detailed later in this report and 
which the Board believes are not appropriate 
for the Company to apply at this time for the 
reasons set out. 

In our report we also review the new 
requirements of the 2010 Code, which applies 
to the Company from 1 January 2011, the UK 
Stewardship Code and the UK Bribery Act. 

t h e  2 0 10  c o d e
The 2010 Code, introduced in June 2010, 
applies to Heritage with effect from 1 January 
2011. As a result of the new Listing regime, 
which was introduced in April 2010, these 
new code provisions apply to all companies 
with a Premium Listing of equity shares, 
which Heritage has, regardless of whether they 
are incorporated in the UK or elsewhere.
Two principal conclusions have been drawn by 
the Financial Reporting Council (the “FRC”) 
following its review of the Combined Code. 
Firstly, more attention needs to be paid to 
following the spirit of the Code as well as its 
letter. Secondly, the impact of shareholders 
in monitoring the Code could, and should, 
be enhanced by better interaction between 
the boards of listed companies and their 
shareholders. To this end, the FRC assumed 
responsibility for a UK Stewardship Code that 
will provide guidance on good practice for 
investors. The Nomination Committee will be 
considering, as part of its general review of the 
Board, requirements of diversity, specifically 
gender, introduced by the 2010 Code and the 
implications of the recently published Davies 
Report concerning the representation of 
women on company boards.

U K  S t e wa r d S h i p  c o d e
We recognise that the introduction of the 
UK Stewardship Code by the FRC in July 
2010 provides a means of enhancing the 
quality of engagement between institutional 
investors and companies. Several of our 
major institutional shareholders have already 
published statements on their own compliance 
with the UK Stewardship Code.

c h a i r M a n ’ S  S tat e M e n t
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c U r r e n t  p o l i c y  o n  b r i b e r y
We are resolutely opposed to bribery and 
corruption in whatever forms they may take. 
Gifts or entertainment may only be offered to 
a third party if they are consistent with usual 
business practice in the relevant territory, are 
modest in value, and cannot be interpreted as 
a form of inducement.

It is Heritage’s policy that sales of the Group’s 
products or services, and purchases and 
services from suppliers, are made solely on the 
basis of price, quality, performance, value and 
for the benefit of the Group. Sales, purchases, 
or award of licences should never be made as 
the result of giving or receiving inducements in 
the form of gifts, money, entertainment from 
third parties or favours in any other form.

It is Heritage’s policy that employees should 
not accept gifts, money or entertainment from 
third party organisations or individuals, where 
these might reasonably be considered likely 
to influence business transactions. Gifts, 
other than trivial ones of low value, should 
not be accepted. In a culture where such an 
action might cause offence, the gift should 
be declared to the Company and, if practical, 
donated to an appropriate charity.

t h e  U K  b r i b e r y  ac t
The UK Bribery Act will become law at the 
beginning of July 2011. Guidance from the 
government has recently been published 
with the overriding principle that companies 
should adopt a risk-based approach to 
application of the UK Bribery Act. Heritage is 
currently obtaining legal advice concerning 
how the legislation will impact on the Group. 
In addition, in preparation for this change, 
Heritage has charged Paul Atherton, CFO, 
with the responsibility to oversee how this 
law will impact Heritage. This will include 
overseeing:

a review of the government guidance; >
the conduct of specific processes which   >
are indicated within the guidance;
a review of Heritage’s current policies  >
and systems with respect to bribery, code 
of conduct, whistle-blowing and other 
relevant policies for both employees and 
contractors; and
the development and enhancement of   >
these policies, if required.

I support an open and constructive dialogue 
with all of our shareholders on governance, 
strategy and executive remuneration and 
welcome any feedback.

M i c h a el  J .  h i b b er d
c h a i r M a n
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S U M M a r y  o f  t h e  M a i n  c h a n g e S  i n t r o d U c e d  
b y  t h e  2 0 1 0  c o d e

To improve  > risk management, a company’s business model should be explained in the 
annual report and the board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of  
the significant risks it is willing to take.

Heritage’s business model is explained in the Annual Review. The Board recognises   >
its responsibility for setting the framework within which risks are undertaken and will 
be further reviewing its approach to risk during 2011. The Audit Committee has initiated 
discussions on this in 2010 and set a framework for risk management which the Board will 
continue to review.

Performance-related pay >  should be aligned to the long-term interests of the company and 
its risk policy and systems.

The Remuneration Committee reviews the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) annually.  >
The current structure of performance-related pay is already aligned to promoting the  
longer-term success of the Company through the operation of the LTIP.

To increase  > accountability, all directors of FTSE 350 companies should be put forward for 
re-election every year.

The Board has discussed this and will monitor investor comments on a proposal that  >
Directors will, in future, stand for annual re-election beginning with the AGM in 2012.  
The Directors standing for re-election at the 2011 AGM will, therefore, seek a term of  
only one year.

To promote  > proper debate in the boardroom, there are new principles on the leadership 
of the chairman, the responsibility of the non-executive directors to provide constructive 
challenge and the time commitment expected of all directors.

Heritage conducts regular meetings with comprehensive papers sent in advance to promote  >
challenging and vigorous discussions. The Chairman encourages debate from all Directors 
and time commitment is assessed as part of the performance process.

r i S K

 

p e r f o r M a n c e - r e l at e d  pay

 

ac c o U n ta b i l i t y/ r e - e l e c t i o n 
o f  d i r e c to r S

 

 

p r o p e r  d e b at e
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To encourage boards to be  > well balanced and avoid “group think” there are new principles 
on the composition and selection of the board, including the need to appoint members on 
merit, against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity, including 
gender diversity.

The Nomination Committee will review this in 2011 as part of overall Board composition.  >
Part of the Nomination Committee’s mandate is to ensure that new Board members are 
appointed on merit. Members of the Committee are aware of the importance of a well 
balanced Board and the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee will be  
examined and amended to properly reflect this objective.

To help enhance the  > board’s performance and awareness of its strengths and weaknesses, 
the chairman should hold regular development reviews with each director and FTSE 350 
companies should have externally facilitated board effectiveness reviews at least every  
three years. 

These measures are already in place and an external Board review has been undertaken in  >
each of the last two years.

The chairman should review and agree with each director their  > training and  
development needs.

The Chairman is already aware of, and will continue to review through performance  >
evaluation, any development needs of the Directors which are discussed as appropriate. 
All Directors are already encouraged to attend appropriate training courses, which the 
Company will fund.

w e l l  b a l a n c e d  b oa r d

 

b oa r d  p e r f o r M a n c e

 

b oa r d  t r a i n i n g  a n d 
d e v e lo p M e n t
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b o a r d  o f  d i r e c t o r s
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 Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
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0 4 .  g r e g o r y  t u r n b u l l  Q .c . 
Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Turnbull is the Regional Managing 
Partner of the Calgary office of the law firm 
of McCarthy Tétrault LLP. Mr. Turnbull has 
extensive knowledge of corporate governance 
issues and has acted for many boards of 
directors and special committees in that regard. 
Mr. Turnbull started his career with the law 
firm of MacKimmie Matthews in 1979. From 
1987 to 2001, he was a partner with Gowlings 
LLP (formerly Code Hunter LLP). In 2001 and 
2002, he was a partner with the law firm of 
Donahue LLP. Mr. Turnbull has been a partner 
with the law firm of McCarthy Tétrault LLP 
since July 2002 and was appointed Queens’s 
Counsel in 2010. He is a non-executive 
director of Crescent Point Energy Corp., Hawk 
Exploration Ltd., Hyperion Exploration Corp., 
Online Energy Inc., Porto Energy Corp., 
Seaview Energy Inc., Sonde Resources Corp, 
and Storm Resources Ltd. Mr. Turnbull is also 
a director of Sunshine Oilsands Ltd. a private 
oil and gas exploration company. He joined 
Heritage in 1997.

0 5 .  J o h n  g . f.  M c l e o d
Non-Executive Director
Mr. McLeod is a Professional Engineer 
with 40 years of varied resources extraction 
experience. He is the president of McLeod 
Petroleum Consulting Limited, the president, 
chief executive officer and a director of 
Paris Energy Inc. and California Oil and 
Gas Corporation. He holds the position 
of chief operating officer and director of 
Tuscany Energy Ltd. He has held positions 
and has served on various boards including 
Constellation Oil & Gas Ltd. and CanArgo 
Energy Inc., as president and chief executive 
officer of Arakis Energy Company, as vp, 
operations of Pengrowth Gas Company, chief 
executive officer and director of Rally Energy 
Corp. and Canoro Resources. Currently, 
Mr. McLeod serves as a director of Diaz 
Resources Ltd., Ranger Energy Ltd. and 
Kallisto Energy Corp. He is a Past-President 
of the Association of Professional Engineers, 
Geologists and Geophysicists of Alberta. He 
joined Heritage in 1998.

  

0 6. gener al sir Michael Wilkes
Non-Executive Director and  
Senior Independent Director
General Sir Michael Wilkes KCB, CBE,  
retired from the British Army in 1995 as 
Adjutant General and Middle East Adviser to 
the British Government. As Adjutant General,  
Sir Michael was the most senior administrative 
officer within the Army and a member of the 
Army Board. During his distinguished career, 
he has seen active service across the world 
while also commanding at every level from 
Platoon to Field Army including commanding 
22 Special Air Service Regiment and serving 
as the Director of Special Forces. Sir Michael 
is a non-executive director of the AIM listed 
companies Stanley Gibbons Group and Blue 
Star Capital plc. In addition, he holds non-
executive positions on a number of private 
companies including Britam Defence.  
He joined Heritage in 2008.

 

0 7.  s a l i M  M ac k i
Non-Executive Director
Mr. Macki was a Member of the State Council, 
Former Ambassador, Government of Sultanate 
of Oman and has been a director of Oman Oil 
(a wholly owned government company) since 
1996. Mr. Macki holds a master’s degree in 
petrochemical engineering and has spent most 
of his working life in the oil industry, where he 
is highly regarded internationally. He holds, 
or has previously held, many senior executive 
positions in various private and state-owned 
entities in Oman and internationally.  
He joined Heritage in 2008.

 

0 1.  M i c h a e l  J .  h i b b e r d
Chairman and Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Hibberd has extensive international 
energy project planning and capital markets 
experience. Mr. Hibberd has been president 
and chief executive officer of MJH Services 
Inc., a corporate finance advisory company, 
since 1995, prior to which he spent 12 years 
with ScotiaMcLeod in corporate finance and 
held the position of director and senior vice-
president, corporate finance. He is chairman 
of Canacol Energy Ltd. and Greenfields 
Petroleum Corporation and is co-chairman 
of Sunshine Oilsands Ltd. He also currently 
serves on the boards of directors of Montana 
Exploration Corp. and Pan Orient Energy. 
Mr. Hibberd joined Heritage in March 2006.

   

0 2 .  a n t h o n y  b u c k i n g h a M
Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Buckingham is the founder of Heritage. 
Mr. Buckingham commenced his involvement 
in the oil industry as a North Sea diver and 
subsequently became a concession negotiator 
acting for several companies including Ranger 
and Premier Oil plc. He was previously a 
security adviser to various governments.

 

0 3 .  pau l  at h e r to n
Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Atherton is a qualified accountant, 
having qualified with Deloitte & Touche, 
and holds a degree in geology from Imperial 
College London. He has a corporate finance 
background with specific experience in the 
international mining and resource sectors. 
He joined Heritage in 2000 and subsequently 
joined the Board of Directors in 2005.
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to submit their reports 
including those on corporate governance and remuneration for the year 
ended 31 December 2010. The consolidated audited financial statements 
for the Group are included within the separate Financial Statements 
Report of the Company’s 2010 Annual Report and Accounts. 

c o m pa n y  h i s to r y  a n d  p r i n c i pa l  ac t i v i t i e s
The Company was incorporated as Heritage Oil Limited on 6 February 
2008 in Jersey under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, as amended 
(the “Jersey Companies Law”) to become the ultimate holding 
company of the Group. Heritage Oil Limited changed its name to 
Heritage Oil Plc on 18 June 2009. 

The Company has had a Premium Listing on the Main Market of 
the LSE since March 2008. The Group has two share classes traded; 
Ordinary Shares issued by the Company which trade on the Main 
Market of the LSE (symbol HOIL) and Exchangeable Shares issued by 
Heritage Oil Corporation (“HOC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, which trade both on the Main Market of the LSE (symbol 
HOX) and on the Toronto Stock Exchange (symbol HOC). The 
Company is a member of the FTSE 250 Index.

The Group is an independent, international oil and gas exploration, 
development and production company with a focus on Africa, the 
Middle East and Russia. It has exploration projects in Kurdistan, 
Malta, Tanzania, Pakistan, Mali and the DRC and a producing 
property in Russia. The Group operates through a number of 
subsidiaries which are set out on page 14 of the separate Financial 
Statements Report.

r e s u lt s  a n d  d i v i d e n d s
The Group’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2010 are 
set out in the separate Financial Statements Report of the Company’s 
2010 Annual Report and Accounts.

The disposal of the Company’s interests in Blocks 1 and 3A in the 
Ugandan Assets to Tullow Uganda Limited (“Tullow”) was completed 
in July 2010. A significant portion of the sale proceeds were returned 
to the Company’s shareholders via a special dividend during 2010. The 
Company paid a special dividend of 100 pence per Ordinary Share in 
August 2010 and its wholly owned subsidiary, HOC, paid a special 
dividend of Cdn$1.62 per Exchangeable Share of HOC, calculated  
at an exchange rate of £1.00:Cdn$1.62. 

The Company has not declared or paid any other dividends since 
incorporation and does not have any current intentions to pay further 
dividends in the foreseeable future. Future payments of dividends 
are expected to depend on the earnings and financial condition of 
the Company and such other factors as the Board of Directors of the 
Company consider appropriate.

B u s i n e s s  r e v i e w
The Business Review includes the financial performance during 
the financial year, future developments, performance of the Group 
and principal risks and uncertainties. A review of the business is 
incorporated by reference, forming part of this report, and includes 
information which can be found in the reports below:

the Chief Executive’s Statement in the Annual Review on pages 16  >
to 19;
Operations and Financial Reviews in the Annual Review and  >
Financial Statements respectively; and
CSR Report. >

The cautionary statement concerning “forward-looking statements” 
on page 39 of the Annual Review forms part of this report and is 
incorporated by reference.

K e y  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n d i c ato r s
Heritage uses a number of financial and operating KPIs against which it 
monitors performance. These KPIs will continue to be developed as the 
Company’s operations evolve.
  2010 2009

LTIFR1  0 0

Staff turnover2  3% 3%

Production from continuing operations3  +65% –13%

Reserves and contingent resources additions4 +42% +103%

Average realised price  +26% –35%

1 Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate per 10,000 hours worked.
2 Excludes staff members in Uganda who transferred with the sale of the Ugandan Assets.
3 Excludes production from Block 8, Oman which was sold in April 2009.
4 Management estimates.

i n t r o d u c t i o n
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s tat e m e n t  o f  c o m p l i a n c e

c o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  t h e  c o m B i n e d  c o d e  o n 
c o r p o r at e  g o v e r n a n c e
As a company with a Premium Listing on the LSE, the Company is 
subject to the Financial Services Authority’s Listing Rules and the 
requirement to explain how it has applied the Main Principles of the 
Combined Code. A copy of the Combined Code is available from 
the FRC’s website, www.frc.org.uk. The Listing Rules also require 
a company to confirm that it has complied with Section 1 of the 
Combined Code or explain areas of non-compliance. The Company 
is reviewing changes to the Combined Code in order to achieve 
compliance with the 2010 Code, as detailed in the Chairman’s letter 
and the table showing the summary of the main changes introduced  
by the 2010 Code on pages 2 to 5 of this report.

At the year end, the Board considers that the Company has complied 
with Section 1 of the Combined Code, save in the following respects. 

Code Provisio > n B.1.6: Notice periods for Executive Directors are 
24 months. These notice periods were set in place contractually 
prior to the Company’s listing on the LSE. The Company has 
discussed Executive Directors’ employment contracts with external 
advisers and internally within the Remuneration Committee. After 
reflecting on practical considerations raised in these discussions, 
the Company has decided, for commercial reasons, to retain the 
existing Executive Director notice period structure because of their 
importance to the business at this stage in its development; and
Code Provision C.3.1: >  The Chairman of the Company is a member 
of, and chairs, the Audit Committee. The Board believes the 
Chairman is the most appropriate person to be a member of, and 
chair, the Audit Committee given his extensive financial experience. 
The Chairman is also considered by the Board to have maintained 
his independent status.

The following sections of this report describe how the Company has 
applied the Main Principles of the Combined Code:

Report of the Independent Directors; >
Report of the Board as a Whole; >
Report of the Audit Committee; >
Other Committee Reports; >
Report of the Remuneration Committee; and >
Share Capital, Information for Shareholders and Investor Relations. >

The following statements may be found on page 6 of the Financial 
Statements Report:

i) Statement of the Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual 
Report and Financial Statements;

ii) Responsibility Statement of the Directors that the Financial 
Statements and Management Report (which is incorporated in the 
Annual Review and in the separate CSR Report) give a fair review of 
the Company’s business; and

iii) Going concern statement.

For and on behalf of the Board 
 

m i c h a el  J .  h i B B er d  
c h a i r m a n  
18  a pr i l  2 011
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B oa r d  c o m p o s i t i o n
The Directors of the Company who served throughout 2010 and up to 
the date of the signing of this report are listed below.
   Appointment dates

Michael Hibberd1  
Chairman and Non-Executive Director 18 March 2008

Anthony Buckingham2 
Chief Executive Officer 25 February 2008

Paul Atherton2

 Chief Financial Officer 6 February 2008

Salim Macki 
Non-Executive Director 12 August 2008

John McLeod1

 Non-Executive Director 18 March 2008

Gregory Turnbull1 
Non-Executive Director 18 March 2008

General Sir Michael Wilkes1

Non-Executive Director and 
Senior Independent Director 18 March 2008

1 The Non-Executive Director was appointed on 18 March 2008 and this became effective 
on the Company’s listing on the LSE on 28 March 2008. 

2 The Executive Director was appointed as indicated and this became effective on the 
Company’s listing on the LSE on 28 March 2008.

Biographical details of all Directors can be found on page 7 of this 
report. With the exception of General Sir Michael Wilkes and Salim 
Macki, all the Directors were previously, and continue to be, Directors 
of HOC.

B oa r d  B a l a n c e  a n d  i n d e p e n d e n c e
There are currently seven Directors, five of whom are Non-Executive 
Directors. The Chairman and three of the Non-Executive Directors are 
deemed to be independent under the terms of the Combined Code.

The Board is satisfied that its composition will ensure that no individual 
or group of individuals will dominate the decision-making process.

The Board considers that John McLeod, Salim Macki, General Sir 
Michael Wilkes and Michael Hibberd are independent in character and 
judgement and free from relationships or circumstances which may 
affect their judgement. The Board acknowledges that John McLeod 
does not meet the independence criteria set out in the Combined Code 
as he has served as a Director of HOC, the prior holding company 
of the Group, for more than nine years and was previously granted 
options. However, the Board has satisfied itself that neither of these 
factors impact on John McLeod’s independence in character and 
judgement. His length of service on the Board enhances his ability 
to perform his duties effectively and helps maintain an appropriate 
balance between experienced Non-Executive Directors and those more 
recently appointed to the Board. On appointment, the Chairman was 
also considered to be independent and continues to be so.

Gregory Turnbull does not meet the independence criteria set out by 
the Combined Code as he is a partner of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, the 
Canadian legal advisers to the Company.

In addition to the requirements of the Combined Code, the Board’s 
assessment of independence and effectiveness includes their total 
number of commitments, relationships with major suppliers or 
with charities receiving material support from the Company. This 
assessment is made annually.

the rel ationship agreement
Albion Energy Limited (“Albion”), the Company’s largest shareholder 
and Anthony Buckingham entered into a relationship agreement with 
the Company on 28 March 2008 (the “Relationship Agreement”) 
as part of the process to list the Company on the Main Market in 
2008. The purpose of the Relationship Agreement is to ensure that 
transactions and relationships between the Group, Albion and Anthony 
Buckingham are at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms. The 
Relationship Agreement prescribes that at all times, the Board shall 
comprise of a majority of Directors who are all independent of  
Anthony Buckingham.

conflicts of interest
Under the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”), a 
Director may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction 
or arrangement with the Company as long as he has disclosed to 
the Directors the nature and extent of any of his interests at the first 
meeting of the Directors at which a transaction is considered or as soon 
as practical after that meeting by notice in writing to the Secretary. 
Where disclosure is made to the Secretary, the Secretary must inform 
the other Directors that it has been made and table the notice at the 
next meeting of the Directors. Any disclosure at a meeting of the 
Directors must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics also requires 
Directors (and employees) to avoid conflicts of interest which may 
interfere or appear to interfere with the obligation to act in the best 
interests of the Company. 

Related party transactions with Directors are disclosed in note 
22 of notes to consolidated financial statements in the Financial 
Statements Report. The only current related party transaction relates 
to transportation services provided by a company indirectly owned by 
Anthony Buckingham.

r e p o r t  o f  t h e  i n d e p e n d e n t  d i r e c t o r s
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r e p o r t  o f  t h e  B o a r d  a s  a  w h o l e

h er i tage  o i l  plc  gov er n a n c e  s t r u c t u r e

co m m u n i c at i o n s

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Shareholders
Nomination
Committee

Reserves
Committee

CSR
Committee

el ec t
Board

Boa r d  o f  d i r ec to r s
The Board is currently comprised of seven Directors, five of whom 
are Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman and three of the Non-
Executive Directors are deemed to be independent under the terms of 
the Combined Code.

c h a i r m a n
The Chairman’s role is to ensure the effective running of the 
Board on all aspects of its roles and setting its agenda. His other 
key responsibilities include leading the Board, ensuring effective 
communication with shareholders, ensuring constructive relations 
between all Directors and that all Directors are encouraged to 
participate fully in the activities and decision-making process of  
the Board.

c h i e f  e x e c u t i v e  o f f i c e r  (“c e o” )
The CEO is responsible for managing the Group’s business, 
proposing and developing the Group’s strategy and overall 
commercial objectives in consultation with the Board and, as leader 
of the executive team, implementing the decisions of the Board and 
its Committees.

r o l e  o f  t h e  B oa r d
The Board as a whole is collectively responsible for the success of the 
Company and each Director must take decisions objectively in the 
interests of the Company. The Board’s principal role is to set strategy 
and the parameters within which the Group operates in furtherance of 
its objectives. The Board has approved a schedule of matters reserved 
for its attention which sets out its responsibilities. These include:

setting Group strategy and objectives; >
approving annual budgets, annual and half year reports, interim  >
management statements and dividends;
reviewing financial performance; >
Board changes; >
approving material acquisitions, disposals and contracts; >
ensuring the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal  >
controls including managing risks;
approval of health, safety and environmental policies; and >
setting the Company’s values and standards including approval   >
of the Group’s Code of Ethics.
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r e p o r t  o f  t h e  B o a r d  a s  a  w h o l e  c o n t i n u e d

The Board delegates the management of the business and day-to-day 
operational decisions to executives and is responsible for monitoring 
their performance. 

Individually, the Directors evaluate and challenge the Company’s 
business strategy constantly to ensure they identify areas where 
improvements can be made or where new opportunities exist so that 
strategies remain appropriate and relevant to the Company’s business. 

All of the Directors bring either extensive experience of the oil and 
gas industry, or a broad range of business, commercial and corporate 
governance experience, to the Board. The Executive Directors have 
close involvement with the operations of the business through their 
operational roles. The Directors are aware of their responsibilities and 
feel able to raise any concerns at Board meetings which are minuted 
accurately in the Board meeting minutes. The Board is supported by  
a strong and experienced senior management team. 

p o w e r s  o f  t h e  d i r e c to r s
Subject to the Articles, relevant statutory law and any direction that 
may be given by the shareholders in general meetings, the business of 
the Company is managed by the Directors who may exercise all powers 
of the Company.

c h a i r m a n ,  c e o  a n d  s e n i o r  
i n d e p e n d e n t  d i r e c to r
There is a clear division of responsibility between the roles of the 
Chairman, Michael Hibberd, and the CEO, Anthony Buckingham, 
to ensure an appropriate balance of responsibility and accountability. 
These responsibilities have been formalised in writing and approved  
by the Board.

The Chairman’s role is to ensure the effective running of the 
Board in all aspects of its roles and setting its agenda. His other 
key responsibilities include leading the Board, ensuring effective 
communication with shareholders, ensuring that Board Committees 
function effectively within their terms of reference, ensuring 
constructive relations between all Directors and that all Directors are 
encouraged to participate fully in the activities and decision-making 
process of the Board. The Chairman also ensures that the Directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear information with all Board and 
Committee meeting information being issued to members in advance. 
The Chairman’s other significant appointments are disclosed to  
the Board and may be found in the Directors’ biographies on page 7  
of this report.

The CEO is responsible for managing the Group’s business, proposing 
and developing the Group’s strategy and overall commercial objectives 

in consultation with the Board and, as leader of the executive team, 
implementing the decisions of the Board and its Committees.

General Sir Michael Wilkes is the Senior Independent Director with 
the chief responsibility of maintaining sufficient contact with major 
shareholders to help develop a balanced understanding of their issues 
and concerns. In this role General Sir Michael Wilkes is available to 
shareholders who have concerns that have not been, or cannot be resolved 
through discussion with the Chairman, CEO or Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) or where such contact is inappropriate. The Senior Independent 
Director is also responsible for leading the Non-Executive Directors in 
reviewing the performance of the Chairman.

h o w  t h e  B oa r d  o p e r at e s
Board meetings
The Board met in formal meetings nine times during the year and is 
scheduled to meet at least four times a year. It also engaged informally 
in numerous ad hoc information calls which were not convened as 
formal meetings. The Board believes that one of its strengths is in 
having open communication channels that enable its Directors to 
engage informally on a variety of topics. The Board will continue to 
meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties by way of scheduled 
Board meetings as well as through ad hoc meetings as required. 

The attendance record of each Director at formal Board and Committee 
meetings is shown in the table below. In addition to the formal meetings 
of the Board, the Chairman, CEO and CFO maintain frequent contact 
with the other Directors to discuss any issues they may have relating to 
the Group or as regards their areas of responsibility and to keep them 
fully briefed on the Group’s operations and initiatives. Additionally, the 
Chairman and/or the Non-Executive Directors met and spoke regularly 
during the year, and on an ad hoc basis, without the Executive Directors 
being present.

The Board receives in good time before each Board meeting a Board 
information package including an update on operational and financial 
performance and a review of the performance and future potential of 
all material assets.

commit tees
The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to Committees in line with 
recommendations of the Combined Code and to facilitate the business of 
the Company. These are the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Reserves 
and CSR Committees. The Reserves Committee was established in 2009 
and met for the first time in January 2010. The CSR Committee was 
established in April 2010. The duties of these Committees are set out in 
formal Terms of Reference, approved by the Board and are available on the 
Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.
    

     Audit Remuneration Nomination Reserves CSR 
    Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee 
    (9 meetings) (4 meetings) (4 meetings) (3 meetings) (2 meetings) (2 meetings)

Michael Hibberd    9 4 – 3 2 2

Anthony Buckingham    9 – – 3 – 2

Paul Atherton    9 – – – 2 2

John McLeod    9 4 4 – 2 –

Salim Macki    7 4 4 – – –

Gregory Turnbull    8 – – – – –

General Sir Michael Wilkes    9 4 4 3 – –
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Membership of the Committees was reviewed and confirmed during 
the year. Further details of these Committees and their activities can be 
found later in their respective reports on pages 14 to 27.

company secretary
Given the size of the Company, the Board feels that it is in the 
shareholders’ best interests not to employ a full time Company 
Secretary at this stage in the Company’s development. The current 
Company Secretary is a corporate entity based in Jersey that deals with 
the normal statutory compliance for the Company. The Board and its 
Committees are, therefore, serviced by the Company Secretary or its 
nominee. The other duties that would normally be carried out by the 
Company Secretary, such as the provision of information flows to the 
Board, are dealt with by either the Chairman or CFO or their nominee. 
In terms of corporate governance issues, the Board is advised by 
McCarthy Tétrault, a firm of registered foreign lawyers and solicitors 
with offices in North America and in London. The Board monitors 
the provision of company secretarial duties and takes any action as 
appropriate to ensure its requirements are met. The appointment or 
removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

independent professional advice
The Board ensures, in line with Board policy, that all Directors and 
Committees have access to independent professional advice whenever 
it is required and at the Company’s expense.

commitment
It is in the whole Board’s interest to ensure that all Directors have 
sufficient time to commit to their responsibilities as Directors. In 
respect of the Non-Executive Directors, their letters of appointment 
set out their terms of appointment including the expected time 
commitment which has been agreed and confirmed with them. This 
is then assessed as part of performance evaluation to ensure they 
continue to be able to devote sufficient time to their duties. Prior to 
appointment, all Directors are expected to disclose their other time 
commitments in order to demonstrate that they have sufficient time  
to fulfil their role as a Director.

It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors are permitted to 
accept directorships of other quoted companies provided that they  
have obtained the prior permission of the Chairman. However, an 
Executive Director will not be permitted to take on more than  
one non-executive directorship in a FTSE 100 company nor the 
chairmanship of such a company. The Board considers that all the 
Directors are currently able to devote sufficient time and attention  
to their duties and responsibilities. 

insur ance cover and directors’  
indemnit y provisions
The Company recognises the potential personal liabilities to which the  
Directors are subject by acting as a Director of the Company. The 
Company, therefore, believes that it is appropriate to protect Directors 
from innocent error or omission and maintains a Directors’ and 
Officers’ Liability insurance policy to provide the Directors with an 
indemnity under certain circumstances. This is reviewed annually. 
Directors will not be covered where they have acted fraudulently  
or dishonestly.

Under the Articles, Directors are indemnified out of the assets of the 
Company against any loss or liability incurred by reasons of having 
been a Director of the Company.

induction and continuing  
professional development 
Upon joining the Board, if considered appropriate, a Director will 
participate in an induction programme covering the principles and 
legal and regulatory duties required of them. This training is tailored 
to an individual’s needs, taking into account their qualifications 
and experience. In addition, meetings are arranged with senior 
management to enable Non-Executive Directors to develop a detailed 
understanding of the Company’s business and of its strategy, and the 
key risks and challenges facing the Company.

To build on the formal induction programme, Directors are encouraged 
to make site visits to the Group’s operations and are offered access to 
company secretarial services or independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense, should this be necessary for them to discharge 
their responsibilities.

The Board believes that the Directors possess a wealth of diverse 
experience and business skills. Non-Executive Directors are actively 
encouraged to question, examine and review the Group’s businesses 
and to undertake training applicable to their roles. Non-Executive 
Directors develop an understanding of the views of major shareholders 
through various channels including briefings by the Chairman and the 
Senior Independent Director and by information provided at Board 
meetings on investor relations strategy.

All Directors have the opportunity to update their skills and knowledge 
on a regular basis through further briefings on issues, including 
changes in law and regulation, corporate governance, financial 
reporting and operational matters. For example, during the year the 
Directors received a briefing on the requirements and possible impact 
of the UK Bribery Act on the Group’s operations. 

Furthermore, Directors are in regular communication with senior 
executives through both formal and informal ad hoc meetings, to 
ensure a regular exchange of knowledge and experience between 
management and Non-Executive Directors.

Board assessment and effectiveness
The Board undertakes regular evaluations of its own performance as 
well as that of the various Board Committees and the Chairman. At 
least once a year, this process, which was first formally established 
during 2009, is facilitated by an external party. The Board is aware 
of the provision of the Combined Code that the evaluation exercise 
should include an externally facilitated assessment of the performance 
of each individual Director at least every three years. Currently, 
individual Director assessment, particularly for those Directors retiring 
and seeking re-election, is conducted internally by the Board. The 
evaluation of the Chairman’s performance is conducted by the Non-
Executive Directors, led by General Sir Michael Wilkes as the Senior 
Independent Director, and also takes into account the views of the 
Executive Directors. 
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The assessment process considers matters covering the main duties of 
the Directors as members of the Board of a listed company, including:

the procedures that are in place for monitoring the Company’s   >
financial performance;
planning for the future; >
reviewing and contributing to the development of the   >
Company’s strategy;
considering the major risks affecting the business; and  >
providing both clear direction to, and oversight of, management.  >

The assessment of the Board as a whole, and of the various Board 
Committees, also considered matters relating to the quality and 
timeliness of the information provided to Directors, the effectiveness  
of meetings, the composition of the Board and the Board Committees, 
the training available to Directors and the overall Board dynamics  
and leadership. 

The review indicated that the Board and Committees continue to 
function effectively and in accordance with their respective Terms of 
Reference. The review also confirmed that the Board has built on those 
areas previously identified by the 2009 review, including the need for 
the Board as a whole to focus more on succession planning issues. 
Following increased emphasis by the Board on this area, the review has 
confirmed that the effectiveness of discussion and the quality of the 
debate around succession planning has further improved this year. 

directors’ election and rotation
With regard to retirement and re-election of Directors, the Company 
is governed by its Articles, the 2010 Code and the Jersey Companies 
Law. Under the Articles, Directors have the power to appoint a Director 
to the Board during the year but any person so appointed must stand 
for election at the next AGM. It is the Company’s current policy that 
all Directors should retire and stand for re-election at least once every 
three years.

The Board has discussed the requirements of the 2010 Code and will 
monitor investor comments on the requirement that Directors will 
retire and offer themselves for re-election at each AGM. Depending 
on investor feedback, it is likely that the Company’s Directors will, in 
future, stand for annual re-election beginning with the 2012 AGM. 
Therefore, in accordance with the current policy on re-election, 
General Sir Michael Wilkes and Salim Macki will retire and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the next AGM on 20 June 
2011 for a term of only one year.

m e m B e r s  o f  t h e  au d i t  c o m m i t t e e 
Michael Hibberd, Chairman
Salim Macki 
John McLeod
General Sir Michael Wilkes

m a i n  r e s p o n s i B i l i t i e s
to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, including  >
annual and interim reports and any other formal announcement 
relating to the Group’s financial performance;
to report to the Board on its proceedings, identifying any matters  >
in respect of which it considers that action or improvement is 
needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken;
to review the annual audit plan and effectiveness of the   >
external audit;
to review the Group’s budgets; >
to consider the establishment of an internal audit function;  >
to review the Group’s internal control procedures and risk  >
management systems;
to oversee the relationship with the external auditors and review  >
the effectiveness of the external audit process;
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,  >
review and removal of external auditors;
to approve the external auditors’ remuneration;  >
to monitor the external auditors independence including  >
reviewing the policy on provision of non-audit services; and
to review whistle-blowing arrangements and the Company’s  >
procedures for detecting fraud.

r e p o r t  o f  t h e  B o a r d  a s  a  w h o l e  c o n t i n u e d

All members of the Audit Committee, including the Chairman, are 
independent Non-Executive Directors. Other members of the Board 
may also be invited to attend meetings as and when appropriate. The 
external auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, are also invited to attend regularly. 
The Audit Committee also meets the external auditor’s without 
management present. 

The Chairman of the Company, Michael Hibberd, is a member 
of, and chairs, the Audit Committee which is not in line with the 
recommendations made in the Combined Code. However, the Board 
continues to believe that his recent and relevant financial experience, 
including his experience in corporate financial matters is invaluable 
in supporting the Audit Committee to perform its role. The Audit 
Committee meets formally at least twice a year to discharge its 
responsibilities and also engages in numerous ad hoc discussions. 

The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee, as summarised 
above, were reviewed during 2010, and part of that review involved 
consideration of matters considered to be good practice in other listed 
companies. The Terms of Reference of the Committee are available on 
the Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.

The performance of the Audit Committee was reviewed during the year 
as part of the external Board performance review and the operation of 
the Audit Committee was considered to remain effective.

r ep o r t  o f  t h e  au d i t  co m m i t t ee



Corporate Governance 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

1 5

ac t i v i t i e s  d u r i n g  t h e  y e a r
During the year the Audit Committee considered the following main 
items of business:

review of operations and sale of the Ugandan Assets; >
review of the integrity of the financial statements and formal  >
announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance; 
reports from the external auditors, KPMG Audit Plc; >
review of internal controls, risk and internal audit; >
review of whistle-blowing reports and policy; >
review of the external auditor’s independence; >
audit engagement letter and management representation letter; >
2011 audit plan and key audit risks; >
review of the Committee’s Terms of Reference; >
review of the 2010 and 2011 budgets and budgeting effectiveness;  >
review of related party transactions; and >
treasury management. >

i n t e r n a l  c o n t r o l  a n d  r i s K  m a n ag e m e n t
It is the Board’s responsibility to determine the nature and extent  
of the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic 
objectives. It also has overall responsibility for the Group’s system 
of internal controls and has put in place processes for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the significant risks that the Group faces. 
This includes significant risks that may arise from environmental, 
social and governance matters. The Group’s system of internal control 
is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The risk 
assessment and internal control procedures were in place from the 
start of 2010 to the date of the approval of this report and have been 
reviewed by the Board in accordance with the FRC’s guidance on 
internal control (the “Turnbull Guidance”).

The Audit Committee reviews regularly, on behalf of the Board, 
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls. The 
review covers all controls, including financial, operational and risk 
management processes. Appropriate actions are put into place to 
remedy any weaknesses identified by the review. One weakness 
identified in its financial procedures reporting concerns accounting 
for complex transactions and the Company ensures that it seeks third 
party advice to mitigate this weakness.

internal control fr ameworK
The internal control systems consist of both high level controls and 
controls in place at an operational level. These systems are based on 
established management structures with defined lines of responsibility 
and clear delegation of authority. 

High level controls include:

review of management accounts with comparison of actual  >
performance against prior periods and budget;
approval of orders, authorisation of invoices and two signatories  >
required to make a transfer from the principal bank accounts; 
quarterly reconciliation of all control accounts; >
prior approval by the Board for major investments; and >
segregation of duties between relevant functions and departments. >

A formal risk assessment is conducted periodically during the year which 
covers all material controls, including financial and operational, and risk 
management systems. The key risks are collated from this assessment 
with recommended controls to mitigate these risks and presented to the 
Audit Committee for review. The Board receives reports of the Audit 
Committee’s review of the internal control system, risk assessment 
process and any reports made under its whistle-blowing policy.

Details of principal risks and uncertainties, which are those reviewed 
by the Audit Committee during the year, are discussed on pages 36 to 
39 of the Annual Review. 

f i n a n c i a l  r e p o r t i n g  p r o c e d u r e s
Financial reporting procedures were reviewed as part of the process 
to become listed on the Main Market of the LSE and a Board 
memorandum was prepared which is reviewed on an annual basis.  
The review enabled the Directors to confirm that the financial 
reporting procedures in place provide them with a reasonable basis 
on which to make proper judgements on the financial position and 
prospects of the Company on an ongoing basis. 

In fulfilling its responsibility to monitor the integrity of financial reports 
to shareholders, the Audit Committee also reviews the accounting 
principles, policies and practices adopted in the preparation of public 
financial information and examines documentation in relation 
to the Annual Report and Accounts and annual financial report 
announcements. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving 
the interim and annual financial statements remains with the Board.

The internal control procedures in relation to financial reporting form 
part of the internal control and risk management systems described 
above. The Directors recognise the need to maintain financial 
reporting procedures, to review them on an ongoing basis and to adapt 
them to changing circumstances and will use the Board memorandum 
as a basis for further developing the Board processes.

i n t e r n a l  au d i t
At present there is no internal audit function established. The 
Committee reviewed the need for an internal audit function in 
2010 and again in April 2011 and concurred with the opinion of the 
Board, which maintains that the current control systems in place 
and management oversight are sufficient to highlight any areas of 
weaknesses in the financial reporting systems. The need for an internal 
audit function is kept under review at least annually.

w h i s t l e - B lo w i n g  p o l i c y
The Company has a whistle-blowing policy and systems in place. 
Information is available to all employees advising them that they can 
raise concerns in confidence about possible wrong doing by contacting 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. In addition, whistle-blowing 
is an agenda item at Board and Audit Committee meetings with 
appropriate action taken as required. Our policies and procedures in 
this area are being reviewed as part of the processes we are conducting 
concerning the UK Bribery Act. This activity will be completed by the 
end of June 2011.

au d i t  i n f o r m at i o n 
Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Annual Report and 
Accounts confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s Auditors are unaware; and 
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r e p o r t  o f  t h e  B o a r d  a s  a  w h o l e  c o n t i n u e d

each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 
Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware of that information.

e x t e r n a l  au d i to r s  a n d  
au d i to r  i n d e p e n d e n c e
The Audit Committee and Board recognise the importance of the 
independence and objectivity of the Group’s external auditors, KPMG 
Audit Plc, when performing their role in the Group’s reporting to 
shareholders. The Audit Committee’s review of the independence of 
the external auditors includes consideration of information provided 
by the external auditor on policies and processes for maintaining 
independence and monitoring compliance with current regulatory 
requirements, including those regarding the rotation of audit partners 
and staff. The external auditors are required to rotate the audit partner 
responsible for the Group audit every five years and the current audit 
partner has been in place for three years. In addition, in its assessment 
of the auditor’s independence, the levels of non-audit services provided 
by the external auditor are reviewed by the Audit Committee.

As well as considering independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor, their overall performance is reviewed regularly by the  
Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee has a policy in place in respect of the provision 
of non-audit services to the Company by the external auditor. The 
Audit Committee pre-approves all audit and non-audit services 
undertaken by the external auditor, to ensure independence of the 
external auditors is not impaired. Other accounting firms are used for 
the provision of non-audit services wherever possible except where 
the knowledge and expertise of the external auditor means that it is 
more efficient and effective for them to carry out the work. This is on 
the overriding principle that the external auditors’ independence will 
remain unaffected. 

Fees billed by KPMG Audit Plc, the Company’s auditors and its 
associates, during 2009 and 2010, are summarised below:

  2010 2009 
  $ $

Audit and audit related services  
Group audit of annual statements 

and review of interim statements  255,658 259,744

Audit of subsidiary financial statements  21,660 –

  277,318 259,744

Non-audit services  

Tax compliance and advisory  23,900 43,744

Transaction services1  – 1,274,820

  23,900 1,318,564

1  The majority of the 2009 transaction services costs relate to an aborted acquisition  
(see Financial Statements Report, page 2).

Having reviewed the independence and effectiveness of the auditors 
and being satisfied that the auditors remain independent and effective 
in their role, the Audit Committee has not considered it necessary to 
carry out a tender process this year. The Audit Committee therefore 
has recommended to the Board that the existing auditors, KPMG Audit 
Plc, be reappointed. KPMG Audit Plc has expressed their willingness to 

m e m B e r s  o f  t h e  n o m i n at i o n  c o m m i t t e e
Michael Hibberd, Chairman
Anthony Buckingham
General Sir Michael Wilkes

m a i n  r e s p o n s i B i l i t i e s
to formalise succession planning and the process for new Director  >
appointments;
to identify, evaluate and recommend candidates for appointment  >
or reappointment as Directors taking into account the challenges 
and opportunities facing the Company;
to review the structure, size and composition (including the  >
balance of knowledge, skills and experience) of the Board in order 
to recommend changes to the Board and to ensure the orderly 
succession of Directors; and
to review the outside directorships and time commitments of   >
Non-Executive Directors.

The majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are 
independent Non-Executive Directors. External advisers may also be 
invited to attend meetings as and when appropriate. The Nomination 
Committee has the power to request the attendance of any other 
Director or member of management, for all or part of any meeting,  
as may be considered appropriate by the Chairman of the Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets formally at least once a year 
and also engages in numerous ad hoc discussions. The Nomination 
Committee ensures, amongst other things, that there is a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new 
Directors. Recommendations are made objectively taking into account 
the balance of skills, knowledge and independence of a candidate. The 
Nomination Committee will ensure that candidates from a wide range 
of backgrounds are considered and take into account diversity and 
gender make up of the Board. The activities for which the Nomination 
Committee is responsible are set out in its Terms of Reference which 
can be found on the Company website www.heritageoilplc.com.

ac t i v i t i e s  d u r i n g  t h e  y e a r
During the year the Nomination Committee considered the following 
items of business:

a report on succession planning in the event of an unexpected loss  >
of a key employee or Director;
approval of a revised succession plan; >
review of the independence of the Non-Executive Directors; >
the balance of independent Non-Executive Directors on the Board; >
review of the need for internal audit function; >
review of the Nomination Committee’s Terms of Reference; and >

continue as auditors. Ordinary resolutions to reappoint KPMG Audit 
Plc as auditors of the Company and authorise the Directors to set their 
remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

f i n a n c i a l  r i s K s  a n d  f i n a n c i a l  i n s t r u m e n t s
Information on financial risk management, including credit and 
liquidity risks and information about financial instruments is set out 
on pages 31 to 39 of the Annual Review.

n o m i n at i o n  co m m i t t ee  r ep o r t
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m e m B e r s  o f  t h e  c s r  c o m m i t t e e
Paul Atherton, Chairman
Anthony Buckingham
Michael Hibberd

m a i n  r e s p o n s i B i l i t i e s
to maintain the Company’s CSR Policy Framework in line   >
with best practice and appropriate international standards  
and guidelines;
to develop a framework for submission, assessment and approval  >
of discretionary and obligatory community, social, educational 
and charitable expenditures undertaken by the Company 
worldwide;
to prepare the annual Group CSR Report and ensure that it is a fair  >
reflection of the Company’s CSR approach, policies, systems and 
performance, is coherent and published in a timely manner; and
to review the internal CSR programme of the Company and  >
ensure it has the appropriate standing within the Company.

m e m B e r s  o f  t h e  r e s e r v e s  c o m m i t t e e
John McLeod, Chairman
Michael Hibberd
Paul Atherton
Brian Smith, VP Exploration

m a i n  r e s p o n s i B i l i t i e s
to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities  >
generally with respect to the oil and natural gas reserves 
evaluation process and public disclosure of reserves data and 
related information in connection with oil and gas activities;
to review, at least annually, the Company’s procedures relating to  >
disclosure of information with respect to the oil and gas activities 
of the Company, including its procedures for complying with any 
disclosure requirements and restrictions;
to review annually the qualifications and independence of an  >
independent qualified reserves evaluator(s) to be appointed or 
reappointed by the Board and in the case of any proposed change 
in the independent qualified reserves evaluator(s), determine the 
reasons for the proposed change and whether there have been any 
disputes between the appointed qualified reserves evaluator(s) and 
management of the Company; and
to review any public disclosure or regulatory filings with respect to  >
any reserves evaluation and oil and gas activities.

The CSR Committee meets formally at least once a year and also 
engages in numerous ad hoc discussions. External advisers may also be 
invited to attend meetings as and when required.

ac t i v i t i e s  d u r i n g  t h e  y e a r
During the year the CSR Committee considered the following items  
of business:

review of the scheduled CSR programmes that were undertaken  >
during the year;
review of CSR policy;  >
review of the CSR budget; >
review of feedback from the Board and Committee performance  >
evaluation exercise;
review of Directors’ training needs; and  >
review of the CSR Committee’s Terms of Reference. >

Details of the Group’s CSR policies and programmes may be found in 
the separate Corporate Responsibility Report. The Terms of Reference 
of the Committee can be found on the Company’s website 
www.heritageoilplc.com.

c o d e  o f  e t h i c s  a n d  t h e  u K  B r i B e r y  ac t
The Code of Ethics is currently being reviewed as part of the process 
being conducted concerning the UK Bribery Act which becomes law 
at the beginning of July 2011. Guidance from the government has 
recently been published with the overriding principle that companies 
should adopt a risk-based approach to application of the UK Bribery 
Act. Heritage is currently obtaining legal advice concerning how 
the legislation will impact on the Group. In addition, in preparation 
for this change Heritage has charged Paul Atherton, CFO, with the 
responsibility to oversee how this law will impact Heritage. This will 
include overseeing:

a review of the government guidance; >

The Reserves Committee engages in numerous ad hoc discussions and 
will formally meet at least once a year. External advisers may also be 
invited to attend meetings as and when required.

ac t i v i t i e s  d u r i n g  t h e  y e a r
During the year the Reserves Committee considered the following 
items of business:

a review of year end planning for reserves disclosure; >
discussion on asset impairment;  >
consideration of engagement of alternative independent consultants  >
to assist in evaluation of licences; and
review of the Reserves Committee Terms of Reference. >

Details of the Group’s current reserves are set out on page 28 of the 
Annual Review. The Terms of Reference of the Committee can be 
found on the Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.

review of the performance evaluation of the Board and its  >
Committees including a review of the performance of the 
Nomination Committee.

c s r  co m m i t t ee  r ep o r t

the conduct of specific processes which are indicated within   >
the guidance;
a review of Heritage’s current policies and systems with respect  >
to bribery, code of conduct, whistle-blowing and other relevant 
policies for both employees and contractors; and
the development and enhancement of these policies, if required. >

p o l i t i c a l  a n d  c h a r i ta B l e  d o n at i o n s
The Company made charitable, social and community-related 
donations during the year totalling $945,991 (2009 – $334,526). The 
Group has undertaken a wide range of community projects, including 
public health, education, environment, public facility and community 
relations based programmes further details of which can be found 
in the separate CSR Report. In line with Group policy, no political 
donations were made during 2010 (2009 – nil).

r e s er v e s  co m m i t t ee  r ep o r t
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You will see that we have continued to 
produce a report that aims to maintain and 
improve the quality of our dialogue with you 
as our shareholders by striving to be clear, 
transparent and concise. We will be seeking 
your approval of the report at the AGM on 
20 June 2011. Together with the rest of your 
Board, I will be available at the AGM to 
answer your questions on the Remuneration 
Committee’s activities and the Group’s 
executive remuneration policy. 

During the past year, executive remuneration 
has remained a prominent topic with 
shareholders, regulators, commentators 
and the general public. This has resulted in 
significant changes to corporate governance 
requirements, including an increased focus on 
risk and the link between corporate strategy 
and executive remuneration. As a Committee, 
and together with the rest of the Board, we 
are mindful of our obligations in these areas. 
Whilst we recognise that, as a result of the 
Executive Directors’ notice periods, we are 
not fully compliant with the Combined Code, 
we continue to make further progress towards 
complying with UK best practice in the area 
of executive remuneration, as you will read in 
this report. 

Against this background, the Remuneration 
Committee has continued to monitor the 
executive reward policy, and its application, 
to ensure that both remain appropriate and 
are consistent with the implementation of 
our business strategy. The past year has 
seen Heritage return significant value to its 
shareholders by way of a special dividend. 
During the year, we also made real progress 
in our Miran West-2 well, in Kurdistan. This 
resulted in the subsequent discovery of a 
major gas field, which represents a valuable 
asset given both its size and location and has 
the potential to generate further substantial 
value to our shareholders. 

In addition, since my last letter, the 
Remuneration Committee has: 

continued to exercise restraint in Executive  >
Director pay increases and has decided that 
Executive Directors will receive no base 
package increases in 2011. This means 
that Executive Directors will have received 
only one modest base package increase 
in the four financial years following the 
Company’s listing on the LSE; 
determined that the maximum bonus  >
opportunity will remain unchanged at 
300% of base package for Executive 
Directors and that this level of bonus 
would only be awarded for truly 
exceptional performance; 
determined that 2010 bonus payments  >
to Executive Directors will be 100% of 
base package (one-third of the maximum 
potential), reflecting operational and 
financial performance during the year, 
including progress made towards the 
discovery of a major gas field at the Miran 
West-2 well. Last year, the Remuneration 
Committee decided to divide the normal 
bonus for 2009 into two parts, the second 
of which would only become payable 
subject to completion of the sale of the 
Group’s interests in Uganda. Whilst the 
Ugandan Assets were disposed of during 
2009, the Committee decided that this 
bonus should only become payable when 
the sale completed. This was achieved 
during 2010, resulting in significant value 
being generated for shareholders, and the 
corresponding part of this bonus (equating 
to 150% of base package) was paid to 
executives during 2010;

Dear Shareholder On behalf of the Board and 
the Remuneration Committee, I am delighted 
to present this year’s Remuneration Report.

r e p o r t  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e

J o h N  M c l eo d
c h a i r M a N  o F  t h e  
r eM U N er at i o N  
co M M i t t ee
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The past year has seen Heritage return 
significant value to its shareholders by 
way of a special dividend.

undertaken a review of the requirements  >
of the new 2010 Code with regard to 
executive remuneration policy and 
practice. Whilst the Company is not 
required to report on its compliance with 
the 2010 Code in the year under review 
(as the 2010 Code only applies to financial 
years beginning on or after 29 June 2010), 
the Committee has taken the 2010 Code’s 
provisions into account when setting 
forward-looking policy. As part of this 
process, the Committee has commissioned 
its independent executive reward 
consultants, the Hay Group, to carry out a 
risk evaluation of executive remuneration 
by auditing both the policy and the various 
elements of pay at the Executive Director 
and the other senior levels; and
undertaken a general review of executive  >
remuneration, in the light of corporate 
governance developments and Heritage 
now having been listed in London for three 
years, in order to ensure that executive 
reward policy and practice remains 
appropriate and reflects the Board’s view, 
corporate strategy, the current situation 
of the business and the views of our 
shareholders. 

As part of this review, the Remuneration 
Committee considered the implications for 
executive reward of the current LTIP expiring 
in June 2011 and, in order to avoid a gap in 
remuneration arrangements and to maintain a 
focus on long-term performance, has decided 
to propose a new LTIP. Subject to shareholder 
approval at the AGM in June, the new LTIP 
will provide annual awards of performance 
shares at a lower level than was the case under 
the 2008 LTIP. The vesting of these awards 
will be dependent on the Company’s Total 
Shareholder Return (“TSR”) performance 
relative to that of its peers. More details on  
the new LTIP will be included in the Notice 
of AGM. 

We believe that the move to annual LTIP 
awards is appropriate at this stage of the 
business’s development. The new LTIP will 
enable us to move closer to UK best practice 
whilst maintaining our focus on the delivery 
of strategy and value to shareholders. 

The rest of this report provides further detail 
on our remuneration arrangements. 

J o h N  M c l eo d
c h a i r M a N  o F  t h e 
r eM U N er at i o N 
co M M i t t ee
18  a pr i l  2 011
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r e p o r t  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e  c o N t i N U e d

M e M b e r s  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e
John McLeod, Chairman
Salim Macki
General Sir Michael Wilkes

M a i N  r e s p o N s i b i l i t i e s
to set the remuneration policy for the Chairman, Executive  >
Directors and senior executives;
to assess and determine total compensation packages available to  >
the Executive and Non-Executive Directors;
to monitor the remuneration of senior management other than the  >
Executive Directors whose remuneration it sets;
to determine policy and scope for pension rights and any  >
compensation payments and ensure compliance with the 
Combined Code and, going forward, the 2010 Code, in this 
respect; and
to make recommendations to the Board for its approval, and  >
that of shareholders, on the design of LTIPs and making 
recommendations for the grant of awards to executives under  
such plans.

environment, the financial and operational performance of the 
Group and the remuneration policy and levels for the wider employee 
population. In particular, the Remuneration Committee considers 
how pay levels in the wider employee population compare against 
the market and is mindful of the pay differentials between top 
executives and roles at different levels in the structure. In addition, the 
Remuneration Committee has aimed to ensure that any pay rises for 
Executive Directors do not exceed the level of increases applied to other 
Group employees. 

The Remuneration Committee has clearly defined Terms of  
Reference which conform to the requirements of the Combined Code  
and are available on the Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.  
The Terms of Reference were reviewed during the year, with 
advice from our external advisers, and part of this review involved 
consideration of what was considered to be good practice in other  
listed companies.

a d v i c e  to  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e
The Chairman of the Board, CEO and CFO provide internal 
support to the Remuneration Committee and attend meetings at the 
Committee’s invitation except where matters associated with their own 
remuneration are being discussed.

The Remuneration Committee has access to external advice as 
required. During the year, the Committee continued to receive 
independent advice from external executive reward consultants,  
the Hay Group, on matters under consideration by the Committee.  
In addition, the Hay Group facilitated the Board’s assessment process 
as described in this Corporate Governance Report and provided 
updates on market practice. No other services were provided to the 
Company by the Hay Group during the year.

e x e c U t i v e  r e wa r d  p o l i c y
During the year, the Remuneration Committee has continued to 
monitor the executive reward policy and principles which were put 
in place in 2008 to ensure that they remain appropriate and continue 
to support the business strategy. These broad principles, which the 
Remuneration Committee believes remain appropriate in the current 
climate, are designed to ensure that the Company:

has an executive reward framework to help drive future   >
value growth;
retains and, when necessary, recruits management talent of the  >
required ability and experience;
provides overall levels of reward that are appropriate for the  >
Company given its Premium Listing in London, international 
operations and the global nature of the oil and gas industry; 
follows UK best practice in so far that such standards support and  >
enhance the Company’s ability to generate value for shareholders; and
maintains a balance between fixed (base package and benefits) and  >
variable reward (short and long-term incentives) that is appropriate 
and motivates the right behaviours (see chart on page 22).

Within this broad framework, and in order to decide the appropriate 
executive remuneration policy for 2011 and beyond, the Remuneration 
Committee has undertaken a major review which took into account 
the Group’s performance over the last year, the business strategy of the 
Group going forward, the impact of remuneration on risk, the external 
environment and the views of our major shareholders. 

This report has been prepared with reference to the UK Large and 
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 (the “Regulations”) and meets the relevant 
requirements of the Financial Services Authority’s Listing Rules. 

In preparing this report, consideration has also been given to the 
Combined Code and the Guidelines of the Association of British 
Insurers on Executive Remuneration Policies and Practices. The 
Remuneration Committee has also considered the requirements of 
the 2010 Code, which will apply to the Company with effect from the 
financial year started 1 January 2011. 

The report has been divided into different parts for unaudited and 
audited information. The first part, which is not required to be audited, 
details the role of the Remuneration Committee and our executive 
reward policy, with particular reference to the link between our reward 
policy and the business strategy. The second part, which has been 
audited in accordance with the Regulations, contains details of the 
Directors’ emoluments, performance share awards, options and  
pension arrangements. 

A resolution to approve the report will be put to shareholders at the 
AGM on 20 June 2011.

U N aU d i t ed  i N F o r M at i o N
reMUNer atioN coMMit tee
The Committee met four times during 2010 and the attendance 
record of individual Committee members is shown on page 12 of this 
Corporate Governance Report.

All members of the Remuneration Committee, including the 
Chairman, are considered by the Board to be independent as explained 
in this Corporate Governance Report on page 10.

The Remuneration Committee’s main responsibilities are  
described above.

In setting the remuneration policy and total compensation package 
levels for Executive Directors and other senior executives, the 
Remuneration Committee gives consideration to the economic 
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As part of this review, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed 
the comparator groups against which overall reward levels are 
benchmarked, in the light of the current stage of business development. 
As a result, the following benchmarking groups have been used in 
reviewing levels of remuneration: 

a comparator group comprising both UK and international oil and  >
gas companies of a similar size and scale to Heritage; 
a peer group comprising those oil and gas companies that are often  >
used by equity analysts to evaluate Heritage’s performance; and
the constituents of the FTSE 350 Oil and Gas index.  >

It remains the Remuneration Committee’s opinion that, in light of 
the geographic areas in which the Company operates, the relatively 
small number of executives at the Company and the roles conducted 
by the Executive Directors, an upper quartile level of total reward is 
appropriate. However, upper quartile levels of reward are only available 
(mainly through participation in the LTIP) for truly exceptional levels 
of performance.

The policy review confirmed the Remuneration Committee’s 
determination to maintain a strong focus on long-term performance. 
As a result, the Committee has decided to adopt a new, annual LTIP, 
which will be proposed to shareholders at the AGM in June, which will 
replace the current, one-off LTIP that is expiring in June 2011. 

In addition to driving a high-performance culture and maintaining 
a long-term focus, this new LTIP will be a further step in the 
Remuneration Committee’s ongoing efforts towards compliance with 
UK best practice. 

More details on these proposals can be found in the following pages 
and the Notice of AGM. 
 

s U M M a r y  o F  c U r r e N t  r e M U N e r at i o N 
c o M p o N e N t s 
Within the overall reward policy, the manner in which each component 
of executive reward is aligned to the overall business strategy is shown 
in the following table.

Component
of executive 
reward

Base package

Annual bonus

2008 
LTIP

Pension

 
Policy for
Executive Directors

Typically reviewed  >
annually
Benchmarked  >
against UK and 
international oil and 
gas peer companies
No base package  >
increase in 2011

Maximum of 300%  >
of base package
Based on achieving  >
exceptional 
corporate targets (no 
individual element)

One-off award  >
covering a three year 
period of annual 
grants
Relative TSR  >
performance targets 
underpinned by 
requirement for 20% 
share price growth
None of the awards  >
vest unless TSR 
performance is close 
to the upper quartile

 

Allowance of 10% of  >
base package

 
Alignment to
corporate strategy

Market competitive  >
pay levels enable us 
to recruit and retain 
the best available 
talent for Heritage
Base package freeze  >
supports focus on 
performance-related 
elements

Promotes a high- >
performance culture
Maximum levels  >
of bonuses are 
only available for 
exceptional financial 
and operational 
performance 

Alignment with  >
long-term corporate 
performance and 
shareholder value
Absolute growth  >
requirement ensures 
rewards are only 
available if the share 
price increases 
significantly
Upper quartile  >
rewards are 
available only for 
exceptional levels of 
performance
Vesting of any  >
award subject to 
significantly tougher 
performance 
conditions than is 
market typical

Below market  >
lower quartile and 
in line with our 
performance-driven 
culture



CEOVariable reward
Fixed reward

CFO
20%

80%

26%

74%
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b a l a N c e  b e t w e e N  F i x e d  a N d  p e r F o r M a N c e -
r e l at e d  r e wa r d
The charts below show the balance between fixed (base package and 
benefits) and variable (bonus and long-term incentives) elements of 
reward for each of the Executive Directors.

coMpoNeNts oF execUtive directors’ reward
 

Fixed reward includes base package and value of benefits  
(including pension).

Variable reward includes 2010 bonus and the annualised fair value of 
long-term incentive awards (apportioned over the life of the LTIP).

b a s e  pac k ag e
As a general policy, base packages reflect the Remuneration 
Committee’s assessment of the appropriate market rates for executive 
positions in peer organisations, as well as the individual’s level of 
responsibility, criticality and value to the business. Salaries are 
therefore set at a level to enable the Company to recruit and retain the 
best available talent.

Following the review of remuneration undertaken during the year, the 
Remuneration Committee has decided that base packages for Executive 
Directors should not be increased in 2011. In making this decision, the 
Committee had due regard to the salaries of, and the increases awarded 
to, all Group employees, the views of institutional shareholders and 
the desire to emphasise the importance of the performance-related 
elements of the package. 

Accordingly, the Executive Directors base packages will remain 
unchanged for 2011, as illustrated in the table below. As a result, 
Executive Directors will have received only one modest base package 
increase in the four financial years following the Company’s listing on 
the LSE.

 2011 2010 
Name Base package  Base package Increase

Anthony Buckingham £708,750 £708,750 0%

Paul Atherton £525,000 £525,000 0%

a N N Ua l  b o N U s
The annual bonus, which is payable wholly in cash, has a maximum 
limit of 300% of base package and is payable to Executive Directors 
solely for the achievement of exceptional corporate targets. There are 
no individual targets for Executive Directors. As in previous years, at 
other levels in the Company, targets which relate to performance in 
an individual’s geographical area of operation or function are utilised 
but, for any bonus to be paid out at all, a minimum level of Company 
performance must be achieved.

The Remuneration Committee recommends the level of annual 
bonuses paid to the Executive Directors. Based upon the financial and 
operational performance of the Company during the year, including 
progress made in drilling in the Miran West-2 well in Kurdistan, the 
Committee has recommended, and the Board has approved, a bonus of 
100% of base package (one-third of the maximum potential). 

Further, last year, the Remuneration Committee decided to divide the 
normal bonus for 2009 into two parts, the second of which would only 
become payable subject to the completion of the sale of the Group’s 
entire interests in Uganda. Whilst the Ugandan Assets were disposed 
of during 2009, the Committee decided that this bonus should only 
become payable when the sale completed. The sale was completed 
on 26 July 2010, resulting in significant value being generated for 
shareholders and the corresponding part of this bonus (equating to 
150% of base package) was subsequently paid to executives.

The payments to individual Executive Directors are shown in the 
Directors’ Emoluments table on page 26.

lo N g -t e r M  i N c e N t i v e s
20 08 ltip
The LTIP was approved by shareholders in June 2008, shortly after the 
Company’s flotation on the LSE. The main features of the awards to 
Executive Directors are:

one-off awards of performance shares reflecting the equivalent of  >
three years of award;
a face value of 1,200% of base package for the CEO and 800%  >
of base package for the CFO, reflecting the equivalent of annual 
awards for three years; 
the performance conditions, measured over the three year period  >
starting with the date of the award, are relative TSR versus a group 
of international oil companies and a requirement for the share price 
to increase by at least 20% between the date of the award and the 
end of the vesting period;
none of the awards will vest unless comparative TSR performance is  >
close to the upper quartile level of the comparator group, as shown 
in the table below; and 
there is an additional holding period of one year following the  >
vesting of the awards.

r e p o r t  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e  c o N t i N U e d
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Awards vest according to the following schedule:
    Proportion of award vesting

         Typical UK 
TSR Performance versus comparator group of 18 companies       Heritage practice

3rd place (the upper decile) and above       100% 100%
4th place        80% 100%
5th place (the upper quartile)        50% 100%
6th place        30% 85%
7th place        0% 70%
8th place        0% 55%
9th place        0% 40%
10th place (the median)        0% 25%
Below 10th place        0% 0%

Long-term incentive award levels have been set with reference to the upper quartile of the Company’s comparator groups. However, the vesting 
schedule is designed to only deliver the whole value of the award for truly exceptional performance, at a standard higher than that which is 
normal for the UK. The additional performance condition, requiring the share price to increase by 20% or more, is also above and beyond what 
is common in both the UK and Canada. The combination of the two performance measures ensure that no reward will be available to Executive 
Directors unless performance is exceptional in both relative and absolute terms. 

In the light of the performance conditions described above, the Remuneration Committee determined at the time the LTIP was introduced that 
the award levels, which reflect the equivalent of annual awards for three years, were appropriate for the Executive Directors because:

a one-off award provided better alignment of the Executive Directors with current and potential shareholders following the Company’s  >
reorganisation and listing on the Main Market of the LSE than annual rolling awards would;
a one-off award encouraged sustained performance over the first three key years following the Company’s listing in London. Annual awards  >
can have the effect of encouraging “staggered” or “delayed” performance, e.g. not maximising investments and performance as soon  
as possible in any given year so as to ensure that new awards benefit from any uplift such investments and performance will create.  
The Remuneration Committee believes that it is in the best interest of shareholders for maximum value to be accrued as soon as possible;
a one-off award covering three years of annual grant provided a greater retentive effect than annual grants and ensured continuity in  >
management following the Company’s listing in London; and
whilst the Remuneration Committee was keen to move to UK standard annual grant patterns as soon as practicable, providing a one-off award  >
equivalent to three years of annual awards counterbalanced the Remuneration Committee’s decision to remove annual vesting for long-term 
incentives, replacing it with a three year vesting period and an additional one year holding period.

The comparator group companies were selected on the basis of their size and scale of operations, market capitalisation and geographic spread. 
The original comparator group comprised the following companies:

Aminex plc Imperial Energy plc Premier Oil plc

Bowleven plc JKX Oil and Gas plc SOCO International plc

Dana Petroleum plc Mariner Energy Inc. Stone Energy Corp.

Dominion Resources Inc McMoRan Exploration Co. Swift Energy Co.

Gulf Keystone Petroleum Ltd. Melrose Resources plc Tullow Oil plc

Hunting plc Oilexco Inc. Venture Production plc

No further awards to Executive Directors have been made since the initial award in June 2008 and the plan will expire in June 2011. 

p r o p o s e d  2 0 11  lo N g  t e r M  i N c e N t i v e  p l a N  ( t h e  “2 0 11  lt i p ” )
Following its extensive review of remuneration policy and levels during 2010, the Committee determined that, in order to avoid a gap in 
remuneration arrangements and to maintain a focus on long-term performance, a new LTIP should be put in place for Executive Directors and 
other senior executives. Subsequently, the Company is proposing that the 2011 LTIP be adopted by shareholders at the AGM in June. The main 
features of the proposed plan are summarised below:

annual awards of performance shares at a lower face value than was the case under the 2008 LTIP;  >
the performance condition will be relative TSR, measured against a group of peer companies from the oil and gas sector over three years; and >
in line with the 2008 LTIP, there is an additional holding period of one year following the vesting of the awards. >
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The Remuneration Committee believes that moving from a one-off arrangement to an annual cycle of rolling awards is now appropriate given the 
Company’s current stage of development and the fact that Heritage has now been listed on the LSE for over three years. The proposals also reflect 
the views of UK institutional investors who strongly favour annual awards as opposed to end-to-end plans. 

The 2011 LTIP will be described in more detail in the Notice of the AGM. 

2 0 0 8  r e p l ac e M e N t  s h a r e  o p t i o N  s c h e M e
HOC implemented The Heritage Oil Corporation Plan (the “Original Plan”) following approval by its shareholders in 2004 and granted options 
under the Original Plan to its Executive and Non-Executive Directors and other employees and consultants at that time. The grant of options 
included all the then current Executive and Non-Executive Board members and so does not include General Sir Michael Wilkes and Salim Macki. 
As a result of the Group reorganisation and subsequent listing on the Main Market of the LSE, all the Board members were entitled to retain their 
options under the Original Plan and exchange them for options to acquire 10 Ordinary Shares of the Company for every one Common Share 
they held under option. The Original Plan was then cancelled and on 18 March 2008, the Company adopted The Heritage Oil Limited 2008 
Replacement Share Option Scheme (the “Replacement Scheme”) which is substantially in the same form as the Original Plan. The purpose of the 
Replacement Scheme is to act as a replacement to the Original Plan and to honour the options granted under it by granting holders the option to 
purchase Ordinary Shares. The Replacement Scheme is administered by the Board and no further options will be granted under it.

The maximum number of Ordinary Shares which may be issued under the Replacement Scheme was 24,545,340, being the equivalent number of 
shares required to replace the options granted under the Original Plan that were still in existence prior to their cancellation.

All options under the Replacement Scheme have now vested and the Company will not grant any further options under this scheme.

p e N s i o N s
Executive Directors receive pension contributions of an annual amount equal to 10% of their base package into a personal pension scheme 
nominated by the executive.

ot h e r  b e N e F i t s
The Company’s policy is to provide Executive Directors with private medical insurance, life insurance and school fees for dependents but no 
other benefits in kind which would be typical in the UK, such as a company car. In addition, both Executive Directors are entitled to housing 
allowances of £100,000 (Anthony Buckingham) and £77,500 (Paul Atherton).

s h a r e h o l d i N g  g U i d e l i N e s
At present the Committee has not established formal Executive Director shareholding guidelines as, in the opinion of the Committee, these would 
be superfluous at this time. The Executive Directors hold a substantial number of shares in the Company and have interests in shares under 
various share incentive arrangements as shown in the table below as at 18 April 2011: 
        Anthony  Paul 
        Buckingham Atherton

Shares held        84,540,340 1,140,000

Shares vested under the 2008 Replacement Scheme yet to be exercised     10,129,510 2,875,000

Interest in shares under the 2008 LTIP       2,347,826 1,159,420

Total        97,017,676 5,174,420

Notional value of shares at year end, £1       420,798,113 19,783,873

Total value as a multiple of base package       601 times 38 times

1  The full vesting of 2008 LTIP and share options is assumed. Cost of exercise is £14,520,199 for Anthony Buckingham and £3,433,750 for Paul Atherton.

s e r v i c e  ag r e e M e N t s
The Executive Directors’ service agreements with the Company are for no fixed term. In normal circumstances, the agreements may be 
terminated by the Company giving no less than 24 months’ notice and the Director giving six months’ notice. These arrangements were in place 
during their time as Executive Directors of HOC and were inherited by the Company. The Board feels that these notice periods were appropriate 
to recruit and retain the Executive Directors although it recognises that they are not in line with current UK market practice. 

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the Executive Director employment contracts as part of the extensive review of executive 
remuneration arrangements which it undertook during 2010. After taking into account the view received from its external advisors, Hay 
Group, the external commercial environment, the importance of the Executive Directors to the business and the other changes proposed to the 
executive remuneration package (including an effective reduction in cash and total remuneration levels available), the Committee has decided, 
for commercial reasons, to retain the existing Executive Director notice period structure. We believe that this policy protects the interests of our 
shareholders in the current environment, but we are committed to keeping this issue under review. 

r e p o r t  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e  c o N t i N U e d
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     Date of Unexpired Notice period Notice period 
Executive Director     contract term by Company by Director

Anthony Buckingham1    28 March 2008 Rolling contract 24 months 6 months

Paul Atherton1    28 March 2008 Rolling contract 24 months 6 months

1 The Executive Director was appointed previously as indicated on page 10 and this became effective on the Company’s listing on the LSE on 28 March 2008.

In the event of a change of control of the Company, if the Executive Directors resign or the Company terminates their appointment within 
24 months of such an event, they will each be entitled to an immediate payment in lieu of notice of a sum equivalent to three times their annual 
base package. In addition, they will be entitled to a payment of Cdn$75,000 in the event they are asked to resign from the Board of HOC in any 
event other than as a result of a change of control. The Company also may terminate the agreements and make payments in lieu of notice.

Currently the Executive Directors’ service contracts do not provide for mitigation in the event of early termination. The Executive Directors do 
not have service contracts with any Group subsidiary.

N o N - e x e c U t i v e  d i r e c to r s
The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts but their terms are set out in a letter of appointment. Their terms of appointment may 
be terminated by each party giving three months’ notice in writing. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the Chairman and the Executive members of the Board. The Company’s policy is to 
set levels for Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration so as to ensure that they are sufficient to attract, retain and motivate high quality Directors. 
As disclosed in the 2009 Remuneration Report, fees for Non-Executive Directors have been equalised at £80,000 per annum (including any fees 
paid by HOC to those Non-Executive Directors who are also Directors of that company). 

Fee levels for 2010 and 2011 are set out below. Actual fees paid for the year ended 31 December 2010 are shown in the Directors’ Emoluments 
table on page 26.
        2011 2010

Michael Hibberd        £120,000 £120,000

Salim Macki        £80,000 £80,000

General Sir Michael Wilkes        £80,000 £80,000

Gregory Turnbull        £80,000 £80,000

John McLeod        £80,000 £80,000

Additional fee for each day worked in excess of the agreed 20 days per annum    £2,000 £2,000

With the exception of General Sir Michael Wilkes and Salim Macki, all of the Non-Executive Directors will be entitled to a payment of 
Cdn$75,000 in the event they are asked to resign from the Board of HOC in any event other than as a result of a change of control. 

Terms of appointment and reappointment are set out below:

       Date of Notice Last 
Non-Executive Director       contract period  re-election

Michael Hibberd1      28 March 2008 3 months 2010 AGM

Gregory Turnbull1      28 March 2008 3 months 2009 AGM

John McLeod1      28 March 2008 3 months 2009 AGM

General Sir Michael Wilkes1      28 March 2008 3 months 2008 AGM

Salim Macki      12 August 2008 3 months 2009 AGM

1 The Non-Executive Director was appointed on 18 March 2008 and this became effective on the Company’s listing on the LSE on 28 March 2008.

Non-Executive Directors do not participate in the Company’s pension arrangements. Although they may have previously received grants of 
options, they will not receive any further grants or participate in any other long-term incentive arrangements.
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p e r F o r M a N c e  g r a p h 
The following graph shows the Company’s TSR since trading of the Company’s shares began on the LSE on 31 March 2008 against the FTSE 250 
Index. The Remuneration Committee has selected the FTSE 250 Index as it represents a broad equity market index of which the Company forms 
a part of and therefore provides a good indication of the Company’s general performance.

 

aU d i t ed  i N F o r M at i o N
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2010
      
   Base  Annual 2010 2010 2009 2009 
   package/fees Benefits1 bonus Total Pensions Total Pensions 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive Directors        
Anthony Buckingham   700.3 140.8  1,721.3 2,562.4 70.0 1,828.8 67.5

Paul Atherton   518.8 184.2 1,275.0 1,978.0 51.9 1,402.7 50.0

Non-Executive Directors2        
Michael Hibberd3   120.0 – – 120.0 – 112.6 –

Gregory Turnbull3   80.0 – – 80.0 – 82.6 –

John McLeod3   80.0 – – 80.0 – 82.6 –

General Sir Michael Wilkes   80.0 – – 80.0 – 100.0 –

Salim Macki   80.0 – – 80.0 – 100.0 –

Total   1,659.1 325.0 2,996.3 4,980.4 121.9 3,709.3 117.5

1  Shows the taxable value of benefits, comprising private medical insurance, life insurance and school fees. The figures also include housing allowances of £100,000  
(Anthony Buckingham) and £77,500 (Paul Atherton) but exclude pension contributions. 

2  The Non-Executive Directors charged an additional 10 days time in 2009 for additional work incurred in connection with an aborted acquisition. 
3 During 2009 Michael Hibberd, Gregory Turnbull and John McLeod also received fees of Cdn$22,500 paid by HOC as Directors of that company. These fees have been included in the  
 above table.

In 2010, the Company accrued $7.7 million in general and administrative expenses, in relation to an arbitration settlement to a former director of 
HOC whose services were terminated in 2006.

lt i p  p e r F o r M a N c e  s h a r e s 
Conditional awards of performance shares were granted to Executive Directors on 19 June 2008 under the LTIP, subsequent to the Plan’s approval 
at the Company’s AGM that year, as shown below. 

e x e c U t i v e  d i r e c to r s’  i N t e r e s t s  i N  p e r F o r M a N c e  s h a r e s
        Number of Number of 
      Earliest Share price shares as at shares as at 
     Date of  vesting at date 31 December 1 January 
     award date of grant 2010 2010

Anthony Buckingham     19 June 2008 18 June 2011 345p 2,347,826 2,347,826

Paul Atherton     19 June 2008 18 June 2011 345p 1,159,420 1,159,420

r e p o r t  o F  t h e  r e M U N e r at i o N  c o M M i t t e e  c o N t i N U e d
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The table below sets out the direct and indirect interests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company as at 18 April 2011:
         Percentage of 
        Number of voting share 
Director        Ordinary Shares1 capital

Michael Hibberd        125,000 0.04%

Anthony Buckingham2        84,540,340 29.4%

Paul Atherton        1,140,000 0.4%

Gregory Turnbull        350,070 0.12%

John McLeod        20,000 0.01%

General Sir Michael Wilkes        0 0%

Salim Macki        138,752 0.05%

1 Includes Exchangeable Shares.
2 Anthony Buckingham’s Ordinary Shares include the Ordinary Shares held by Albion as at the date of this document, a company owned and controlled by Anthony Buckingham.

There have been no changes in the interests of Directors in the share capital of the Company between the end of the financial year and  
18 April 2011.

d i r e c to r s’  i N t e r e s t s  i N  s h a r e  o p t i o N s  h e l d  U N d e r  t h e  r e p l ac e M e N t  s c h e M e
as at 31 deceMber 2010 
   At 1 January  Options At 31 December    
Director  At date of grant 2010 exercised 2010 Exercise prices Vesting periods Expiry date

Michael Hibberd  150,000 150,000 – 150,000 £0.81 23 Jun 06–23 Jun 08 23 Jun 11
  750,000 750,000 – 750,000 £1.43 14 Dec 06–14 Dec 08 14 Dec 11
  250,000 250,000 – 250,000 £2.45 21 Dec 07–21 Dec 09 21 Dec 12

Anthony Buckingham  500,000 500,000 – 500,000 £0.48 30 May 05–30 May 07 30 May 101

  9,129,510 9,129,510 – 9,129,510 £1.43 14 Dec 06–14 Dec 08 14 Dec 11
  500,000 500,000 – 500,000 £2.45 21 Dec 07–21 Dec 09 21 Dec 12

Paul Atherton  1,250,000 1,250,000 – 1,250,000 £0.48 20 May 05–20 May 07 20 May 101

  1,125,000 1,125,000 – 1,125,000 £1.43 14 Dec 06–14 Dec 08 14 Dec 11
  500,000 500,000 – 500,000 £2.45 21 Dec 07–21 Dec 09 21 Dec 12

Gregory Turnbull  150,000 150,000 – 150,000 £0.48 20 May 05–20 May 07 20 May 101

  300,000 300,000 – 300,000 £1.43 14 Dec 06–14 Dec 08 14 Dec 11
  150,000 150,000 – 150,000 £2.45 21 Dec 07–21 Dec 09 21 Dec 12

John McLeod  300,000 250,000 – 250,000 £1.43 14 Dec 06–14 Dec 08 14 Dec 11
  150,000 150,000 – 150,000 £2.45 21 Dec 07–21 Dec 09 21 Dec 12

1  The Directors were in Close period throughout 2010 with the result that the term of options which expired during 2010 has been extended until the Close period is lifted.

Notes:
On exercise of each option, the holder is entitled to receive the 100 pence per share dividend paid in August 2010. 
The final exercise prices were converted into GB pounds sterling on the Company’s reorganisation and listing on the Main Market of the LSE using the exchange rate in effect on that date. 

No options were granted, exercised or lapsed during the year. 
  
The closing share price on 31 December 2010 was £4.49. During the year the highest closing share price was £5.81 per share and the lowest was 
£2.97 per share.

This report was approved by the Board on 18 April 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

J o h N  M c l eo d
c h a i r M a N  o F  t h e  r eM U N er at i o N  co M M i t t ee
18  a pr i l  2 011
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s h a r e  c a p i ta l ,  i N F o r M at i o N  F o r  s h a r e h o l d e r s  a N d 
i N v e s t o r  r e l at i o N s

a r t i c l e s  o F  a s s o c i at i o N
The Articles govern, amongst other things, the rights and obligations 
relating to the Company’s shares, powers of the Directors, proceedings 
at general meetings, and the appointment and resignation of the 
Directors. The Articles may only be amended by a special resolution of 
the Company’s shareholders.

s h a r e  c a p i ta l
capital strUctUre
The Company has two classes of shares, namely the Ordinary Shares 
and the special voting share of HOC (the “Special Voting Share”). 
HOC, the Company’s indirect subsidiary, has Exchangeable Shares 
outstanding that are convertible into Ordinary Shares of the Company. 

The Ordinary Shares and the Special Voting Share carry no right to 
fixed income. The Ordinary Shares have a right to one vote for every 
share at general meetings. The holders of Exchangeable Shares have 
rights through the Special Voting Share held by the trustee of the 
Voting and Exchange Trust to one vote at general meetings for every 
Exchangeable Share on the same basis as if they had exchanged them 
for Ordinary Shares. For clarity, the Voting and Exchange Trust is a 
Canadian Trust that holds the Special Voting Share for the benefit of 
the registered holders of the Exchangeable Shares pursuant to the terms 
of a Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement dated 27 February 2008 as 
amended 24 April 2008.

Subject to applicable statutes, shares in the Company may be issued 
with such rights or restrictions as the Company may by Special 
Resolution determine. Unissued shares are at the disposal of the Board.

The issued share capital of the Company and total voting rights of the 
Company as at 18 April 2011 are as follows:

284,913,430 Ordinary Shares of the Company are issued and  >
outstanding, which constitutes 99% of the total voting rights of the  
Company; and
2,953,508 Exchangeable Shares of HOC each carrying one voting  >
right in the Company, are issued and outstanding, which constitutes 
1% of the total voting rights of the Company.

votiNg
Details of how to vote and deadlines for exercising voting rights are 
set out in the Notice of AGM. Every member and every duly appointed 
proxy present at a general meeting has, upon a show of hands, one 
vote. If voting at a general meeting is carried out by poll, every member 
present in person or by proxy has a vote for each share held.

tr aNsFers
Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer certificated shares by 
an instrument of transfer in writing in any usual form or in any other 
form acceptable to the Directors. Directors may refuse to register any 
transfer of certificated shares which are not fully paid or where the 
register of transfer is not in the acceptable form.

p U r c h a s e  o F  o w N  s h a r e s
At the AGM held on 17 June 2010, a Special Resolution was passed 
by shareholders authorising the Company to make market purchases 
of its own shares. Any shares which have been so purchased may be 
held as treasury shares or cancelled immediately upon completion of 
the purchase. Heritage will consider using this authority, regulations 

permitting, but the Directors have flexibility to make market purchases 
should the appropriate circumstances arise and the Directors believe it 
is in the best interests of shareholders generally.

The Company did not purchase any of its own shares during 2010 or in 
2011 up to 18 April 2011, being the date of this report.

c h a N g e  o F  c o N t r o l  ag r e e M e N t s
The Company confirms that there are no significant agreements  
to which it is party that would take effect, alter or terminate  
upon a change of control following a takeover bid except those 
disclosed below:

the Executive Directors’ service contracts contain certain   >
provisions in relation to change of control as disclosed in the 
Remuneration Report;
the LTIP rules contain a provision whereby in the event of a  >
change of control all awards will vest in their entirety subject to the 
achievement or otherwise of the performance conditions; and
on 16 February 2007, HOC issued 1,650 $100,000 convertible  >
bonds at par to raise $165,000,000 by way of a private placement. 
Issue costs amounted to $6,979,268 resulting in net proceeds of 
$158,020,732. The bonds at par have a maturity of five years and 
one day and an annual coupon of 8.00%. The Bondholders had 
the right to convert the bonds into Ordinary Shares at a price of 
$4.70 per share. As at 18 April 2011, $37,900,000 of bonds have 
converted, leaving 1,271 $100,000 convertible bonds outstanding. 
Bondholders have a put option requiring the Company to redeem 
the bonds at par, plus accrued interest, in the event of a change of 
control of the Company, together with an additional cash payment 
of up to $19,700 on each $100,000 bond. The amount of additional 
payment depends upon the date of redemption and market value  
of the Company’s Ordinary Shares at the date of any change of 
control event.

i N v e s to r  r e l at i o N s
The Chairman, with input from the Senior Independent Director, is 
responsible for ensuring effective communication of shareholders’ 
views to the Board as a whole and will update the rest of the Board 
accordingly. Board Members are expected to use their best endeavours 
to attend meetings with a broad range of shareholders or otherwise 
keep in touch with shareholder opinion and discuss strategy and 
governance issues with them as time progresses. In addition, the 
Company employs an investor relations specialist and an investor 
relations programme is in place for the Company to meet major 
shareholders and analysts.

General Sir Michael Wilkes, as the Senior Independent Director, has 
the chief responsibility of maintaining sufficient contact with major 
shareholders to help develop a balanced understanding of their issues 
and concerns. In this role General Sir Michael Wilkes is available to 
shareholders who have concerns that have not been, or cannot be 
resolved through discussion with the Chairman, CEO or CFO or 
where such contact is inappropriate.

The Board is aware of reporting responsibilities and, where necessary, 
takes advice to ensure that material information is released on a timely 
basis. It is the Company’s policy not to comment on market rumours or 
press speculation.
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Throughout 2010, Executive Directors and senior management met 
with institutional investors in London and across the UK as well as other 
European and North American cities. These roadshows, combined 
with the attendance of various Directors and/or senior management at 
several conferences, provided for comprehensive and engaging dialogue 
with shareholders. In December 2010, an investor day was held in Erbil, 
Kurdistan, where attendees were provided with details on the Company’s 
operations and strategy and a presentation made to investors by senior 
management. The accompanying information was also posted on the 
Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.

The Company engages with and considers the views of investor voting 
advisory services such as that provided by the Institutional Voting 
Information Service and RREV Proxy Advisory Services. 

The Group issues its results and other news releases promptly and 
publishes them on the Company’s website at www.heritageoilplc.com. 
Other corporate information, including the Annual Report, any circulars 
issued during the year and other financial presentations are also available 
on the website. Shareholders and other interested parties can subscribe 
to receive news updates by email by registering online on the website.

s h a r e h o l d e r  a N a ly s i s
Analysis of the Company’s shareholder base, shown on the following 
two graphs, indicates that there has been a small change in the profile 
of those holding shares in Heritage in 2010. There has been a decrease 
in retail and hedge fund holdings offset by an increase in those 
classified as other. 

M a J o r  s h a r e h o l d e r s
As at 18 April 2011, the Company had been notified in accordance with 
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, of the following interests in 
voting rights in its issued share capital:
    
  Ordinary 
Name  Shares held % held1

Albion2  84,540,340 29.4

Capital Research and Management Company 31,528,707 10.95

Lansdowne Partners Limited  28,498,394 9.9

1  Includes voting rights attaching to the Special Voting Share as well as the  
Ordinary Shares.

2  Number of Ordinary Shares held by both Albion and Anthony Buckingham.

Albion and Anthony Buckingham entered into a Relationship 
Agreement as part of the listing on the Main Market of the LSE. The 
purpose of the Relationship Agreement is to ensure that transactions 
and relationships between the Group, Albion and Anthony 
Buckingham are at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms.

r e g i s t r a r
The Company’s share registrar is Computershare Investor Services 
(Channel Islands) Limited of Queensway House, Hilgrove Street,  
St Helier, JE1 1ES, Jersey, Channel Islands.

a N N Ua l  g e N e r a l  M e e t i N g
The 2011 AGM will be held at 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, JE4 8PX, 
Jersey, Channel Islands on 20 June 2011. Formal notice of the AGM 
including details of special business will be set out in the Notice 
of AGM and dispatched to shareholders at least 20 working days 
before the meeting. The Notice of AGM will also be available on the 
Company’s website at www.heritageoilplc.com.

The AGM gives shareholders an opportunity to hear about business 
developments and ask questions of the Directors. Shareholders are 
encouraged to write in prior to the meeting with any questions to the 
Company’s registered office in Jersey. For those shareholders not able 
to attend the meeting, any presentation given at the meeting together 
with results of voting will be available on the Company’s website. All 
of the Directors, including the Chairmen of the Board Committees are 
expected to attend the AGM and be available to answer questions. 

December 2009

December 2010

1 Management 30.0%
2 Multiple 29.5%
3 Hedge Fund 12.8%
4 Growth 10.3%
5 Retail 9.0%
6 Index 3.6%
7 Other 3.9%
8 Value 0.9%

1 Management 30.0%
2 Multiple 34.9%
3 Hedge Fund 11.7%
4 Growth 6.4%
5 Retail 6.0%
6 Index 3.2%
7 Other 7.3%
8 Value 0.5%

Source: J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. Other consists of 
arbitrage, corporate, emerging markets, trading positions 
and custody.

Source: J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd. Other consists of 
arbitrage, corporate, emerging markets, trading positions 
and custody.
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c o r p o r at e  g o v e r N a N c e 
g l o s s a r y

$  US dollars unless otherwise stated
ag M  Annual General Meeting
a l b i o N  Albion Energy Limited
a p i  a specific gravity scale developed by the American Petroleum Institute for measuring the relative  
 density of various petroleum liquids, expressed in degrees
a r t i c l e s  Articles of Association of the Company 
b b l / b b l s  barrel/barrels
b b l s / d  o r  b o p d  barrels per day or barrels of oil per day
b c F  billion cubic feet
b o e  barrels of oil equivalent1

b o e / d  o r  b o e p d  barrels of oil equivalent per day
c o M b i N e d  c o d e  Combined Code of Corporate Governance published in 2008
c o M pa N y  Heritage Oil Plc
c s r  Corporate Social Responsibility
dav i e s  r e p o r t  report issued in February 2011 concerning the representation of women on company boards
d r c  the Democratic Republic of Congo
dt r  Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules
e N i  Eni International B.V.
e U  European Union 
F r c  Financial Reporting Council
g r o U p,  h e r i tag e  the Company and all of its subsidiaries
h o c  o r  c o r p o r at i o N   Heritage Oil Corporation, incorporated in Canada and a wholly owned subsidiary  

of the Company
i F r s  International Financial Reporting Standards
J e r s e y  c o M pa N i e s  l aw  Companies (Jersey) Law 1991
k p i  Key Performance Indicators
k U r d i s ta N  Kurdistan Region of Iraq
l s e  London Stock Exchange
lt i F r  Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate per 10,000 hours worked
lt i p  Long Term Incentive Plan
M  metres
M 3 cubic metres
M b b l s  thousand barrels
M M b b l s  million barrels
M b o e  thousands of barrels of oil equivalent
M M b o e  millions of barrels of oil equivalent
M c F  thousand cubic feet
M c F/ d  thousand cubic feet per day
M M b t U  million british thermal units
M M c F  million cubic feet
M M c F/ d  million cubic feet per day
M M s t b  million stock tank barrels
N /a  not applicable

1  boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf: 1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily  
applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.
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o r i g i N a l  p l a N  HOC plan
p e t r o l e U M   any mineral, oil or relative hydrocarbon (including condensate and natural gas liquids) and 

natural gas existing in its natural condition in strata (but not including coal or bituminous shale 
or other stratified deposits from which oil can be extracted by destructive distillation)

p s a  o r  p s c  production sharing agreement or production sharing contract
r e g U l at i o N s  UK Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008
r e l at i o N s h i p  ag r e e M e N t   agreement between Albion, Anthony Buckingham and the Company entered into on  
 28 March 2008
r e p l ac e M e N t  s c h e M e  The Heritage Oil Limited 2008 Replacement Share Option Scheme
s pa  Sale and Purchase Agreement
s p e c i a l  v ot i N g  s h a r e  Special Voting Share of HOC
t s r  Total Shareholder Return 
t s x  Toronto Stock Exchange 
t U r N b U l l  g U i da N c e   FRC’s guidance on internal controls 
t U l lo w  Tullow Uganda Limited
U g a N da N  a s s e t s  interests in Blocks 1 and 3A, Uganda 
U k  b r i b e r y  ac t  act which will be introduced in July 2011 
U k  s t e wa r d s h i p  c o d e  code introduced by the FRC in July 2010 which aims to enhance the quality of engagement   
 between institutional investors and companies.
2 0 10  c o d e  2010 UK Corporate Governance Code
2 0 11  lt i p  proposed 2011 long-term incentive plan

c o N v e r s i o N  ta b l e 
The following table sets forth standard conversions from Standard Imperial Units to the International System of Units (or metric units). 

To convert from        To Multiply by

boe        mcf 6
mcf        cubic metres 28.174
cubic metres        cubic feet 35.494
bbls        cubic metres 0.159
cubic metres        bbls oil 6.290
feet        metres 0.305
metres        feet 3.281
miles        kilometres 1.609
kilometres        miles 0.621
acres        hectares 0.405



Corporate Governance 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

3 2

N o t e s



Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration and production company with a 
Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange 
(“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). The Company is a 
member of the FTSE 250 Index. The Company has 
Exchangeable Shares listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) and the LSE 
(symbol HOX). The Company has exploration assets 
in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, 
Tanzania, Mali and the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”) and a producing asset in Russia.

This Corporate Governance Report is a report from 
the Board of Directors on its role, function and 
operation. It complies with the requirements of the 
UK Listing Authority’s Listing and Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules and aims to achieve best practice 
reporting on corporate governance and provide 
information of use to shareholders.
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The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.

Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.
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in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, 
Tanzania, Mali and the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”) and a producing asset in Russia.

This Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Report 
details the approach made by Heritage to all aspects 
of our CSR policies, systems and performance. Our 
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developing a reputation as a preferred partner. 
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2010 Highlights

$945,991 spent on CSR related initiatives >
Our main operations continue to employ and train a large number of  >
local people
Over 1 million man hours were worked with zero Lost Time Incidents  >
(“LTIs”)
Community projects were implemented through health and social  >
programme investments in Tanzania, Russia, Kurdistan, Uganda 
and Pakistan
Zero LTIs, security issues and environmental issues across all operations >
Zero whistle-blowing cases or breaches in business conduct principles >
Conducted a proactive dissemination exercise to obtain feedback   >
on our CSR approach
Engaged a third party to enhance our policies, stakeholder engagement  >
and reporting of CSR issues
Reviewed changes to the 2008 Combined Code (the “Combined Code”)  >
and embarked on early compliance with changes
Set up Board level CSR Committee >

Environmental incidents, fines or sanctions, 
all operations

Number of local people employed, %

Breaches in business conduct policies

0 

0 

LTIs, all operations

formed Board level CSR Committee;•	
reviewed changes in the UK Corporate •	
Governance Code 2010 (the “2010 Code”);
began preparations for the UK Bribery Act •	
legislation;
reviewed and amended Board Charter; and•	
reviewed whistle-blowing policy•	

Health and social programme investments, $’000 

0

$946

Operational

Achievements environment and sustainability

employees

business conduct

health and safety

corporate governance

community and human rights

All dollars are US dollars unless otherwise stated.
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Our commitment to CSR underlies our 
business strategy and we continually strive 
to operate to the highest international social, 
environmental and safety standards. It is of 
paramount importance to Heritage that we 
maintain a positive influence in the areas in 
which we operate and that our employees 
and contractors feel able to achieve their full 
potential in a safe environment.

In April 2010, we established our Board 
level CSR Committee comprising myself, as 
Chairman of the Committee, our Chairman, 
Michael Hibberd, and our Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”), Tony Buckingham. The 
Committee is tasked with developing, 
implementing and overseeing our CSR 
strategy systems and performance, in line  
with our overall business aims and objectives. 
The Terms of Reference for this Committee  
can be found on our website  
www.heritageoilplc.com.

The energy sector was shaken in 2010 by 
the unfortunate situation in the Gulf of 
Mexico where a low frequency event had a 
catastrophic impact. Our track record for 
health and safety remains strong and we 
continually review our systems to ensure 
operations are undertaken to the highest 
standards. The vision and aims of the 
Company are implemented through our 
employees and our contractors and as such 
they are a key element of our operations. 
We operated for over one million man hours 
across the business with no LTIs indicating 
that our recruitment and training schemes are 
working well, attracting the right people and 
giving them the skills needed to operate at the 
highest level. We continue to develop a culture 
of operational excellence and improvement 
across all of our activities. I am pleased to 
report that we had no environmental spills or 
incidents nor incurred any fines or warnings 
relating to our environmental management 
during 2010.

We have continued with a variety of longer-
term sustainable initiatives across our 
operations in 2010 which included:

in Kurdistan we focused on community  >
initiatives supporting the local education 
system, assisting development of  
local infrastructure and funded much 
needed healthcare for a pupil within  
our licence area;
in Tanzania our activities focused on  >
supporting local health services with 
a donation of $7,500 to the Baobab 
Maternity Hospital in Dar es Salaam 
to contribute to the construction, 
management and service delivery  
of the hospital; 
in Pakistan, which experienced  >
unprecedented floods, Heritage 
immediately committed $72,000 to a 
disaster relief fund and immediate relief to 
those most affected in our Zamzama North 
licence area; and 
in Russia we have continued to invest in  >
annual health and social programmes in 
the vicinity of our licence area.

We completed the sale of our interests in 
Blocks 1 and 3A (the “Ugandan Assets”) in 
July 2010 and since that time we continued 
with our programmes in the region with the 
completion of the water gravity system in 
Hoima, providing over 6,000 villagers across 
five villages with clean water. In addition we 
continued funding of the Carl Nedft school 
which we established in the Buhuka region. 

Our CSR Policy Framework is set out on 
pages 6 to 7 and these set out the standards 
by which we operate within our business 
model to generate long-term value. Our policy 
framework covers six key areas of impact and 
opportunity. We are committed to integrating 
these across our business operations. In 2010 
we set ourselves targets across these areas 
and I am pleased to report we achieved all set 
targets. Our targets for this year are set out on 
pages 8 to 9 of this CSR Report.

The CSR Committee Chairman’s Statement 
Heritage aims to create outstanding value for 
shareholders and to create lasting legacies for 
our local communities.

pau l  at h er to n
c h a i r m a n ,  
c S r  co m m i t t ee
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Training spend in 2010

$212,500
2011 will continue to provide opportunities 
and challenges which we will continue 
to address. 

The UK Bribery Act will become law at the 
beginning of July 2011. We are currently 
obtaining legal advice concerning how 
the legislation will impact on Heritage. In 
preparation for this I have been charged with 
the responsibility of overseeing how this 
will impact on our activities. Guidance from 
the government has recently been published 
with the overriding principle that companies 
should adopt a risk-based approach to the 
application of the UK Bribery Act. 

We will be reviewing the guidance published 
in March 2011 by the UK Ministry of Justice 
to conduct a review of our systems and 
policies and enhancing these if required.  
We will also consider the conduct of  
specific processes that are indicated with  
the guidance.  

This is our third CSR Report and has been 
prepared based on our operating principles 
and with the help of stakeholder feedback. In 
this report you will find an overview of key 
areas of risk and opportunity, specific to the 
CSR aspects of our activities:

environment and sustainability; >
health and safety; >
employees; >
community and human rights; >
business conduct; and  >
corporate governance.  >

Our track record for health and safety remains  
strong and we are continually reviewing our  
systems to ensure operations are undertaken  
to the highest standards.

This year we have strived to improve 
transparency through increasing our 
disclosure levels in the Global Reporting 
Initiative (“GRI”) tables which appear at 
the back of this report and additionally by 
addressing questions regarding our operations 
in “questions and answers” that appear 
throughout this report. We continue to 
welcome feedback from, and dialogue with, 
interested parties concerning all aspects of 
this report. Contact details are noted at the 
back of this report and can also be found on 
our website www.heritageoilplc.com.

I would like to thank our Directors, employees 
and contractors for the continued excellent 
performance of our Company in all aspects 
of our CSR policy and for their continued 
commitment and dedication to respecting our 
vision and legacy in the many areas in which 
we operate.

pau l  at h er to n
c h a i r m a n ,  
c S r  co m m i t t ee
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We have also detailed our future aims, targets 
and objectives.

This report relates to the period 1 January 
2010 to 31 December 2010 and should be read 
in conjunction with the entire Heritage Oil 
Annual Report and Accounts for 2010,  
in particular the Corporate Governance 
Report, and the Company website 
www.heritageoilplc.com.

Our principal activities during 2010 were 
in Kurdistan and Russia. We were largely 
operationally inactive in Uganda during the 
2010 period following the announcement of 
the sale of our entire interests at the end of 
2009 which completed in July 2010. As such,  
a majority of the information in this CSR 
Report relates to our operations in Kurdistan 
and Russia.

M at e r i a l i t y  a n d 
c o M p l e t e n e s s
We have applied the GRI G3 Guidelines 
(the “G3 Guidelines”) and those produced 
by the International Petroleum Industry 
Environmental Conservation Association 
(“IPIECA”) to shape our reporting. The GRI 
table on pages 24 to 33 contains information 
that is set out in the G3 Guidelines. We 
also determine materiality by assessing the 
significance and relevance of the information 
by considering:

Heritage’s policy position on the issue;  >
its impact on shareholder value in the  >
short, medium and long-term; 
the level of stakeholder interest in the  >
matter (assessed by dialogue with 
contractors, employees, suppliers, 
shareholders, research organisations, Non-
Governmental Organisations (“NGOs”), 
governments and advisers); and 
the degree of interest in the issue  >
emanating from public arenas that is 
reflected through reporting in the media.

The CSR Committee will continue to review 
the scope of this information and we intend 
to refine our reporting process over time 
taking into account the issues noted above and 
changes in our business activities.

e x t e r n a l  a s s u r a n c e
Information within this report has not been 
externally verified as we do not believe this 
would be of material benefit at this time. 
Every effort has been made to ensure that 
information contained in this report is 
accurate. The CSR Committee continues to 
review this matter and to assess whether any 
change is required.

About this Report In this report we disclose 
our policies, document systems that we have 
established and we assess our performance 
applying key performance indicators that are 
pertinent to our industry and sector.

c s r  i n  ac t i o n

CSR underpins every part of our 
business from the first stages of 
planning and being awarded a licence 
through to exploration, development 
and production from a field.

It encompasses our management of 
relationships with shareholders, stakeholders, 
employees, contractors and communities 
in areas where we work, together with our 
impact on society and the environment.

We undertake CSR related initiatives across 
our asset portfolio where we are actively 
working. Throughout the Annual Review are 
examples of our CSR in action.
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Our CSR Framework We recognise specific 
responsibilities in each of six core areas of risk  
and opportunity identified, specific to the CSR 
aspects of our activities. We consider adherence  
to CSR values to be a key factor in securing  
our long-term success.

Q&A
We receive many questions concerning our 
activities and the impact they have on the six 
core areas highlighted above. Throughout  
this report we have highlighted a few with  
our responses. 

Will the forthcoming UK Bribery Act present 
the Company with significant issues?
The Company is taking legal advice to 
ensure that it fully understands its position 
concerning the UK Bribery Act. We believe 
that our management systems in this area  
are robust. We will be reviewing them  
to ensure that they conform to the spirit  
and requirements of the legislation prior  
to it becoming UK law at the beginning  
of July 2011.

Do you have plans for new CSR initiatives  
in 2011?
The Company is embarking on a number of 
new activities for 2011. We shall be looking 
to apply the CSR related community project 
experience we have developed, particularly 

o u r  v is i o n

We aim to be a responsible and 
transparent business in all the areas 
in which we operate. 

We aim to create lasting legacies for 
our local communities whilst also 
creating value for shareholders. 

We strive to operate to the highest 
international social, environmental 
and safety standards.

o u r  a r e a s  o f  i M pac t  a n d  o pp o r t u n i t y

0 1

0 3

0 5

0 2

0 4

0 6

en v iro nMen t a nd 
sus ta in a bil it y

eMploy ee s

busine ss 
co nd u c t

he a lt h a nd 
s a fe t y

co M M u ni t y  a nd 
h u M a n r igh ts

co rp o r at e 
gov ern a n ce

Set policies
Devise and 
maintain 
systems

Measure 
and monitor 
performance

Communicate 
and report to 
stakeholders

Apply 
stakeholder 

feedback

in Uganda and Kurdistan, to our activities in 
new territories.

Do the Company’s shareholders participate  
in the development of the Company’s  
CSR approach?
Heritage’s investor communications and 
reporting includes information that reflects 
our approach to CSR where it is material to 
short, medium and long-term shareholder 
value. Naturally our investors discuss this 
with us where it is of interest to them and 
comment on the material we have produced. 
We apply this information to enhance our 
CSR approach and develop our disclosure 
within our reporting and other investor 
communications over time. 

How do I supply feedback to the Company’s 
CSR approach?
We always welcome feedback from our 
stakeholders concerning our approach to this 
aspect of our activities. This can be supplied 
by using the contact details at the end of this 
report or the contact information on our 
website www.heritageoilplc.com.
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CSR Policy Framework Our policy framework is 
integrated in our business model and sets out our 
essential core values which we believe make us a good 
corporate citizen. This framework defines how we 
operate across all levels of the business and sets a high 
standard to measure ourselves.

Our approach to:
e M p loy e e  M at t e r s 

eMployees
Our ability to create sustainable shareholder 
value is linked to our ability to recruit, 
motivate and retain a high calibre of staff. 
Heritage strives to ensure that relationships 
between our employees are cohesive, safe and 
effective. Our Group and all our employees 
respect different cultures, traditions and 
employment practices across our business 
areas. We share common goals, in particular 
the elimination of workplace injuries, and 
are committed to good corporate values and 
responsible behaviour. We strive to recognise 
achievement and to create opportunities for 
individuals at all levels of our businesses. 
In dealing with our employees we act 
in compliance with national regulatory 
requirements and our obligations under 
relevant national and international laws.

ilo decl ar ation on 
fundaMental principles and 
rights at Work
Heritage supports the four fundamental 
principles contained within the International 
Labour Organisation (“ILO”) Declaration. In 
accordance with local legislation and practice, 
we respect freedom of association, the right 
to collective bargaining, employment that is 
freely chosen with no use of forced or child 
labour and we do not discriminate on the 
basis of gender, colour, ethnicity, culture, 
religion, sexual orientation or disability.

equal opportunit y
Heritage values all employees for their 
contribution to our business. We are 
committed to diversity and opportunities 
for advancement and these factors are not 
influenced by considerations other than 
performance and aptitude. Employees are 
provided with the opportunity to develop their 
potential and, where appropriate, to develop 
their careers further within our Group.

occupational health
We strive to protect the physical health of all 
of our employees and contractors whilst in the 
workplace. In particular, we aim to meet the 
challenges presented to our employees and  
the wider communities in which they live  
and operate.

Our approach to:
c o M M u n i t y  a n d  h u M a n 
r i g h t s  M at t e r s

coMMunities
We always strive to ensure that our 
relationships with neighbours and local 
communities are conducted sensitively and 
with mutual respect. These relationships 
recognise that active and enduring 
partnerships are a central and fundamental 
element of our business. We aim to promote 
the sharing of economic benefit created by 
our activities through the conduct of our 
community relationships.

universal decl ar ation of 
huMan rights 
We support human rights, consistent with the 
stipulations contained within the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights and remain 
committed to upholding these principles. We 
endeavour to ensure that these commitments 
extend to all of our supply chains and we 
work with our partners and contractors to 
ensure that they are part of our contractual 
requirements.

l and access
We ensure that we receive the widest possible 
support for our proposals throughout the 
life cycle of our activities. We do this by 
working in partnership with our stakeholders 
to optimally and sensitively co-ordinate 
relevant economic, technical and sustainable 
development factors in an integrated process.

Our approach to:
b u s i n e s s  c o n d u c t  M at t e r s

political involveMent
Heritage does not, directly or indirectly, 
participate in party politics. Heritage does not 
provide financial support to political parties  
or politicians.

bribery and corruption
Heritage is resolutely opposed to bribery and 
corruption in whatever forms they may take. 
Gifts or entertainment may only be offered to 
a third party if they are consistent with usual 
business practice in the relevant territory, are 
modest in value and cannot be interpreted  
as a form of inducement.

Our approach to:
e n v i r o n M e n ta l  a n d 
s u s ta i n a b i l i t y  M at t e r s

environMental
We aim to make a positive contribution to 
the protection of the environment in which 
we operate and to minimise any adverse 
effects of our operations. Wherever possible 
we will prevent, or otherwise minimise, 
mitigate and remediate, harmful effects of 
our operations on the environment. We will 
promote, encourage and prioritise reuse and 
recycling methods throughout all of our 
operations. We strive, particularly through 
our use of innovative technologies, to meet 
the challenges presented to our Company by 
climate change.

sustainable business
We strive to contribute positively to global 
sustainability through our operations, the 
development of our fields, our adoption of 
new technologies and the conduct of our 
relationships with all stakeholders.

Our approach to:
h e a lt h  a n d  s a f e t y  M at t e r s

Health and safety is a natural priority and 
a core element of all of our activities. All 
energy companies face a wide range of health 
and safety matters ranging from industrial 
accidents to occupational illnesses. Our 
goal is simply zero injuries and fatalities 
across all areas of our operations. We strive 
to ensure that important factors, such as 
an understanding of cultural differences 
in host countries and the use of external 
contractors, are addressed in the development 
of our systems and procedures. We strive to 
construct, maintain and develop world-class 
safety systems across all of our operations.
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It is Heritage’s policy that revenues and 
purchases and services from suppliers are 
made solely on the basis of price, quality, 
performance, value and for its benefit. Sales, 
purchases or award of contracts should never 
be made as the result of giving or receiving 
inducements in the form of gifts, money or 
entertainment from third parties or favours 
in any other form.

Employees should not accept gifts, money or 
entertainment from third party organisations 
or individuals, where these might reasonably 
be considered likely to influence business 
transactions. Gifts, other than trivial ones 
of low value, are not accepted. In a culture 
where such an action might cause offence, the 
gift must be declared to the Company and, if 
practical, donated to an appropriate charity.

The UK Ministry of Justice published 
guidance on the UK Bribery Act at the end 
of March 2011. The Act will become law at 
the beginning of July. Heritage is currently 
obtaining legal advice concerning how the 
legislation will impact on the Group. Heritage 
has charged Paul Atherton, Chief Financial 
Officer (“CFO”), with the responsibility to 
oversee how this law will impact Heritage. 
This will include overseeing:

a review of the government guidance;  >
the conduct of specific processes which are  >
indicated within the guidance; 
a review of Heritage’s current policies  >
and systems with respect to bribery, code 
of conduct, whistle-blowing and other 
relevant policies for both employees and 
contractors; and 
the development and enhancement of these  >
policies and systems, if required.

treatMent of custoMers
We regard mutual trust and confidence 
between our companies, contractors and 
customers as very important. We require 
employees to deliver high levels of service 
consistently, surpassing expectations and 
meeting their changing requirements.

accounting and records
Heritage maintains accounting documentation 
that identifies clearly the true nature of all 
business transactions, assets and liabilities, in 
line with relevant regulatory, accounting and 
legal requirements. No record or entry may be 
false, distorted, incomplete or suppressed.

All Group reporting must be accurate and 
complete and in compliance in all material 
respects with stated accounting policies and 
procedures. Employees must not materially 
misstate, or knowingly misrepresent, 
management information for personal gain or 
any other reason.

ex ternal reporting
Our businesses may be required to make 
statements or provide reports to regulatory 
bodies, government agencies or other 
government departments. Our businesses will 
take care to ensure that such statements or 
reports are correct, timely and not misleading. 
Senior management must be made aware of 
any sensitive disclosure before it is made. 

Heritage ensures that statements made to  
the media are correct and not misleading. 
Media enquiries are referred to our media 
experts and/or advisers and statements will 
only be made by designated spokespersons.
Heritage provides, through its Group website 
www.heritageoilplc.com, its Annual Report 
and Accounts and other statements, including 
this report, appropriate information to enable 
shareholders and stakeholders to assess its 
performance. Heritage always complies with 
applicable laws and regulations concerning 
disclosure of information about the Group.

rel ations With suppliers
We ensure that all of our suppliers are treated 
fairly and responsibly. All potential suppliers 
will have a reasonable opportunity to win 
business with us. We strive to pay our suppliers 
on time and in accordance with agreed terms of 
trade. Suppliers will conduct their activities in 
accordance with our own policies.

coMpetition
We always aim to compete vigorously with  
our competitors, but in a fair and responsible 
way. We strive to ensure that our success is 
built upon excellence. When in contact with 
our competitors, employees will be required  
to avoid disclosing confidential information. 
We will not make improper attempts to 
acquire competitor trade secrets or other 
confidential information. Employees will not 
undertake any arrangements or practices that 
may conflict with laws applicable to conduct 
of our business.

Our approach to:
c o r p o r at e  g o v e r n a n c e 
M at t e r s

coMpliance With the l aW and 
relevant regul ations
Heritage is committed to protecting the 
interests of its shareholders and other 
stakeholders through compliance with 
relevant legal and regulatory environments 
and similarly through effective management 
of business risks. We comply fully with all 
relevant national and international laws and 
act in accordance with local guidelines and 
regulations, including those that are industry 
specific and govern our operations.

It is the responsibility of senior personnel to 
ensure, by taking legal or other advice where 
appropriate, that they are aware of all local 
laws and regulations that may affect the area 
of the business in which they are engaged.



Corporate Social Responsibility 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

0 8

Targets and Achievements We aim to apply 
targets to focus our employees and enable 
our stakeholders to assess our performance. 
In the table below we show our achievements 
on our 2010 targets and detail further targets 
for 2011.

Environment and 
Sustainability

2010 progress

no spills, warnings or environmental  >
incidents; and
no fines or sanctions related to our  >
environmental management.

2011 targets

no spills or environmental incidents; >
no fines or sanctions related to our  >
environmental management; and
Environmental Impact Assessments  >
(“EIAs”) to be conducted for all major 
work programmes.

Health and Safety

2010 progress

no fatalities or LTIs; and >
no fines or sanctions related to our health  >
and safety management.

2011 targets

no fatalities or LTIs; >
no fines or sanctions related to our health  >
and safety management; and 
experience sharing with peer group. >

Employees

2010 progress

majority of employees to be drawn from  >
each country of operation.

2011 targets

majority of employees to be drawn from  >
each country of operation; and
contribute to training for staff. >

01 02 03

 2010 targets achieved  2010 targets achieved  2010 targets achieved
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Community and 
Human Rights

2010 progress

no human rights violations; and >
 no fines or sanctions related to our  >
community and human rights 
management and activities.

2011 targets

no human rights violations; >
 no fines or sanctions related to our  >
community and human rights 
management and activities; and
continue dialogue with specialist  >
organisations.

Business Conduct

2010 progress

no fines or sanctions related to poor   >
business conduct.

2011 targets

no fines or sanctions related to poor   >
business conduct; and
monitor developments and peer group   >
best practice.

Corporate Governance

2010 progress

report publicly the findings and decisions   >
of the CSR Committee.

2011 targets

report publicly the findings and decisions   >
of the CSR Committee;
review guidance for the UK Bribery Act   >
and make changes if required; 
review of final sector supplement for  >
GRI with a view to adoption if deemed 
appropriate; and
continued emphasis on Company   >
best practice.

04 05 06

 2010 targets achieved  2010 targets achieved  2010 targets achieved
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How does the Company address informational 
requests from NGOs and campaigning 
organisations?
The Company welcomes interest in its 
activities from all of our stakeholders. We 
see dialogue with NGOs and campaigning 
groups as a useful way of ensuring that they 

CSR spend in 2010

$0.9M

2 0 10  h I g h L I g h T S
once more we can report that we have had  >
no environmental incidents, such as spills, 
during the year;
we conducted EIAs for all major work  >
programmes in line with local regulations;
gas flared within Russia is within the limits  >
provided by the government; and
minimal gas was flared in Kurdistan  >
during well testing operations.

O U R  g OA L
We are committed to making a positive 
contribution to the protection of the 
environment in areas in which we operate  
and to minimising any adverse effects of  
our operations. We strive to contribute 
positively to global sustainability through  
our operations, the development of our fields, 
our adoption of new technologies and  
the conduct of our relationships with all  
of our stakeholders.

K E Y  c O N c E R N S
cLIMATE chANgE
Heritage’s operations can contribute both 
directly and indirectly to climate change. 
Because of the nature of exploration activities, 
Heritage often works in remote locations, 
without access to grid electricity, where we are 
reliant on generators to power our equipment.

To minimise our impact in these areas, we are 
focused on restricting and reducing flaring, 
switching diesel generators to gas where 
possible and using the highest standard, most 
energy efficient equipment available, which 
also has the effect of reducing our energy costs. 
Additionally, our camps and sites are planned 
to minimise their environmental footprints.

BIOdIVERSIT Y
We operate in varied terrains, with their own 
unique set of biodiversity considerations. The 
impact of wells and infrastructure can have an 
adverse impact on this biodiversity. 

Heritage is focused on developing and 
adhering to processes which minimise our 
impact on areas in which we operate. We 
identify and assess potential environmental 
impacts at the planning stage of our 
operations. We protect, as best we can, the 
local environment during operations and 
aim to restore it to the same standard that 
we found it in once activities are completed. 
This restoration activity is conducted in 
conjunction with the local authorities and the 
communities where we operate.

None of our active operations were in 
protected areas or areas of high biodiversity 
value during 2010.

Oil and gas operations have the potential to damage 
the environment but, if managed well, we can 
minimise any negative impacts of our activities.

Q&A
understand our approach to business and as 
an opportunity to enhance our systems and 
performance. We therefore strive to respond 
to all informational requests in a full and 
transparent way and to follow this up  
with dialogue either directly or through  
our CSR advisers.



h E A LT h  &  S A f E T Y



Corporate Social Responsibility 2010
h E R I T A g E  O I L  p L c

1 3

How does Heritage ensure that its contractors 
and sub-contractors adhere to its health and 
safety standards?
Our local managers are tasked with ensuring 
that all of our employees, contractors and sub-
contractors are fully aware of the Company’s 
policies and procedures in this important area. 

2 0 10  h I g h L I g h T S
no LTIs reported across our operations; >
over 1 million man hours worked with   >
zero LTIs; and
in Russia an operational safety system and  >
ecological safety system for hazardous sites 
has been installed.

O U R  g OA L
Our goal in this area is simply zero injuries 
and fatalities across all areas of our operations 
and to minimise and/or negate operational 
health issues.

R E S p O N S I B I L I T Y  TO  E M p LOY E E S
It is the Company’s responsibility to minimise 
our employees’ exposure to health and safety 
risks of any kind. In implementing health and 
safety systems, we balance the need to protect 
our workers with the knowledge that working 
practices and traditions vary by location 
and so we amend or tailor where necessary. 
All sites are covered by safety management 
systems with general managers responsible 
for overall safety measures. Our employees 
have the authority to intervene in a task if they 
believe it could lead to harm or is considered 
unsafe. We are very proud of our health and 
safety performance overall. 

c R I S I S  M A N Ag E M E N T
The Company appreciates that no 
organisation is immune to a crisis, which 
can happen at any time. Due to the potential 
consequences that these can have, the 
Company recognises the importance of 
preparations for such situations. Developing 
a comprehensive crisis management 
programme that captures the ongoing 
nature of crisis management is not a simple 
task. The process is varied and requires the 
integration of knowledge from such diverse 
areas as small group decision making, media 
relations, environmental scanning, risk 
assessment, crisis communication, crisis 
plan development, evaluation methods and 
reputation management. This, combined with 
the unpredictable nature of many crises, often 
presents major challenges to even the best 
resourced organisations.

Heritage continually reviews crisis 
management systems to ensure that  
the Group’s processes match its needs  
and requirements.

Health and safety is a priority and a core element of 
all of our activities. All energy companies face a wide 
range of health and safety challenges ranging from 
industrial accidents to occupational illnesses. 

LTIs, Russia
2010

0
LTIs, Kurdistan 
2010

0

Q&A
We regularly review our systems to ensure 
that they are commensurate with best practice 
taking into account local health and safety 
culture. This can vary widely and we therefore 
take an individual approach in each area.
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Hours spent training in Russia, 2010

642

How often does Heritage review its  
CSR policies?
The Company’s policies are reviewed regularly 
and monitored by our CSR advisers, CO3, to 
ensure that they are appropriate for our impacts 
and opportunities as the Company develops. 
This is also part of the role and responsibilities 
of our Board level CSR Committee.

2 0 10  h i g h l i g h t s
we continued to operate with a high  >
percentage of workers drawn from our 
areas of operation, using expatriates only 
when their particular skill sets were not 
available locally;
staff turnover has remained low at 3%; >
 local sourcing is also important to our  >
business practices and we aim to contract 
services to local firms whenever possible. 
Many of our transport and security needs 
have been fulfilled using local firms; and
on the job training and third party training  >
provided to all local personnel.

o u r  a p p r oac h
Heritage values all employees for their 
contribution to our business. Opportunities 
for advancement are equal and not influenced 
by considerations other than performance and 
aptitude. Employees are provided with the 
opportunity to develop their potential and, 
where appropriate, to further their careers 
within the Group.

Heritage’s success has been attributable in 
part to assembling the right team of people. 
Staff are motivated to develop within a flexible 
framework and are encouraged to provide 
feedback on their expectations.

Training of employees and contractors 
continued to receive high priority in 2010. 
We believe there is a strong business case for 
investing in development of our workforce  
as this can result in efficiency savings,  
reduce time lost through injury and assist  
in identifying opportunities for improving  
our business.

It is our responsibility to train all workers to 
provide better access to job opportunities in 
the long-term. We emphasise transferable 
skills and a broad range of learning, as well as 
the basic aim of developing a knowledgeable, 
productive and happy workforce.

o c c u pat i o n a l  h e a lt h  
a n d  s a f e t y  t r a i n i n g
$212,500 was spent on training and related 
courses in 2010. Training across our 
operations includes a focus on the following 
skill sets:

operational safety; >
ecological safety; >
fire safety; and >
health and safety. >

Our ability to create sustainable shareholder  
value is linked to our ability to recruit, motivate  
and retain high calibre staff. Heritage strives to  
ensure that relationships between our employees  
are cohesive, safe and effective.  

Q&A
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Amount committed in Pakistan

$72,000

Does Heritage work with external experts to 
develop its approach to CSR?
Heritage works with an experienced external 
CSR advisory service, CO3, to provide 
the Company with strategic guidance and 
expertise concerning its related policies, 
systems, performance, reporting and other 

2 0 10  h i g h l i g h t s
in Tanzania we donated $7,500 to the  >
Baobab Maternity Hospital;
in Pakistan we committed $72,000 to a  >
disaster relief fund and immediate relief to 
those most affected in our Zamzama North 
licence area;
in Kurdistan we continued to help with  >
repairing roads close to our operations and 
funded healthcare initiatives;
in Uganda we completed a water gravity  >
system in Hoima, providing over 6,000 
villagers across five villages with clean 
water; and
in Uganda we continued providing funding  >
for the local Carl Nedft school we helped 
build and develop.

o u r  g oa l
We aim to promote sharing of economic 
benefits created by our activities through the  
conduct of community relationships and we  
are firmly committed to upholding principles  
set out in the Universal Declaration of  
Human Rights.

o u r  a p p r oac h
A natural part of our new project development 
involves consultation with local communities 
as well as government authorities, to identify 
ways in which Heritage’s expertise can be best 
applied. Our licence to operate in any area 
is dependent on Heritage being viewed as a 
positive force by those most directly affected 
by our operations and therefore it is in the 
Company’s interest to consult its stakeholders 
and find ways to be a trusted and useful 
partner.

Companies operating in developing countries 
often face the challenge of supporting local 
communities without creating a dependency 
culture. We believe that by partnering 
with other organisations such as NGOs, 
governments (local and national) and other 
companies, we reduce the risk of creating this 
situation, encourage dialogue and manage 
expectations. It is our intention to improve 
conditions in the vicinity of our operations 
and we try to invest in sustainable projects 
where the local communities have a sense 
of ownership, thus increasing their long- 
term effects. However, in terms of having 
the greatest impact, we believe this is best 
achieved through helping countries realise 
their natural resource potential to create 
shared economic wealth for everyone.

In Uganda, Heritage ran two main projects; 
the water gravity system and the Carl Nedft 
school. Both of these projects were undertaken 
with the assistance of input from the local 
communities in order to provide stakeholders 
with the opportunity to guide the Company as 
to what would be most beneficial.

We ensure that relationships with our neighbours and 
local communities are conducted sensitively and with 
mutual respect. Enduring partnerships are a central 
and fundamental element of these relationships. 

Q&A
stakeholder communications. As part of 
our exploration projects we often work with 
internationally recognised experts to conduct 
activities such as EIAs.
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Breaches in business conduct, 2010

0

Does Heritage participate in oil and gas CSR 
initiatives and conduct knowledge sharing with 
its peer group to enhance its approach?
Heritage has close relationships with a number 
of its peer group companies. The Company 
actively seeks the opportunity to share 
knowledge and expertise both formally and 

2 0 10  h i g h l i g h t s
the Company did not have any material  >
breaches of its policies during 2010; 
over the year we have engaged with a  >
number of our stakeholders (including 
NGOs, certain investors and research 
companies). This has increased their 
understanding of our approach and we 
have been able to apply their feedback 
to further develop our systems and 
procedures, where necessary; and
we reviewed our whistle-blowing  >
procedures.

o u r  a p p r oac h
Heritage conducts its activities predominantly 
in certain developing countries. The 
Company’s business approach both within 
these territories and in the parts of the world 
where we may wish to conduct business 
in the future, is dependent upon how our 
business relationships are conducted. We are, 
in particular, resolutely opposed to bribery 
and corruption in whatever form they may 
take. Our policies also preclude financial 
support for political parties, require that 
relationships are conducted with mutual 
trust and confidence, and that suppliers and 
competitors are treated fairly. We strive to 
ensure that this fundamental aspect of our 
business extends to all of our relationships 
with our host governments and local 
authorities, suppliers, customers, business 
partners, employees, contractors and other 
key stakeholders.

M a i n t e n a n c e  a n d 
d e v e lo p M e n t  o f  o u r 
p o l i c i e s  a n d  p r o c e d u r e s
The responsibility for this aspect of our 
activities lies with the CSR Committee. It is 
tasked with the maintenance and development 
of our business conduct policies and 
procedures, monitoring our performance in 
this area and instigating changes to prevent 
breaches of Company policies. These were 
recently extended and developed with the 

approval of the CSR Committee and are 
documented at the front of this report.

W h i s t l e - b lo W i n g 
p r o c e d u r e s
The Company has whistle-blowing procedures 
and systems that have been in place for a 
number of years. These aim to ensure that 
employees and other parties connected 
with the Company have the opportunity to 
confidentially report breaches of business 
conduct policies. Details of these procedures 
are available to all of our employees at all of 
our offices. The Chairman or the CEO are 
to receive any reports and are responsible 
for their follow-up. The outcomes of these 
instances are reported to and monitored by 
either the Audit Committee or the Board.

The Audit Committee aims to discuss 
regularly the effectiveness of our whistle- 
blowing procedures, which have been 
strengthened recently, and will be reviewed 
again during the coming financial year to 
ensure that they are sufficient to maintain our 
Company’s policies.

u K  b r i b e r y  ac t
The UK Bribery Act will become law at the 
beginning of July 2011. Guidance from the 
government has recently been published. 
In preparation for this change, Heritage has 
charged Paul Atherton, CFO, to oversee 
how this law will impact Heritage. This will 
include overseeing:

a review of the government guidance; >
the conduct of specific processes which are  >
indicated within the guidance;
a review of Heritage’s current policies  >
and systems with respect to bribery, code 
of conduct, whistle-blowing and other 
relevant policies for both employees and 
contractors; and
the development and enhancement of these  >
policies, if required.

We uphold the highest standards of business 
conduct across all of our operations. We are 
resolutely opposed to bribery and corruption 
in whatever forms they may take and do not 
participate in, or finance, party politics. 

Q&A
informally in a number of areas. We believe 
this approach is particularly important to  
the CSR related aspects of our business  
(for instance health and safety matters).
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How does the Company envisage the role of the 
CSR Committee developing over time?
Heritage is developing its CSR reporting 
systems to enable the Committee to have an 
improved role in managing our related impacts 
and opportunities. We believe that this will 
help the Committee to improve its decision-

2 0 10  h i g h l i g h t s
established a Board level CSR Committee; >
Board has reviewed changes in the 2010  >
Code and has already begun working 
towards compliance;
set a framework for risk management for  >
review in 2011; and
began preparations for the UK Bribery Act.  >

o u r  a p p r oac h
Heritage complies fully with all relevant 
national and international laws and acts 
in accordance with local guidelines and 
regulations (including those that are industry 
specific) that govern our operations.

c s r  c o M M i t t e e
Our corporate governance structure has 
been strengthened by the establishment of 
a CSR Committee. Its members are Tony 
Buckingham (CEO), Michael Hibberd 
(Chairman) and Paul Atherton (CFO).  
The Committee is tasked with maintaining 
the Company’s CSR Policy Framework 
in line with best practice and appropriate 
international standards and guidelines.

The Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that the CSR Report is a fair reflection of our 
policies, systems and performance, is coherent 
and published in a timely manner and that the 
same approach is applied to the Company’s 
website www.heritageoilplc.com.

The Committee is empowered to request any 
information it requires from any employee of 
the Company in order to perform its duties. It 
may request any employee be interviewed by 
the Committee. It is also authorised to obtain 
outside legal or other professional advice and 
support on any matter that is within its Terms 
of Reference.

The full Terms of Reference of the CSR 
Committee are available for download on the 
Company’s website www.heritageoilplc.com.

c h a n g e s  to  t h e  
c o M b i n e d  c o d e
The 2010 Code, introduced in June 2010, 
applies from 1 January 2011. The main changes 
concern risk within the business model, 
performance-related pay, accountability/ 
re-election of Directors, proper debate, well 
balanced Board, Board performance and  
Board training and development. These  
are reported on in detail in our Corporate 
Governance Report.

u K  s t e Wa r d s h i p  c o d e
We recognise that the introduction of the UK 
Stewardship Code by the Financial Reporting 
Council in July 2010 provides a means of 
enhancing the quality of engagement between 
institutional investors and companies. Several 
of our major institutional shareholders have 
already published statements on their own 
compliance with the UK Stewardship Code.

s ta K e h o l d e r  e n g ag e M e n t
Heritage views stakeholder engagement as 
a very important element of the way that it 
conducts business. The success of projects in 
the different parts of the world is dependent 
on relationships with governments, local 
authorities and local communities. This area 
has always been a priority for Heritage and 
examples of activities over the past year are 
detailed within this report.

This report is an important element of our 
engagement process and we aim to develop 
our CSR reporting and communications 
both in this form and online in the future. 
Throughout 2010 we proactively engaged with 
stakeholders to aid their understanding of our 
business and enhance our approach to CSR 
and sustainable development. We welcome 
comments and feedback. This can be supplied 
by referring to the contact information at  
the back of this report or on our website  
www.heritageoilplc.com.

Heritage is committed to protecting the interests 
of shareholders and stakeholders, through 
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory 
environments and through the effective 
management of risk. 

Q&A
making and provide focused leadership and 
guidance. The Terms of Reference of the 
Committee are reviewed regularly to ensure 
that they reflect these developments.
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S t r at e g y  a n d  S y S t e m S 
d e S c r i p t i o n  o f  r i S k S  
a n d  o p p o r t u n i t i e S

The Group conducts environmental impact 
assessments before commencing any activities, has 
systems in place to ensure that sites are properly 
restored and aims to minimise any negative impacts  
of activities during project life cycles.

Heritage offers competitive remuneration packages, 
including performance-related pay, professional 
training, promotes equal opportunities and provides  
a positive working environment.

We employ a high percentage of personnel from our 
local regions of operation. We also consult local 
communities and stakeholders throughout all stages  
of our operations so that we can best work in 
partnership, for mutually beneficial outcomes,  
with them.

The Company provides health and safety training at 
all levels of our operations, and continually monitors 
performance and risks. The Company strives to 
maintain international health and safety management 
systems of the highest standard. 

We develop close, positive and transparent working 
relationships with host governments and business 
partners. Our business conduct policies and  
procedures are robust. In particular, we prohibit 
improper business behaviour.

Systems are continually reviewed.

We have established a CSR Committee that is tasked 
with ensuring that Heritage has a comprehensive  
policy framework and effective management systems. 
The Committee also monitors, reviews and acts  
upon our CSR performance.

Heritage has taken steps to ensure that adequate 
structures and procedures are in place.

Threats to licence to operate, financial penalties and 
reputational harm as a result of accidents or spills 
leading to pollution and environmental damage. 
Similar consequences resulting from a failure to  
return sites to their natural state.

Opportunities to work in new territories as a result of a 
track record from existing activities.

Opportunities to attract or difficulties in attracting and 
retaining the best employees to enable us to maintain 
our outstanding growth record. 

Threats to licence to operate, day to day operational 
difficulties, financial penalties and reputational  
harm as the result of campaigning activity and poor 
local relations.

Opportunities to develop brand and reputation and 
improve the overall effectiveness of Company projects.

Threats to licence to operate, production disruption, 
financial penalties and reputational harm resulting 
from a poor health and safety record.

Opportunities to develop brand and reputation and 
improve the overall effectiveness of Company projects.

Threats to licence to operate, financial penalties and 
reputational harm as a result of poor business conduct 
record. Risks concerning the retention of individual key 
members of staff.

Opportunities to work in new territories following a 
strong track record from existing activities.

Our overall CSR risks are minimised and our 
opportunities are maximised.

Environment and 
Sustainability

Employees

 

Community and  
Human Rights

Health and Safety

Business Conduct

Corporate Governance

Risk Management CSR related risks  
and opportunities and our strategy and 
systems for dealing with them.
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Global Reporting Initiative The G3 Guidelines are 
the most widely used and recognised sustainability 
reporting framework. These are cross-sector and 
appropriate for use by companies globally.

The above table is the GRI Application Level 
Table which we have used for self-assessment 
of our CSR reporting. The GRI’s sector 
supplement for the oil and gas industry is 
scheduled to be released in 2011 and we will 
consider incorporating this into future reports.

Heritage uses the G3 Guidelines and those 
produced by IPIECA to help develop our own 
reporting. They are taken into account when 
preparing the content of our CSR reports, 
although we focus on the CSR related impacts 
and opportunities we believe are most material, 
rather than attempting to cover every section of 
the G3 Guidelines in equal detail.

This section of our report provides the entirety 
of the CSR related information that Heritage 
collects. We provide this in the interest of 
transparency and for comparative purposes, 
and its collection helps us identify areas in 
which we can improve our performance.  
Data and comments presented here should  
be considered in the context of our  
Company’s operations.

We have self-declared our reporting as 
Application Level C. We believe this is 
an appropriate level for this stage in the 
development of our business and CSR 
reporting, given our size and nature of 
operations. We aim to enhance our reporting 
year-on-year but have chosen not to set a 
target date for reaching the next application 
level as this would not fit with the nature of 
our business model.

1 Sector supplement in final version.

G3 profile
disclosures

G3 management
approach disclosures

G3 performance 
indicators and sector 
supplement performance 
indicators

Report application level

St
an

da
rd

 d
is

cl
os

ur
es

Report on:
1.1
2.1–2.10
3.1–3.8, 3.10–3.12
4.1–4.4, 4.14–4.15

Report on all criteria listed 
for Level C plus:
1.2
3.9, 3.13
4.5–4.13, 4.16–4.17

Same as requirement for 
Level B.

Not required. Management approach 
disclosures for each 
indicator category.

Management approach 
disclosures for each 
indicator category.

Report on a minimum 
of 10 performance 
indicators, including at 
least one from each of: 
economic, social and 
environmental.

Report on a minimum 
of 20 performance 
indicators, at least one 
from each of: economic, 
environmental, human 
rights, labour, society, 
product responsibility.

Report on each core G3 
and sector supplement1 
indicator with due regard 
to the materiality principle 
by either: a) reporting 
on the indicator; or b) 
explaining the reason for 
its omission.

c c+ b+ a a+b

R
ep

or
t e

xt
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na
lly

 a
ss
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ed

R
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t e
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ur
ed
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d e S c r i p t i o n  o f  i n d i c ato r c o m m e n ta r y/ datai n d i c ato ra r e a pag e

Direct economic value generated and 
distributed, including revenues, operating 
costs, employee compensation, donations 
and other community investments, retained 
earnings, and payments to capital providers 
and governments.

Financial implications and other risks 
and opportunities for the organisation’s 
activities due to climate change.

Coverage of the organisation’s defined 
benefit plan obligations.

Significant financial assistance received 
from government.

Range of ratios of standard entry level 
wage compared to local minimum wage at 
significant locations of operation.

Policy, practices and proportion of spending 
on locally-based suppliers at significant 
locations of operation.

Procedures for local hiring and proportion 
of senior management hired from the local 
community at locations of significant 
operation.

Development and impact of infrastructure 
investments and services provided primarily 
for public benefit through commercial,  
in-kind or pro bono engagement.

Understanding and describing significant 
indirect economic impacts, including the 
extent of impacts.

Materials used by weight or volume.

Percentage of materials used that are 
recycled input materials.

Direct energy consumption by primary 
energy source. 
 
 

Indirect energy consumption by primary 
energy source.

Energy saved due to conservation and 
efficiency improvements. 
 

Total direct economic value generated and 
distributed not measured.

See Environment and Sustainability section.

N/A.

No assistance received.

Heritage pays competitive entry level wages 
and provides training and other benefits 
aimed at attracting a high quality workforce.

Policy is to use local suppliers whenever 
possible.

Policy is to employ locals whenever possible. 
Kurdistan: 75% employees are hired from 
local community. Russia: 97% of employees 
are hired from local community.

See Community and Human Rights section.

Activities during 2010 were of limited 
economic impact.

Not applicable to our operations.

Not applicable to our operations.

Kurdistan: primary energy source = diesel 
powered generators. Consumption not 
known. Russia: primary energy source 
= diesel powered generators. Total 2010 
consumption = 2.6m kWh.

Not measured.

Not measured.

EC1
 
 
 
 

EC2

EC3

EC4

EC5

EC6

EC7

EC8

EC9

EN1

EN2

EN3
 
 
 

EN4

EN5
 
 

Economic 
performance 
indicators

Non-core 
indicator

Non-core 
indicator

Environmental 
performance 
indicators

Non-core 
indicator

–

11

–

–

–

15

1, 15

17

–

–

–

– 

–

–

Global Reporting Initiative continued
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Initiatives to provide energy efficient 
or renewable energy-based products 
and services, and reductions in energy 
requirements as a result of these initiatives.

Initiatives to reduce indirect energy 
consumption and reductions achieved. 

Total water withdrawal by source.

Water sources significantly affected by
withdrawal of water.

Percentage and total volume of water 
recycled and reused.

Location and size of land owned, leased, 
managed in, or adjacent to, protected areas 
and areas of high biodiversity value outside 
protected areas. 

Description of significant impacts of activities, 
products and services on biodiversity in 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity 
value outside protected areas.

Habitats protected or restored. 

Strategies, current actions and future plans 
for managing impacts on biodiversity. 

Number of International Union for 
Conservation of Nature (“IUCN”) Red 
List species and national conservation list 
species with habitats in areas affected by 
operations, by level of extinction risk.

Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions by weight. 
 

Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions by weight.

Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and reductions achieved.

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances  
by weight.

NOx, SOx and other significant air 
emissions by type and weight.

Energy efficient testing programme  
in Kurdistan.
 

Russia: maintaining lowest possible 
process temperatures. Energy consumption 
reductions not known.

Russia: 350 m3 potable water used at site.

Water usage not material. 

Water usage not material.

Not currently active in any such areas 
following the sale of the Ugandan Assets – 
see Environment and Sustainability section 
and asset overview map on page 3 of the  
Annual Review.

No significant impacts.

 

None. 

EIAs, taking into account biodiversity, to be 
performed on all future assets. No current 
operations in areas of high biodiversity.

Not measured.

 
 

Kurdistan: not measured. Very minimal 
flaring occurred during well testing. Russia: 
2,626 km3 of associated gas flared annually, 
within government limits.

Not measured.

None.

Not measured.

Not measured.

EN6

EN7
 

EN8

EN9

EN10

EN11

 

EN12

 

EN13 

EN14
 

EN15

 

EN16
 
 

EN17

EN18

EN19

EN20

Non-core  
indicator
 

Non-core  
indicator 

Non-core  
indicator

Non-core  
indicator

 
 

 
 
 

Non-core  
indicator

Non-core  
indicator 

Non-core  
indicator 
 
 

 
 

Non-core  
indicator

–

–

–

–

–

11

 

11

 

– 

11
 

– 
 
 
 

11
 
 

–

–

–

–
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d e S c r i p t i o n  o f  i n d i c ato r c o m m e n ta r y/ datai n d i c ato ra r e a pag e

Total water discharge by quality and 
destination.

Total weight of waste by type and  
disposal method. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Total number and volume of significant spills.

Weight of transported, imported, exported 
or treated waste deemed hazardous under 
the terms of the Basel Convention Annex 
I, II, III and VIII, and percentage of 
transported waste shipped internationally.

Identity, size, protected status and 
biodiversity value of water bodies and 
related habitats significantly affected by the 
reporting organisation’s discharges of water 
and runoff.

Initiatives to mitigate environmental 
impacts of products and services, and extent 
of impact mitigation. 

Percentage of products sold and their 
packaging materials that are reclaimed  
by category.

Monetary value of significant fines and  
total number of non-monetary sanctions  
for non- compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations.

Significant environmental impacts of 
transporting products and other goods 
and materials used for the organisation’s 
operations and transporting members  
of the workforce.

Total environmental protection 
expenditures and investments by type.

Not measured.

Kurdistan: waste collection is in place, any 
drilling cuttings are removed to specially 
dedicated areas. Russia: Class 1 – 125 
mercury lamps (extra hazardous waste), 
Class 3 – 370 kilogrammes (low hazard 
waste), Class 4 – 6 tonnes (low hazard 
waste), Classes 4 and 5 69 m3 utility fluid 
(low hazard waste). All trucked for disposal 
in compliance with Russian Federal Laws.

No spills.

No hazardous waste transported, imported, 
exported or treated.

No water bodies affected. 
 
 
 

Operations are run as efficiently as possible 
to minimise environmental impacts of 
activities. EIAs carried out before all major 
work programmes.

Not applicable to our operations.

No fines, warnings or sanctions.

Not applicable to our operations.

Not measured.

EN21

EN22
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EN23

EN24

EN25

EN26

 

EN27

EN28

EN29

EN30

 

Non-core 
indicator

Non-core 
indicator

 

Non-core 
indicator

Non-core 
indicator

–

–

 

11

–

–
 
 
 

11

 

–

–

 

–

– 
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Total workforce by employment type, 
employment contract and region. 
 

Total number and rate of employee turnover 
by age group, gender and region.

Benefits provided to full-time employees 
that are not provided to temporary or part-
time employees, by major operations.

Percentage of employees covered by 
collective bargaining agreements.

Minimum notice period(s) regarding 
significant operational changes, including 
whether it is specified in collective 
agreements.

Percentage of total workforce represented  
in formal joint management-worker health 
and safety committees that help monitor 
and advise on occupational health and 
safety programmes.

Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost 
days and absenteeism, and number of work- 
related fatalities by region.

Education, training, counselling, prevention 
and risk-control programmes in place to 
assist workforce members, their families,  
or community members regarding  
serious diseases.

Health and safety topics covered in formal 
agreements with trade unions.

Average hours of training per year per 
employee by employee category.

Programmes for skills management and 
lifelong learning that support the continued 
employability of employees and assist them 
in managing career endings.

Percentage of employees receiving regular 
performance and career development 
reviews.

Kurdistan: 20 employees.  
Russia: 40 employees. 
 

3% staff turnover for the Company. 

Standard benefit packages.

None.

Seven days. Heritage does not have any 
collective bargaining agreements.

Not measured.

No injuries across all operations. 
 

Health and safety training covers serious 
disease prevention and control where 
appropriate. Occupational and operational 
health and safety training given to  
all employees.

No agreements with trade unions.

Reviewed in Employees section. 

Reviewed in Employees section.

Not measured.

LA1

LA2

LA3

LA4

LA5

LA6

LA7

LA8

LA9

LA10

LA11

LA12

Labour practices 
and decent work 
performance 
indicators
 
 

Non-core  
indicator

Non-core 
indicator

 

 
 
 
 

Non-core  
indicator

Non-core  
indicator 
 

 
Non-core  
indicator 
 

 

–
 
 

–

–

–

–

–

13

13
 
 
 

–

15

15 
 
 

–
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d e S c r i p t i o n  o f  i n d i c ato r c o m m e n ta r y/ datai n d i c ato ra r e a pag e

Composition of governance bodies and 
breakdown of employees per category 
according to gender, age group, minority 
group membership and other indicators  
of diversity.

Ratio of basic salary of men to women by 
employee category.

Percentage and total number of significant 
investment agreements that include human 
rights clauses or that have undergone 
human rights screening.

Percentage of significant suppliers and 
contractors that have undergone screening 
on human rights and actions taken.

Total hours of employee training on policies 
and procedures concerning aspects of 
human rights that are relevant to operations, 
including the percentage of employees 
trained.

Total number of incidents of discrimination 
and actions taken.

Operations identified in which the right 
to exercise freedom of association and 
collective bargaining may be at significant 
risk and actions taken to support these 
rights.

Operations identified as having significant 
risk for incidents of child labour and 
measures taken to contribute to the 
elimination of child labour.

Operations identified as having significant 
risk for incidents of forced or compulsory 
labour and measures to contribute to the 
elimination of forced or compulsory labour.

Percentage of security personnel trained in 
the organisation’s policies or procedures 
concerning aspects of human rights that are 
relevant to operations.

Total number of incidents of violations 
involving rights of indigenous people and 
actions taken.

See Corporate Governance Report for 
composition of governance bodies. 

 

Not measured.

Not measured.

All suppliers must agree to abide by 
Heritage’s policy on human rights.  
No actions taken.

Not measured.

No incidents.

No operations identified as having 
significant risk in this area. Freedom of 
association and collective bargaining are 
guaranteed to all workers.

No operations identified as having 
significant risk. CSR Policy Framework 
prohibits the use of child labour.

No operations identified as having 
significant risk. CSR Policy Framework 
prohibits the use of forced or compulsory 
labour.

All suppliers must agree to abide by 
Heritage’s policy on human rights.  
No actions taken. 

No violations.

LA13

LA14

HR1

HR2

HR3

HR4

HR5

HR6

HR7

HR8

HR9

 
 
 
 

 

 
Human rights 
performance 
indicators 

Non-core 
indicator

 
 

 
 

Non-core 
indicator

Non-core 
indicator

–

 

–

–

–

–

–

–

6–7

 

6–7

–

–
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Nature, scope and effectiveness of any 
programmes and practices that assess 
and manage the impacts of operations on 
communities, including entering, operating 
and exiting.

Percentage and total number of  
business units analysed for risks  
related to corruption.

Percentage of employees trained in the 
organisation’s anti-corruption policies  
and procedures.

Actions taken in response to incidents  
of corruption.

Public policy positions and participation in 
public policy development and lobbying.

Total value of financial and in-kind 
contributions to political parties,  
politicians and related institutions  
by country.

Total number of legal actions for anti- 
competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and 
monopoly practices and their outcomes.

Monetary value of significant fines and total 
number of non-monetary sanctions for non- 
compliance with laws and regulations.

According to GRI “the Product 
Responsibility Indicator set addresses the 
effects of products and services management 
on customers and users.”

See Community and Human Rights section.

100% of business units analysed. 

100% of relevant employees trained.

No incidents. 

No positions or participation.

No contributions made.

No legal actions.

No fines or sanctions.

Heritage owns a small oil producing asset in 
Russia and the Company is primarily an oil 
and gas exploration company. As we deal in 
raw material commodities and currently in 
small volumes, we do not believe that these 
indicators are applicable to our business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

SO1

SO2

SO3

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Society 
performance 
indicators

Non-core  
indicator

Non-core 
indicator 

Product 
responsibility 
performance 
indicators 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

17

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
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Statement from the most senior decision- 
maker of the organisation (e.g. CEO, 
chair or equivalent senior position) about 
the relevance of sustainability to the 
organisation and its strategy.

Description of key impacts, risks and 
opportunities.

Name of the organisation.

Primary brands, products and/or services.

Operational structure of the organisation, 
including main divisions, operating 
companies, subsidiaries and joint ventures.

Location of organisation’s headquarters.

Number of countries where the organisation 
operates and names of countries with either 
major operations or that are specifically 
relevant to the sustainability issues covered 
in the report.

Nature of ownership and legal form. 

Markets served (including geographic 
breakdown, sectors served, and types of 
customers/beneficiaries).

Scale of the reporting organisation.

Significant changes during the reporting 
period regarding size, structure or 
ownership (see G3 Guidelines for details).

Awards received in the reporting period.

Reporting period (e.g. fiscal/calendar year) 
for information provided.

Date of most recent previous report (if any).

Reporting cycle (annual, biennial, etc.).

Contact point for questions regarding the 
report or its contents.

Process for defining report content.

See CSR Committee Chairman’s  
Statement, CSR Report. 
 
 

See Annual Review, Principal Risks.

Heritage Oil Plc.

Heritage Oil Plc.

See page 14 of the Financial  
Statements Report.

See inside back cover of report.

See page 3 of the Annual Review.

Jersey incorporated with Premium Listing 
on the London Stock Exchange.

N/A. 
 

See page 3 of the Annual Review.

Sold the Ugandan Assets in a deal 
completed in 2010. See pages 31–35  
of the Annual Review.

None.

1 January 2010–31 December 2010. 

CSR Report 2009 published 30 April, 2010.

Annual.

See inside back cover of this report. 

See About this Report.

1.1 
 
 
 

1.2

2.1

2.2

2.3 
 

2.4

2.5

2.6 

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

3.1 

3.2

3.3

3.4 

3.5

Standard 
disclosures 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

2–3
 
 
 

36–39

–

–

14 
 

IBC

3
 
 
 

–

– 
 

3

31–35 
 

–
 
– 

–

–

IBC 

4
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Boundary of the report (e.g. countries, 
divisions, subsidiaries, leased facilities, joint 
ventures or suppliers).

State any specific limitations on the scope or 
boundary of the report.

Basis for reporting on joint ventures, 
subsidiaries, leased facilities, outsourced 
operations and other entities that 
can significantly affect comparability 
from period to period and/or between 
organisations.

Data measurement techniques and the bases 
of calculations, including assumptions and 
techniques underlying estimations applied 
to the compilation of the indicators and 
other information in the report.

Explanation of the effect of any  
restatements of information provided in 
earlier reports and the reasons for such  
restatement (e.g. mergers/acquisitions, 
change of base years/periods, nature of 
business or measurement methods).

Significant changes from previous 
reporting periods in the scope, boundary or 
measurement methods applied in the report.

Table identifying the location of the 
standard disclosures in the report.

Policy and current practice with regard 
to seeking external assurance for the 
report. If not included in the assurance 
report accompanying the sustainability 
report, explain the scope and basis of any 
external assurance provided. Also explain 
the relationship between the reporting 
organisation and the assurance provider(s).

Governance structure of the organisation, 
including committees under the highest 
governance body responsible for 
specific tasks, such as setting strategy or 
organisational oversight.

Indicate whether the Chair of the highest 
governance body is also an executive 
officer (and, if so, their function within the 
organisation’s management and the reasons 
for this arrangement).

This report covers the entirety of Heritage’s 
operations. See page 3 of the Annual Review 
as well for further information.

No specific limitations.

N/A.

 

See About this Report.

No restatements.

None.

See GRI index.

External assurance has not been sought  
– see About this Report.

 

See page 11 of the Corporate Governance 
Report.

See page 10 of the Corporate Governance 
Report – Chairman is an independent  
Non-Executive Director.

3.6
 

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

 

3.11

3.12

3.13

4.1

4.2

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

3

– 

–

4
 

–

–

23 

4

–

–
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For organisations that have a unitary board 
structure, state the number of members 
of the highest governance body that 
are independent and/or non-executive 
members.

Mechanisms for shareholders and employees 
to provide recommendations or direction to 
the highest governance body.

Linkage between compensation for 
members of the highest governance 
body, senior managers, and executives 
(including departure arrangements), and the 
organisation’s performance (including social 
and environmental performance).

Processes in place for the highest 
governance body to ensure conflicts of 
interest are avoided.

Process for determining the qualifications 
and expertise of the members of the 
highest governance body for guiding 
the organisation’s strategy on economic, 
environmental and social topics.

Internally developed statements of mission 
or values, codes of conduct, and principles 
relevant to economic, environmental, and 
social performance and the status of their 
implementation.

Procedures of the highest governance 
body for overseeing the organisation’s 
identification and management of economic, 
environmental, and social performance, 
including relevant risks and opportunities, 
and adherence or compliance with 
internationally agreed standards, codes of 
conduct and principles.

See page 10 of the Corporate Governance 
Report.

See page 12 of the Corporate Governance 
Report.

See Corporate Governance Report, 
in particular the Remuneration Report, 
pages 18–27.

See CSR Policy Framework and page 10 of 
the Corporate Governance Report.

See pages 10–14 of the Corporate 
Governance Report.

See CSR Policy Framework.

 

See pages 10–17 of the Corporate 
Governance Report, in particular the CSR 
Committee on page 17.
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Processes for evaluating the highest 
governance body’s own performance, 
particularly with respect to economic, 
environmental, and social performance.

Explanation of whether and how the 
precautionary approach or principle is 
addressed by the organisation.

Externally developed economic, 
environmental and social charters, 
principles or other initiatives to which the 
organisation subscribes or endorses.

Memberships in associations (such as 
industry associations) and/or national/
international advocacy organisations.

List of stakeholder groups engaged by the 
organisation.

Basis for identification and selection of 
stakeholders with whom to engage.

Approaches to stakeholder engagement, 
including frequency of engagement by type 
and by stakeholder group.

Key topics and concerns that have been 
raised through stakeholder engagement, 
and how the organisation has responded to 
those key topics and concerns, including 
through its reporting.

See pages 13–14 of the Corporate 
Governance Report.

See Financial Review and Risks in the 
Annual Review on pages 31–39.  

None.

Jersey Financial Services.

Not reported.

See CSR Policy Framework.

See CSR Report.

See CSR Report.

4.10

4.11 
 

4.12 
 
 

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

 –

–

– 
 

– 

–

6–7

17

17



Corporate Social Responsibility 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

3 4

CSR Glossary

$  US dollars unless otherwise stated
a p i  a specific gravity scale developed by the American Petroleum Institute for measuring the relative  
 density of various petroleum liquids, expressed in degrees
b b l / b b l s  barrel/barrels
b b l s / d  o r  b o p d  barrels per day or barrels of oil per day
b c f  billion cubic feet
b i o d i v e r s i t y  the number and variety of organisms found within a specified region
b o e  barrels of oil equivalent1

b o e / d  o r  b o e p d  barrels of oil equivalent per day
c e o  Chief Executive Officer
c f o  Chief Financial Officer
c o m b i n e d  c o d e  Combined Code of Corporate Governance published in 2008
c o m pa n y  Heritage Oil Plc
c o n d e n s at e   low density, high API hydrocarbon liquids that are present in natural gas fields where it   

condensates out of the raw gas if the temperature is reduced to below the hydrocarbon dew 
point temperature of the raw gas

c o n t i n g e n t  r e s o u r c e s   those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable from 
known accumulations by application of development projects but which are not currently 
considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies

c s r  Corporate Social Responsibility
d r c  the Democratic Republic of Congo
e i a  Environmental Impact Assessment, which determines the impact operations may have on   
 the environment
e m s  Environmental Management System, which is a system that manages the impact of the   
 environment and is designed to minimise any negative effects operations may have
g j  gigajoules
g r i  Global Reporting Initiative; an organisation which has developed the most widely used   
 sustainability reporting framework
g r e e n h o u s e  g a s  a gas, such as carbon dioxide or methane, which re-emits infrared radiation and is responsible   
 for the greenhouse effect
g r o u p,  h e r i tag e  the Company and all of its subsidiaries
h a z m at  hazardous material, solids, liquids and gases that can harm people, other living organisms,   
 property or the environment 
h i v/a i d s  Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Deficiency Syndrome
h o c  o r  c o r p o r at i o n   Heritage Oil Corporation, incorporated in Canada and a wholly owned subsidiary  

of the Company
i u c n   International Union for Conservation of Nature
i lo   International Labour Organisation
i p i e c a  International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation Association
K m 3 cubic kilometres
K p i  Key Performance Indicators
K u r d i s ta n  Kurdistan Region of Iraq
l e a d   potential drilling target that is less well defined than a prospect and requires further data before 

being considered a prospect for drilling
l p g  liquid petroleum gas
l s e  London Stock Exchange
lt i   Lost Time Injury
lt i f r  Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate per 10,000 hours worked
m  metres
m 3 cubic metres
m b b l s  thousand barrels

1  boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf: 1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily  
applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.



Corporate Social Responsibility 2010
h e r i t a g e  o i l  p l c

3 5

m m b b l s  million barrels
m b o e  thousands of barrels of oil equivalent
m m b o e  millions of barrels of oil equivalent
m c f  thousand cubic feet
m c f/ d  thousand cubic feet per day
m m b t u  million british thermal units
m m c f  million cubic feet
m m c f/ d  million cubic feet per day
m m s t b  million stock tank barrels
n /a  not applicable
n at u r a l  r e s o u r c e ( s )  a naturally occurring resource, or resources, such as oil, coal, and gas
n g l s  natural gas liquids
n g o  Non-Governmental Organisation
p e t r o l e u m   any mineral, oil or relative hydrocarbon (including condensate and natural gas liquids) and 

natural gas existing in its natural condition in strata (but not including coal or bituminous shale 
or other stratified deposits from which oil can be extracted by destructive distillation)

p r o s p e c t  potential drilling target that is well defined, usually by seismic data
p r o s p e c t i v e  r e s o u r c e s   those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially 

recoverable from undiscovered accumulations
p r o v e d  r e s e r v e s   those quantities of petroleum, which by analysis and geoscience, can be estimated with 

reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable. It is likely that the actual remaining 
quantities recovered will exceed the estimated proved reserves

p s a  o r  p s c  production sharing agreement or production sharing contract
s ta K e h o l d e r  a person or group with a direct interest, involvement, or investment in our activities. Heritage’s  
 stakeholders include employees, shareholders, local communities, NGOs, the media,
 governments, regulatory authorities and research organisations
tc f  trillion cubic feet
t s r  Total Shareholder Return
t s X  Toronto Stock Exchange
t u l lo w  Tullow Uganda Limited
w t i  West Texas Intermediate

c o n v e r s i o n  ta b l e 
The following table sets forth standard conversions from Standard Imperial Units to the International System of Units (or metric units). 

To convert from       To Multiply by

boe       mcf 6
mcf       cubic metres 28.174
cubic metres       cubic feet 35.494
bbls       cubic metres 0.159
cubic metres       bbls oil 6.290
feet       metres 0.305
metres       feet 3.281
miles       kilometres 1.609
kilometres       miles 0.621
acres       hectares 0.405
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Notes



Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration and production company with a 
Premium Listing on the London Stock Exchange 
(“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). The Company is a 
member of the FTSE 250 Index. The Company has 
Exchangeable Shares listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) and the LSE 
(symbol HOX). The Company has exploration assets 
in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, 
Tanzania, Mali and the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”) and a producing asset in Russia.

This Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Report 
details the approach made by Heritage to all aspects 
of our CSR policies, systems and performance. Our 
CSR strategy is a key factor in securing long-term 
success and the Company considers managing 
relationships with stakeholders as a key element in 
developing a reputation as a preferred partner. 
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The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.

Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.
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2010 Highlights

Financial

Operational

Cash of $598 million, excluding amounts relating to the Ugandan tax dispute >
Gain on disposal of interests in Block 3A and Block 1, Uganda,   >
(the “Ugandan Assets”) of $1.3 billion
Net profit for the year of $1.2 billion >
Production in 2010 averaged 542 bopd which is a 65% increase from   >
2009 levels 
Special dividend paid in August 2010 of 100 pence per share >
Average realised price of $25.5/bbl >
Basic EPS of $4.25 >
Diluted EPS of $3.57 >

Production increase in 2010

65%

Year end cash balance

$598m
Discovered the largest gas field in Iraq in the last 30 years >
Highly productive Jurassic reservoir intervals tested in the Miran West-2   >
well at a restricted cumulative flow rate of over 75 million cubic feet per  
day (“MMscfd”)
Estimated gross P90-P50 in-place volumes of 6.8–9.1 trillion cubic feet  >
(“TCF”), with a P10 upside of 12.3 TCF for Miran West
Management estimates Heritage has mean net risked contingent and  >
prospective resources in Miran West and Miran East of 744 million barrels  
of oil equivalent (“MMboe”), based on a 75% working interest
Miran development options being considered with first export production  >
targeted for 2015 using planned regional infrastructure
Achieved nearly a twelvefold increase in contingent resources, following the  >
successful testing of hydrocarbons, from 53 MMbbls to 605 MMboe
Completed 3D seismic acquisition offshore Tanzania; data currently   >
being processed

All dollars are US dollars unless otherwise stated.
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Financial Review The sale of the Ugandan Assets 
has left Heritage with a strong balance sheet for 2011.

c o r p o r at e  p e r f o r m a n c e
Production and sales volumes
2010 petroleum revenue was generated 
from the Zapadno Chumpasskoye Field in 
Russia, following the disposal of our Oman 
operations, with effect from 1 January 2009. 

Average daily production increased by 65% 
from 329 bopd in 2009 to 542 bopd in 2010. 
This increase resulted from a full year of 
production in 2010 compared to 2009  
where the field was temporarily shut-in at the 
beginning of the year due to unfavourable 
domestic market conditions in Russia. 
In addition, three well workovers were 
undertaken in 2010 which further contributed 
to increased production.

The difference between the production 
volumes and sales volumes is due to the 
change in the oil inventory balance during  
the year.

Revenue
Petroleum revenue increased by $2.3 million 
(85%) to $5.0 million in 2010. This increase 
comprised:

$1.25 million from an increase in sales  >
volumes that increased from 368 bopd in 
2009 to 539 bopd in 2010; and
$1.05 million from an increase in average  >
commodity prices from $20.15/bbl in 2009 
to $25.51/bbl in 2010. 

 
Operating results
Petroleum operating costs increased by 38% 
to $2.1 million in 2010, due to higher crude oil 
production. However, the average operating 
cost per produced barrel of oil decreased from 
$11.12/bbl in 2009 to $10.64/bbl in 2010.

Production tax in Russia increased from  
$1.3 million in 2009 to $2.6 million in 2010 
as a result of both higher production volumes 
and increased average commodity prices in 
2010 used in the calculation of production tax.

General and administrative expenses 
increased from $18.7 million in 2009 to  
$29.8 million in 2010. This is due, principally, 
to uncompleted corporate transaction 
expenses, arbitration settlement costs to be 
paid to a former director and higher legal and 
transportation expenses. 

If share-based compensation expenses are 
excluded, net general and administrative 
expenses increased from $15.6 million in 2009 
to $26.6 million in 2010. In 2010, the Group 
capitalised $6.7 million (2009 – $7.6 million) 
of general and administrative costs relating 
to exploration and development activities, 
including share-based compensation of  
$1.1 million (2009 – $2.1 million).

Acquisition expenses of $7.1 million in 
2009 represent one-off expenses relating 
to the aborted acquisition of Genel Energy 
International Limited (“Genel Energy”). 
In November 2009, Heritage announced 
that it had terminated all discussions and 
consequently expensed all costs incurred  
with respect to the planned acquisition  
of Genel Energy.

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation 
expenses increased by 23% to $2.1 million 
in 2010, due to higher production volumes. 
Net depletion, depreciation and amortisation 
expenses per barrel reduced from $14.24/bbl 
in 2009 to $10.67/bbl in 2010. 

pau l  at h er to n
c h i ef  f i n a n c i a l  o ff i c er

S e l e c t e d  o p e r at i o n a l  a n d  f i n a n c i a l  data     
   2010 2009 Change

Production  bopd 542 329 65%

Sales volume  bopd 539 368 46%

Average realised price  $/bbl 25.5 20.2 26%

    
Petroleum revenue  $ million 5.0 2.7 85%

    
Loss from continuing operations  $ million (44.2) (36.8) (20%)

Gain/(loss) from discontinued operations  $ million 1,267.2 (2.5) n/a

Net profit/(loss)  $ million 1,223.0 (39.3) n/a

Special dividend per share   Pence per share 100 – n/a

    
Total cash capital expenditures  $ million (119.0) (104.1) 

Year end cash balance  $ million 598.3 208.1 
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Exploration expenditures expensed in the 
year, and not capitalised, increased from 
$0.2 million in 2009 to $2.8 million in 2010. 
Exploration expenditures in 2010 related 
principally to potential new ventures in Africa 
and South America.

In 2010, the Group recognised an impairment 
of intangible exploration and evaluation  
assets of $10.5 million (2009 – nil) comprised 
of two elements. Following changes in future 
plans, management decided to write-down 
to nil expenditure of $1.6 million incurred 
with respect to interests in Block 1 and 2 
in the DRC. Additionally, after a technical 
review, management decided to write-off 
expenditures of $8.9 million incurred with 
respect to the Kisangire and Lukuliro licence 
areas in Tanzania.

In 2010, the Group recognised an impairment 
write-down of property, plant and equipment 
of $1.9 million (2009 – $2.9 million) relating 
to a reduction in the fair value of an aircraft 
due to unfavourable economic conditions. 

In 2010, interest income was $3.0 million 
(2009 – $0.6 million). Cash and cash 
equivalents are typically held in interest 
bearing treasury accounts. This increase in 
interest income is primarily due to an increase 
in cash and cash equivalents balances in 2010 
in comparison with 2009.

At 30 June 2009, the carrying value of 
investments in unlisted securities (shares of 
SeaDragon Offshore Limited (“SeaDragon”)) 
was written down to nil following completion 
of a financial reorganisation by SeaDragon and 
resulted in an impairment write-down of $2.4 
million in 2009. It is not possible to determine 
whether any of the original investment will be 
recoverable in the near future. 

Other finance costs decreased from $4.3 
million in 2009 to $3.0 million in 2010, due 
primarily to Bondholders exercising their 
conversion rights in respect of $30.6 million 
of convertible bonds in 2009 and forgoing 
the right to earn any interest. This had a full 
year’s impact on other finance costs in 2010 
compared with only a partial year impact in 
2009. Additionally, the level of interest costs 
capitalised in 2010 was higher than 2009 due 
to an increased capitalisation rate resulting 
from increased convertible bonds accretion 
costs following a $2.4 million payment of 
consent fees in January 2010 to Bondholders. 

In 2010, the Group had foreign exchange  
gains of $1.8 million compared to a $1.0 
million loss in 2009. The gain is primarily as 
a result of revaluation of the British pounds’ 
denominated liability to pay the special 
dividend. The liability for special dividends 
was outstanding between the date of the 
special dividend announcement and date  
of payment.

Heritage recognised an unrealised gain of 
$0.9 million in 2010 (2009 – $1.0 million), 
in the fair value of its investment in Afren plc 
(“Afren”) warrants. The gain or loss is 
determined by the performance of the share 
price of Afren. Heritage holds 1,500,000 
warrants in Afren with an exercise price 
of £0.60 per warrant, received as partial 
consideration from the sale of Heritage Congo 
Limited in 2006. The warrants have a term 
until 22 December 2011. At 31 December 
2010, Afren’s share price was £1.48 per share.

Heritage’s loss from continuing operations 
in 2010 was $44.2 million, compared to 
$36.8 million in 2009. The adjusted loss 
from continuing operations in 2010 was 
$31.3 million compared to $21.2 million 
in 2009 if certain non-cash items (share-
based compensation expense, impairment of 
intangible exploration and evaluation assets, 
property, plant and equipment impairment 
write-down, impairment of investment in 
unlisted securities, foreign exchange gains/
losses and unrealised gain on revaluation 
of Afren warrants) and the one-off aborted 
acquisition costs are excluded.

Disposals 
On 18 December 2009, Heritage announced 
that the Company and Heritage Oil & Gas 
Limited (“HOGL”) had entered into a Sale 
and Purchase agreement (“SPA”) with ENI 
International B.V. (“Eni”) for the sale of 
HOGL’s 50% interests in Blocks 1 and 3A 
in Uganda (the “Ugandan Assets”) and on 
17 January 2010, Tullow Uganda Limited 
(“Tullow”) exercised its rights of pre-emption. 
The sale of the Ugandan Assets completed 
on 26 July 2010; Tullow paid cash of $1.45 
billion, including $100 million from a 
contractual settlement, of which Heritage 
received and retained $1.045 billion. 

The Uganda Revenue Authority (“URA”) 
contends that income tax is due on the capital 
gain arising on the disposal and it raised 
assessments amounting to $404,925,000 
prior to completion of the disposal. Heritage’s 

position, based on comprehensive advice from 
leading legal and tax experts in Uganda, the 
United Kingdom and North America, is that 
no tax should be payable in Uganda on the 
disposal of the Ugandan Assets.

In order to allow the disposal to proceed, 
the Group agreed with Tullow a mechanism 
to provide the Government of Uganda 
(“Government”) with security over the 
disputed amounts through depositing some 
of the proceeds with the URA and placing a 
further amount in escrow.

Tullow paid cash consideration of  
$1.35 billion and an additional contractual 
settlement amount of $100 million. On 
closing, Heritage deposited $121,477,000 
with the URA, amounting to 30% of the 
disputed tax assessment of $404,925,000. 
$121,477,000 has been classified as a deposit 
in the balance sheet at 31 December 2010. 
A further $283,447,000 has been retained in 
escrow, pursuant to an agreement between 
HOGL, Tullow and Standard Chartered Bank 
pending resolution between Government and 
HOGL of the tax dispute. Including accrued 
interest, an amount of $286,603,000 is 
classified as restricted cash in the balance sheet 
at 31 December 2010.

In August 2010, the URA issued a further 
income tax assessment of $30 million 
representing 30% of the additional contractual 
settlement amount of $100 million. HOGL 
disputed this assessment and no provision 
has been made for this amount. There is a 
tax tribunal ongoing in Uganda and HOGL 
continues to review options to recover monies 
held in relation to the Ugandan tax dispute 
which could include arbitration in London.

Although disputes of this nature are inherently 
uncertain, the Directors believe that the monies 
on deposit and held in the escrow account will 
ultimately be recovered by Heritage. 

As at 31 December 2010, a working capital 
adjustment with respect to the disposal of the 
Ugandan Assets of $13.6 million was owed by 
Tullow. This was paid in March 2011. 

On 15 April 2011, Heritage and its wholly 
owned subsidiary HOGL received Particulars 
of Claim filed in the High Court of Justice 
in England by Tullow seeking $313,447,500 
for alleged breach of contract as a result of 
HOGL’s and Heritage’s refusal to reimburse 
Tullow in relation to a payment made by 
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Tullow of $313,447,500 on 7 April 2011 to 
the URA. Heritage and HOGL believe that 
the claim has no basis and will vigorously and 
robustly defend it. Heritage and HOGL have 
also reserved their other rights against Tullow 
and against Government.

On 15 April 2011, HOGL sent a request 
to Tullow, as a co-signatory to the escrow 
account with Standard Chartered Bank, for 
the release of $283,447,000 plus interest to 
HOGL. HOGL contends that, consequent 
on Tullow’s admission that its payment of 
$313,447,500 to the URA has discharged 
HOGL’s alleged tax liability, funds no longer 
need to be held in escrow.

The results of operations in Uganda and Oman 
have been classified as discontinued operations. 
The gain from discontinued operations in 
Uganda was $1,267.2 million in 2010 compared 
to the loss from discontinued operations of 
$1.8 million in 2009. The loss on disposal of 
discontinued operations in Oman was $0.7 
million in 2009. The gain from discontinued 
operations in Uganda of $1,267.2 million may 
be summarised as follows: 
   Year ended  
   31 December 2010 
   $ million

Consideration received 
Cash consideration and amount 

to settle contractual dispute  1,450.0

Working capital adjustments  13.6

Total   1,463.6

Less:  
Carrying amount of net assets 

sold and expenses   (196.4)

Gain on disposal of discontinued 
operations   1,267.2

In 2010, the basic and diluted loss per share 
from continuing operations was $0.15 and 
$0.30 respectively, compared to the basic 
and diluted loss per share from continuing 
operations of $0.13 in 2009.

Heritage’s net profit in 2010 was $1,223.0 
million, compared to a net loss of $39.3 
million in 2009. The adjusted net profit in 
2010 was $1,225.4 million, compared to 
a net loss of $23.7 million in the previous 
year if certain non-cash items (share-based 
compensation expense, impairment of 
intangible exploration and evaluation assets, 
property, plant and equipment impairment 
write-down, impairment of investment in 
unlisted securities, foreign exchange gains/
losses and unrealised gain on revaluation 

of Afren warrants) and the one-off aborted 
acquisition costs are excluded. 

In 2010, the basic and diluted earnings per 
share were $4.25 and $3.57 respectively, 
compared to the basic and diluted loss per 
share of $0.14 in 2009.

Cash flow and capital expenditures
Cash used in continuing operating activities 
was $21.0 million in 2010 compared to 
$20.7 million in 2009. Total cash capital 
expenditures, including discontinued 
operations, in 2010 were $119.0 million which 
is higher by $14.9 million than in 2009. The 
following major work programmes were 
undertaken in 2010:

the Miran West-2 well commenced drilling  >
on 26 November 2009 and drilling and 
testing continued throughout 2010 and 
into January 2011. The well was drilled to 
a total depth of 4,426 metres. This resulted 
in the discovery of a large gas field which 
management considers to be the largest gas 
field to be discovered in Iraq in the last  
30 years; 
the acquisition of a 3D seismic survey  >
commenced on the Miran Block in 
Kurdistan in the fourth quarter of 2010; 
capital expenditures of $21.7 million in  >
respect of Block 1 and 3A in Uganda; 
336 kilometres of 2D seismic were   >
acquired on the Zamzama North licence, 
Pakistan; and
the acquisition of 300 square kilometres of  >
3D seismic offshore Tanzania commenced 
in December 2010.

Capital expenditures also included the 
acquisition of an aircraft for $42.9 million. 

Special dividend
On 2 August 2010, Heritage announced 
the declaration of a special dividend of 100 
pence per Ordinary Share of the Company 
and Heritage Oil Corporation (“HOC”, the 
“Corporation”), the Company’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, also announced a declaration 
of a special dividend of Cdn$1.62 per 
Exchangeable Share of HOC, calculated at an 
exchange rate of £1.00:Cdn$1.62. The special 
dividend was paid on 27 August 2010. 

Following an amendment to the terms of the 
$165,000,000 8.00% convertible bonds due 
2012 (the “Bonds”), the special dividend was 
also paid to Bondholders and no adjustments 
were made to the conversion rights under the 
terms of the Bond (the “Conversion Rights”) 

in respect of any dividend paid or made by the 
Company. The Company paid a $2.4 million 
consent fee to Bondholders who voted in favour 
of the amendment to the terms. Accordingly, the 
Company agreed to pay the holder of each Bond 
a pass-through dividend (the “Pass-through 
Dividend”) which is equal to the dividend 
which would be received by the holder of a 
number of Ordinary Shares equal to the number 
of Ordinary Shares to which the Bondholder 
would have been entitled if it had exercised its 
Conversion Rights on the record date of  
13 August 2010. The aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds outstanding on the record 
date was $127,100,000. These Bonds are 
convertible into 27,042,553 Ordinary Shares 
pursuant to the Conversion Rights and 
accordingly the Company paid to Bondholders 
a Pass-through Dividend of £27,042,553 on 
27 August 2010.

f i n a n c i a l  p o S i t i o n
Liquidity
Heritage had a net increase in cash and cash 
equivalents in 2010 of $390.1 million. At 
31 December 2010, Heritage had a working 
capital surplus of $969.3 million, including 
cash and cash equivalents of $598.3 million. 
Like most oil and gas exploration companies, 
Heritage raises financing for its activities 
from time to time using a variety of sources. 
Sources of funding for future exploration and 
development programmes will be derived 
from inter alia disposal proceeds from the sale 
of assets, such as the sale of the Company’s 
holdings in Oman in 2009 and the sale of 
the Ugandan Assets in 2010 (see disposals 
section of the Financial Review on pages 3 to 
4), using its existing treasury resources, new 
credit facilities, reinvesting its funds from 
operations, farm-outs and, when considered 
appropriate, issuing debt and additional 
equity. Accordingly, the Group has a number 
of different sources of finance.
 
Capital structure
Heritage’s financial strategy has been to fund 
its capital expenditure programmes and any 
potential acquisitions by selling non-core 
assets, reinvesting funds from operations, 
using existing treasury resources, finding 
new credit facilities and, when considered 
appropriate, either issuing unsecured 
convertible bonds or equity. 

On 7 April 2009, the Company completed 
the sale of Eagle Energy, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Heritage, to RAK Petroleum 
Oman Limited for $28 million, plus a working 
capital adjustment of $0.4 million. 
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On 18 June 2009, the Company completed the 
placing of 25,400,000 new Ordinary Shares at 
a price of £5.20 per share for gross proceeds 
of $216,848,944 (£132,080,000). Share issue 
costs were $11,820,609 (£7,157,379). 

On 26 July 2010, the Company completed 
the disposal of the Ugandan Assets for cash 
consideration of $1.35 billion and an additional 
contractual settlement amount of $100 million.

At 31 December 2010, Heritage had net cash 
of $409.2 million (31 December 2009 – $41.7 
million) (cash and cash equivalents less total 
liabilities) and nil gearing (31 December 
2009 – nil) (net debt as a percentage of total 
shareholders’ equity). 

Creditors’ payment policy
It is the Company and Group’s general 
policy to settle all debts with creditors on 
a timely basis and in accordance with the 
terms of credit agreed with each supplier. 
Average creditor payment days in 2010 were 
approximately 45 days (2009 – 45 days).

p r i m a r y  r i S k S  a n d 
u n c e r ta i n t i e S  fac i n g  
t h e  B u S i n e S S
Heritage’s business, financial standing and 
reputation may be impacted by various risks, 
not all of which are within its control. The 
Group identifies and monitors the key risks 
and uncertainties affecting the Group and 
runs its business in a way that minimises  
the impact of such risks where possible.  
The primary risks to the business include:

Exploration and development expenditures  >
and success rates – the Group has 
experienced management and technical 
teams with a track record of finding 
attractive hydrocarbon discoveries and 
has a diversified portfolio of exploration, 
development and production assets. 
Considerable technical work is undertaken 
to reduce related areas of risk and 
maximise opportunities.
Factors associated with operating in  >
developing countries, political, fiscal and 
regulatory instability – the Group maintains 
close contact with governments in the 
areas within which it operates and, where 
appropriate, invests in community projects. 
Considerable work is undertaken before 
commencing operations in any new  
territory. The Group continually reviews 
fiscal regimes and enters into robust, 
transparent Production Sharing Contracts 
(“PSCs”) or licences.

Title disputes – notwithstanding potential  >
challenges in Kurdistan and Malta, the 
Group believes that it has good title to its 
oil and gas properties. However, the Group 
cannot control or completely protect itself 
against the risk of title disputes or challenges 
and there can be no assurance that claims 
or challenges by third parties against the 
Group’s properties will not be asserted at 
a future date. Naturally, the Group strives 
to employ the best internal and advisory 
knowledge available to help to minimise this 
risk associated with its activities.
Oil and gas sales volumes and prices –  >
whilst not under the direct control of 
the Company, a material movement in 
commodity prices could impact on the 
Group. The Group did not hedge oil prices 
in 2010.
Loss of key employees – remuneration  >
packages are regularly reviewed to ensure 
key executives and senior management are 
properly remunerated. Long-term incentive 
programmes have been established.
Foreign exchange exposure – generally,  >
it is the Group’s policy to conduct and 
manage its business in US dollars, which 
is its reporting currency. Cash balances in 
Group subsidiaries are primarily held in US 
dollars but small amounts may be held in 
other currencies in order to meet immediate 
operating or administrative expenses or to 
comply with local currency regulations.

Further details on risks and how the Company 
mitigates them are disclosed in the Annual 
Review on pages 36 to 39.

i n t e r n a l  c o n t r o l S 
A system of internal controls was designed 
and tailored to ensure key risks are addressed 
appropriately and to provide assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and preparation of financial statements. Risk 
and internal controls are assessed continually. 
See the separate Corporate Governance 
Report for further details. One weakness 
identified in its financial procedures reporting 
concerns accounting for complex transactions 
and the Company ensures that it seeks third 
party advice to mitigate this weakness. 

As part of the internal controls, all 
transactions with related parties are identified, 
scrutinised and disclosed in the financial 
statements appropriately. 

Heritage maintains insurance policies in 
accordance with industry standards. Heritage 
believes that the level of insurance cover it 

maintains is adequate based on various factors 
such as the cost of the policies, industry 
standard practice and the risks associated 
with the exploration and development of oil 
and gas properties in the countries in which 
it operates. Heritage does not insure against 
political risk and, therefore, shareholders 
have full exposure to the risks and rewards of 
investing in its territories.

Heritage maintains detailed financial  
models which allows the Company to plan 
future operating and capital activities  
in an efficient manner. 

pau l  at h er to n
c h i ef  f i n a n c i a l  o ff i c er
18  a pr i l  2 011
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S tat e m e n t  o f  d i r e c t o r S ’  r e S p o n S i B i l i t i e S

The statement below explains the Directors’ responsibility for 
preparation of the 2010 Annual Report and Accounts.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and 
Accounts for the Group in accordance with applicable Jersey law  
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law they are required 
to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted  
by the European Union (“EU”) and applicable law.

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRS as 
adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the Group 
and the performance for that period.

In preparing the financial statements the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; >
present information, including accounting policies, in a manner  >
that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable 
information;
provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific  >
requirements in IFRS is insufficient to enable users to understand 
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions 
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance;
state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as  >
adopted by the EU; and
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless,  >
having assessed the ability of the Company to continue as a going 
concern, it is inappropriate to presume the Company will continue 
in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that its 
financial statements comply with the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 
(as amended) (the “Jersey Companies Law”). They have general 
responsibility for taking such steps, as are reasonably open to them,  
for safeguarding the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law, regulations and listing rule requirements, 
the Directors are also responsible for the preparation of a Directors’ 
Report, Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity  
of the statutory and audited information on the Company’s website 
www.heritageoilplc.com. Jersey legislation and United Kingdom 
regulation, governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements, may differ from requirements in other jurisdictions.

r e S p o n S i B i l i t y  S tat e m e n t  o f  t h e  d i r e c to r S
We confirm on behalf of the Board that to the best of our knowledge: 

a) the financial statements prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company  
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole; and 

b) the management report (which is incorporated within the Annual 
Review and the separate Corporate Social Responsibility Report) 
includes a fair review of the development and performance of 
the business, the position of the Company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a 
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

g o i n g  c o n c e r n
After making due enquiries, the Directors have made an informed 
judgement at the time of approving the Financial Statements, that there 
is a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In 
making this assessment they have considered the Company and 
Group budgets, the cash flow forecasts and reviewed the availability of 
banking facilities. For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

For and on behalf of the Board 

m i c h a e l  J .  h i B B e r d  
c h a i r m a n   

pau l  at h e r to n
c h i e f  f i n a n c i a l  o f f i c e r
18  a p r i l  2 0 11



Financial Statements 2010
h e r i ta g e  o i l  p l c

0 7

i n d e p e n d e n t  a u d i t o r s ’  r e p o r t  
t o  t h e  m e m b e r s  o f  h e r i ta g e  o i l  p l c

We have audited the Group financial statements of Heritage Oil Plc for the 
year ended 31 December 2010, which comprise the Consolidated Income 
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related notes on pages 
8 to 35 within this Financial Statements Report. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU.

In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Directors have 
engaged us to audit the information in the Directors’ Remuneration  
Report within the separate Corporate Governance Report that is  
described as having been audited, which the Directors have decided to 
prepare (in addition to that required to be prepared) as if the Company  
were required to comply with the requirements of Schedule 8 to the 
Companies Act 2006 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and  
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008 No. 410).

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and, in 
respect of the separate opinion in relation to the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report and reporting as if the Company were required to comply with the 
Listings Rules applicable to companies incorporated in the UK, on terms 
that have been agreed. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditors’ report and, in respect of the separate opinion 
in relation to the Directors’ Remuneration Report and reporting as if the 
Company were required to comply with the Listing Rules applicable to 
companies incorporated in the UK, those matters that we have agreed to 
state to them in our report, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out 
on page 6 of this Financial Statements Report, the Directors are responsible 
for the preparation of Group financial statements which give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with 
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the Company’s 2010 Annual 
Report and Accounts (which comprises four documents: Annual Review, 
Corporate Governance Report, Corporate Social Responsibility Report and 
Financial Statements Report) to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements:

give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU,  >
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2010, and its profit 
for the year ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Jersey)  >
Law 1991.

Emphasis of matter – uncertain outcome of tax dispute
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, 
we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in note 6 to the 
Group financial statements concerning the dispute as to whether or not 
tax is payable on the disposal of the Group’s interest in Uganda. In this 
respect, based on advice received, the Directors believe that the amounts 
on deposit ($121,477,000) and held in escrow ($283,603,000) shown in 
the consolidated balance sheet will be recovered. However, the ultimate 
outcome of the matter is uncertain and it may be some considerable time 
before the issue is resolved.

Opinion on other matters under the terms of our engagement 
In our opinion:

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report within the separate  >
Corporate Governance Report which we were engaged to audit has been 
properly prepared in accordance with schedule 8 to the Companies Act 
2006 The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008, as if those requirements were to apply to 
the Company.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and the terms of our engagement 
we are required to report to you, if, in our opinion:

proper accounting records have not been kept by the Company; or >
proper returns adequate for our audit have not been received from  >
branches not visited by us; or
the Company’s accounts and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration  >
Report within the separate Corporate Governance Report which we were 
engaged to audit are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for  >
our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

the part of the Corporate Governance Statement in the separate  >
Corporate Governance Report relating to the Company’s compliance 
with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code specified for 
our review.

In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Directors have 
engaged us to review certain other disclosures as if the Company were 
required to comply with the Listings Rules applicable to companies 
incorporated in the UK. Under the terms of our engagement we are required 
to review:

the Directors’ statement, set out on page 9 of the separate Corporate  >
Governance Report, in relation to going concern; and
certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on   >
Directors’ Remuneration.

Jimmy Daboo
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants and Recognised Auditor
18 April 2011
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        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Revenue  
Petroleum        5,015 2,705

Expenses  
Petroleum operating        (2,055) (1,493)
Production tax        (2,609) (1,304)
General and administrative (note 22)       (29,785) (18,677)
Aborted acquisition expenses        – (7,142)
Depletion, depreciation and amortisation       (2,111) (1,710)
Exploration expenditures (note 2e)        (2,818) (202)
Impairment of intangible exploration assets (note 10)      (10,535) –
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 11)      (1,854) (2,933)

Operating loss        (46,752) (30,756)

Finance income (costs)  
Interest income        2,967 564
Other finance costs (note 7)        (2,970) (4,329)
Impairment of investment in unlisted securities       – (2,353)
Foreign exchange gains/(losses)        1,830 (1,010)
Unrealised gain on other financial assets (note 12)       896 1,047

         2,723 (6,081)

Loss from continuing operations before tax       (44,029) (36,837)

Income tax expense (note 8)        (197) –

Loss from continuing operations after tax       (44,226) (36,837)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations (note 6)      1,267,211 (2,510)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company      1,222,985 (39,347)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Profit /(loss) for the year        1,222,985 (39,347)
Other comprehensive loss  
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (note 19)     (124) (595)
Cumulative gains on available for sale investments transferred to income statement on impairment of investments  – (168)

Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax       (124) (763)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year       1,222,861 (40,110)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company         1,222,861 (40,110)

Net loss per share from continuing operations (dollars)  
Basic        (0.15) (0.13)
Diluted        (0.30) (0.13)

Net earnings/(loss) per share from discontinued operations (dollars)  
Basic        4.40 (0.01)
Diluted        3.70 (0.01)

Net earnings/(loss) per share (dollars)  
Basic        4.25 (0.14)
Diluted        3.57 (0.14)

The total comprehensive income for the year of $1,222,861,000 (2009 loss – $40,110,000) includes income of $1,267,211,000 (2009 loss – $2,510,000) 
from discontinued operations (note 6).

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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        2010  2009 
        $’000 $’000

ASSETS  
Non-current assets  
Intangible exploration and evaluation assets (note 10)      183,424 121,278
Property, plant and equipment (note 11)       101,993 59,298
Other financial assets (note 12)        2,050 1,154

         287,467 181,730

Current assets  
Inventories        97 13
Prepaid expenses        746 568
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale       – 163,415
Trade and other receivables (note 13)       20,240 2,204
Deposit with URA (note 6)         121,477 –
Restricted cash (note 6)        283,603 –
Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)        598,275 208,094

         1,024,438 374,294

         1,311,905 556,024

LIABILITIES  
Current liabilities  
Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale      – 12,559
Current tax liabilities (note 8)        197 –
Trade and other payables (note 15)        54,083 23,277
Borrowings (note 16)        896 616

         55,176 36,452

Non-current liabilities  
Borrowings (note 16)        133,515 129,554
Provisions (note 17)        389 355

         133,904 129,909

         189,080 166,361

Net assets        1,122,825 389,663

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY  
Share capital (note 18)        460,280 460,280
Reserves        86,678 82,547
Retained earnings/(deficit)        575,867 (153,164)

         1,122,825 389,663

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Year ended 31 December 2010

     Foreign    Equity 
     currency  Share-based Retained portion of 
    Share translation  payments earnings/ convertible Total 
    Capital reserve  reserve (deficit) debt equity 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2010    460,280 (816) 58,714 (153,164) 24,649 389,663

Total comprehensive income for the year       
Profit for the year    – – – 1,222,985 – 1,222,985
Other comprehensive loss       
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  – (124) – – – (124)
Total other comprehensive loss    – (124) – – – (124)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year   – (124) – 1,222,985 – 1,222,861

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity       
Contributions by and distributions to owners       
Dividends to shareholders    – – – (451,537) – (451,537)
Pass-through dividend to Bondholders   – – – (42,417) – (42,417)
Share-based payment transactions and exercise of share options  – – 4,255 – –  4,255

Total transactions with owners    – – 4,255 (493,954) – (489,699)

Balance at 31 December 2010    460,280 (940) 62,969 575,867 24,649 1,122,825

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Year ended 31 December 2009

      Available- 
    Foreign for-sale   Equity 
    currency revaluation Share-based  portion of 
   Share translation investments payments Retained convertible Total 
   Capital reserve   reserve reserve deficit debt equity 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2009   218,284 (221) 168 54,565 (113,817) 30,642 189,621

Total comprehensive income for the year       
Loss for the year   – – – – (39,347) – (39,347)
Other comprehensive loss       
Exchange differences on translation  

of foreign operations   – (595) – – – – (595)
Cumulative gains on available-for-sale investments  

transferred to income statement on  
impairment of investments.   – – (168) – – – (168)

Total other comprehensive loss   – (595) (168) – – – (763)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  – (595) (168) – (39,347) – (40,110)

Transactions with owners, recorded  
directly in equity       

Contributions by and distributions to owners       
Issue of shares, net   205,028 – – – – – 205,028
Issue of shares on conversion of Bonds  34,200 – – – – (5,993) 28,207
Share-based payment transactions and exercise  

of share options (note 18)   2,768 – – 4,149 – –  6,917

Total transactions with owners   241,996 – – 4,149 – (5,993) 240,152

Balance at 31 December 2009   460,280 (816) – 58,714 (153,164) 24,649 389,663

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities  
Net loss from continuing operations for the year       (44,226) (36,837)
Items not affecting cash  

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation       2,111 1,710
Finance costs – accretion expenses       998 4,163
Foreign exchange gains        (289) (1,333)
Share-based compensation        3,169 3,207
Gain on other financial assets        (896) (1,047)
Impairment of intangible exploration assets       10,535 –
Impairment of property, plant and equipment       1,854 2,933
Impairment of investment in unlisted securities       – 2,353
Increase in trade and other receivables       (1,124) (333)
(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses       (178) 97
(Increase)/decrease in inventory        (84) 317
Increase in trade and other payables       6,953 4,092

Increase in tax payable        197 –

Continuing operations        (20,980) (20,678)
Discontinued operations (note 6)        (300) –

         (21,280) (20,678)
Investing  
Exercise of third party back-in rights for Miran (note 10)      – 6,738
Property, plant and equipment expenditures       (46,946) (3,890)
Intangible exploration expenditures        (50,284) (49,643)

         (97,230) (46,795)
Discontinued operations  
Consideration on disposal (note 6)        1,450,000 28,199
Transaction related expenses and other        (17,397) –
Increase in deposit with URA (note 6)       (121,477) –
Property, plant and equipment expenditures and intangible exploration expenditures (note 6)    (21,735) (50,613)
Increase in restricted cash (note 6)        (283,603) –

         908,558 (69,209)

Financing   
Shares issued for cash        – 216,849
Shares issued for cash, proceeds from exercise of options      – 1,647
Shares issue costs        – (11,821)
Payment of Bondholder consent fees (note 16)       (2,378) –
Distribution to shareholders        (451,537) –
Pass through dividend to Bondholders       (42,417) –
Repayment of long-term debt        (823) (604)

         (497,155) 206,071

Increase in cash and cash equivalents       390,123 116,184
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year       208,094 90,620
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on cash held in foreign currency      58 1,290

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year       598,275 208,094

Non-cash investing and financing activities (note 24)  
Supplementary information
The following have been included within cash flows for the year under operating and investing activities  

Interest received        2,298 593
Interest paid        10,473 11,738

Aborted acquisition expenses        800 6,342

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1  r e p o r t i n g  e n t i t Y
Heritage Oil Plc (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Jersey 
Companies Law on 6 February 2008 as Heritage Oil Limited. The 
Company changed its name to Heritage Oil Plc on 18 June 2009. 
Its primary business activity is the exploration, development and 
production of petroleum and natural gas in Africa, the Middle East 
and Russia. The Company was established in order to implement a 
corporate reorganisation of HOC.

These consolidated financial statements include the results of the 
Company and all subsidiaries over which the Company exercises 
control. The Company together with its subsidiaries are referred to as 
the Group. The key subsidiaries consolidated within these financial 
statements include inter alia Heritage Oil Corporation, Heritage 
Oil & Gas Limited , Eagle Energy (Oman) Limited (disposed in 
2009 (note 6)), Heritage Oil and Gas (U) Limited, Heritage Energy 
Middle East Limited, Heritage DRC Limited, Coatbridge Estates 
Limited, ChumpassNefteDobycha, Neftyanaya Geologicheskaya 
Kompaniya, Heritage Mali Block 7 Limited, Heritage Mali Block 11 
Limited, Begal Air Limited, Heritage Oil & Gas Holdings Limited, 
Eagle Drill Limited, Heritage Oil & Gas (Switzerland) SA, Heritage 
Oil International Malta Limited, 1381890 Alberta ULC, Heritage Oil 
Cooperatief U.A, Heritage Oil Holdings Limited, Darwin Air Limited, 
Heritage Tanzania Kimbiji-Latham Limited, Heritage Tanzania 
Kisangire Limited, Heritage Oil Tanzania Limited and Heritage Oil 
(UK) Limited.

The financial statements were approved by the Board and authorised 
for issuance on 18 April 2011.

2  s i g n i f i c a n t  ac c o u n t i n g  p o l i c i e s
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies  
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented 
in thousand US dollars unless otherwise stated. US dollars are the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

The Group had available cash of $598 million at 31 December 2010, 
excluding amounts related to the tax dispute with Government. Based 
on its current plans and knowledge, its projected capital expenditure 
and operating cash requirements, the Group has sufficient cash to 
finance its operations for more than 12 months from the date of 
this report. As for most oil and gas exploration companies, Heritage 
raises financing for its activities from time to time using a variety of 
sources. Sources of funding for future exploration and development 
programmes will be derived from inter alia disposal proceeds from the 
sale of assets, such as the sale of the Company’s holdings in Oman in 
2009 and the disposal of the Ugandan Assets in 2010 (note 6), using its 
existing treasury resources, new credit facilities, reinvesting its funds 

from operations, farm-outs and, when considered appropriate, issuing 
debt and additional equity. Accordingly, the Group has a number of 
different sources of finance available and the Directors are confident 
that additional finance will be raised as and when needed. 

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to 
affect its future development, performance and position are set out 
in the Annual Review on pages 21 to 29. The financial position of 
the Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are described in the 
Financial Review on pages 2 to 5 of this report. In addition, note 3 of 
the financial statements includes the Group’s policies and processes  
for managing its capital; its financial risk management; and its 
exposure to foreign exchange risk, commodity price risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in 
note 4.

b) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and 
liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2010 
and 2009 and the results of all subsidiaries for the years then ended.

Subsidiaries are all entities, including special purpose entities over 
which the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting 
rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Company controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
Company. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued 
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is 
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised immediately in the income statement.
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on  
transactions between Group entities (the Company and its subsidiaries) 
are eliminated. For the purposes of consolidation, the accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

c) Segment reporting
The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the 
information that internally is provided to the Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), who are the Group’s chief 
operating decision makers. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s 
operating results are reviewed regularly by the CEO and CFO to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO and CFO include items 
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated 
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate 
assets, corporate offices expenses and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period 
to acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets other 
than goodwill.

d) Joint arrangements
The majority of exploration, development and production activities 
are conducted jointly with others under contractual arrangement and, 
accordingly, the Group only reflects its proportionate interest in such 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

e) Exploration and evaluation expenditures
The Group applies a modified full cost method of accounting for 
exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs, having regard to the 
requirements of IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources”. Under the modified full cost method of accounting, costs of 
exploring for and evaluating oil and gas properties are capitalised on a 
licence or prospect basis and the resulting assets are tested for impairment 
by reference to appropriate cost pools. Such cost pools are based on 
geographic areas and are not larger than a segment. The Group had seven 
cost pools in 2010 (2009 – eight cost pools); Uganda (discontinued in 
2010); Kurdistan; Russia; the DRC; Pakistan; Malta; Mali and Tanzania. 

E&E costs related to each licence/prospect are initially capitalised 
within “Intangible exploration and evaluation assets”. Such E&E costs 
may include costs of licence acquisition, technical services and studies, 
seismic acquisition, exploration drilling and testing, the projected 
costs of retiring the assets, if any, and directly attributable general and 
administrative expenses, but do not include costs incurred prior to 
having obtained the legal rights to explore an area, which are expensed 
directly to the income statement as they are incurred.

Where the Company farms-in to licences and incurs costs in excess 
of its own share of licence costs as consideration, these costs are 
capitalised as its own share.

Tangible assets acquired for use in E&E activities are classified as 
property, plant and equipment; however, to the extent that such a 
tangible asset is consumed in developing an intangible E&E asset, the 
amount reflecting that consumption is recorded as part of the cost of 
the intangible asset.

Intangible E&E assets related to each exploration licence/prospect 
are not depreciated and are carried forward until the existence, or 
otherwise, of commercial reserves has been determined. The Group’s 
definition of commercial reserves for such purpose is proved and 
probable reserves on an entitlement basis.

Proved and probable reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil, 
natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical and 
engineering data demonstrate with a specified degree of certainty (see 
below) to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and 
which are considered commercially producible. There should be a 50% 
statistical probability that the actual quantity of recoverable reserves 
will be more than the amount estimated as proved and probable and a 
50% statistical probability that it will be less. The equivalent statistical 
probabilities for the proven component of proved and probable reserves 
are 90% and 10%, respectively.

Such reserves may be considered commercially producible if 
management has the intention of developing and producing them and 
such intention is based upon:

a reasonable assessment of the future economics of such production; >
a reasonable expectation that there is a market for all or  >
substantially all the expected hydrocarbon production; and
evidence that the necessary production, transmission and  >
transportation facilities are available or can be made available.

Furthermore:

i) Reserves may only be considered proved and probable if 
producibility is supported by either actual production or a 
conclusive formation test. The area of reservoir considered proved 
includes: (a) that portion delineated by drilling and defined by 
gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any, or both; and (b) the 
immediately adjoining portions not yet drilled, but which can 
be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis 
of available geophysical, geological and engineering data. In 
the absence of information on fluid contacts, the lowest known 
structural occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved 
limit of the reservoir.

ii) Reserves which can be produced economically through application 
of improved recovery techniques, such as fluid injection, are only 
included in the proved and probable classification when successful 
testing by a pilot project, the operation of an installed programme 
in the reservoir, or other reasonable evidence (such as, experience 
of the same techniques on similar reservoirs or reservoir simulation 
studies) provides support for the engineering analysis on which the 
project or programme was based.

If commercial reserves have been discovered, the related E&E assets 
are assessed for impairment on a cost pool basis as set out below 
and any impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. The 
carrying value, after any impairment loss, of the relevant E&E assets 
is then reclassified as development and production assets within 
property, plant and equipment.
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E&E assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. 
Such indicators include the point at which a determination is made as 
to whether or not commercial reserves exist. Where the E&E assets 
concerned fall within the scope of an established full cost pool, the 
E&E assets are tested for impairment together with all development 
and production assets associated with that cost pool, as a single cash 
generating unit. The aggregate carrying value is compared against the 
expected recoverable amount of the pool, generally by reference to the 
present value of the future net cash flows expected to be derived from 
production of commercial reserves. Where the E&E assets to be tested 
fall outside the scope of any established cost pool, there will generally 
be no commercial reserves and the E&E assets concerned will be 
written off in full.

f) Property, plant and equipment
i) Development and production assets
The Group had one interest at the development and production stage 
during the years covered by these financial statements: Russia. 

Development and production assets are accumulated on a field-by-field 
basis and represent the cost of developing the commercial reserves 
discovered and bringing them into production, together with  
the E&E expenditures incurred in finding commercial reserves 
transferred from intangible E&E assets as outlined above,  
the projected cost of retiring the assets and directly attributable  
general and administrative expenses.

The net book values of producing assets are depleted on a field-by-
field basis using the unit of production method by reference to the 
ratio of production in the year to the related proved plus probable 
reserves of the field, taking into account estimated future development 
expenditures necessary to bring those reserves into production.

An impairment test is performed whenever events and circumstances 
arising during the development or production phase indicate that the 
carrying value of a development or production asset may exceed its 
recoverable amount. The aggregate carrying value is compared against 
the expected recoverable amount of the cash generating unit, generally by 
reference to the present value of the future net cash flows expected to be 
derived from the production of commercial reserves. The cash generating 
unit applied for impairment test purposes is generally the field, except that 
a number of field interests may be grouped as a single cash generating unit 
where the cash flows generated by the fields are interdependent.

ii) Other assets
Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The assets’ 
useful lives and residual values are assessed on an annual basis. 
Furniture and fittings are depreciated using the reducing balance 
method at 20% per year.

Land is not subject to depreciation.

Aircraft are depreciated over their expected useful life of 60 months. 
Depreciation is charged so as to write-off the cost, less estimated 
residual value of aircraft on a straight-line basis.

Corporate capital assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis  
over their estimated useful lives. The building is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over 40 years with nil residual value. The land is  
not depreciated.

g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at 
call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents 
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

h) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of 
trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables.

i) Inventories
Inventories consist of petroleum, condensate, liquid petroleum gas and 
materials that are recorded at the lower of weighted average cost and 
net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour, 
depletion and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses. Provision is made for obsolete, 
slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

j) Investments
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: 
financial assets at fair value through the income statement and 
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. 
During the years covered by these financial statements the Group did 
not have any investments classified as “loans and receivables” or “held 
to maturity investments”.

i) Financial assets at fair value through the income statement
Financial assets held for trading are carried at fair value with changes 
in fair value recognised in the income statement. A financial asset is 
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short-term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial 
assets at fair value through the income statement” category are 
presented in the income statement within “Unrealised gain/(loss) on 
other financial assets” in the year in which they arise.

ii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable 
equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified. They are included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the balance sheet date. 

n o t e s  t o  c o n s o l i d at e d  f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s
c o n t i n u e d
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Changes in the fair value of monetary securities classified as available-
for-sale (other than impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognised in the income statement) are recognised 
in equity. Upon sale of a security classified as available-for-sale, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in 
the income statement.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired. Measurement is assessed by reference to the fair value of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets.

k) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets, or disposal groups, are classified as assets held 
for sale and stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

Non-current assets, including those that are part of a disposal group 
are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for 
sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal 
group classified as assets held for sale are presented separately, as 
current assets, from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately, 
as current liabilities, from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business 
that represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as 
a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation 
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an 
operation is classified as a discontinued operation, from the 
comparative income statement is represented as if the operation had 
been discontinued from the start of the comparative period.

l) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid.

m) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds are separated into liability and derivative liability 
components (being the Bondholders’ conversion option) and each 
component is recognised separately. On initial recognition, the fair 
value of the liability component of a convertible bond is determined 
using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. 
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis 
using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion 
or maturity of the Bonds. The Company reassesses the classification 

during the life of the convertible bond and reclassifies between 
liabilities and equity when appropriate.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in finance income or costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least  
12 months after the balance sheet date.

n) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset 
are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete 
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing 
costs are expensed.

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs 
to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to the 
Group’s outstanding borrowings during the year. For the year ended  
31 December 2010, this was 13.01% (31 December 2009 – 12.10%).

o) Provisions
Asset retirement obligations
Provision is made for the estimated cost of any asset retirement 
obligations when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses. Asset retirement obligation expense is capitalised in 
the relevant asset category unless it arises from the normal course of 
production activities.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best 
estimate of expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present 
value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability.

Subsequent to the initial measurement of the asset retirement 
obligation, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each year to reflect 
the passage of time and changes in the estimated future cash flows 
underlying the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as finance costs whereas changes in the 
estimated future cash flows are added to or deducted from the related 
asset in the current period.

p) Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of petroleum and natural gas is recognised at the 
fair value received or receivable and is recorded when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the product are transferred to the 
buyer. For sales of oil and gas this is usually when legal title passes 
to the external party which occurs on shipment of oil and gas to the 
buyer. Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using 
the effective interest method.
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q) Income taxes
Current income tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable 
profit differs from profit as reported in the income statement because 
it excludes items that are never taxable or deductible as well as those 
that are taxable or deductible in a different period. The Group’s current 
tax assets and liabilities are calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax  
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by  
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax  
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences 
and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.

r) Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s 
consolidated subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates 
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s consolidated financial 
statements are presented in thousand US dollars, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective 
functional currencies of Group entities using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains  
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in  
the income statement.

The results and financial position of all the Company’s consolidated 
subsidiaries (none of which has a functional currency that is the 
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated  
into the presentation currency as follows:

i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated 
at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

ii) income and expenses for each year are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation  
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the  
dates of the transactions); and

iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as either income  
or expense in a separate component of equity.

Foreign currency loans and overdrafts are designated as, and are 
considered to be, hedges of the exchange rate exposure inherent in 
foreign currency net investments and, to the extent that the hedge is 
effective, exchange differences giving rise to changes in the carrying 
value of foreign currency loans are also recognised as income or 
expense directly in equity. All other exchange differences giving rise to 
changes in the carrying value of foreign currency loans and overdrafts 
are recognised in the income statement.

When a foreign operation is sold, a proportionate share of the 
cumulative exchange differences previously recognised in equity are 
recognised in the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale 
where applicable.

s) Share-based compensation plans
The Group applies the fair value method of accounting to all equity-
classified share-based compensation arrangements for both employees 
and non-employees. Compensation costs of equity-classified awards 
to employees are measured at fair value of the awards at the grant date 
and recognised over the periods during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options. The compensation cost is 
charged to the income statement with a corresponding increase in 
equity. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect  
the actual number of share options that vest.

The compensation cost of equity-classified awards to non-employees  
is initially measured at fair value of the awards at the grant date  
and periodically remeasured to fair value until the non-employees’ 
performance is complete, and recognised over the periods during 
which the non-employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
options. The compensation cost is charged to income with a 
corresponding increase to share-based payment reserve. 

Dividends declared but not paid out before exercise of the option are 
recognised only when the exercise price, reduced for the dividends 
declared, becomes a recognised receivable upon exercise. The 
obligation to pay the dividends reduces the unrecognised receivable 
due from the option holder. The dividends are netted against the 
amount with the proceeds from the exercise price and not recognised 
as a separate distribution in equity.

Upon the exercise of the award, consideration received is recognised in 
equity (notes 18).

t) Share capital
Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares are classified as share capital. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

If the Company reacquires its own equity instruments the cost is 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled.

u) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable 
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares outstanding during the financial 
period. The rights of different classes of shares are the same and therefore 
economically equivalent. As such, Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares 
are treated as one class of shares for the earnings per share calculation.

n o t e s  t o  c o n s o l i d at e d  f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s
c o n t i n u e d
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Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination 
of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income tax 
effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential Ordinary Shares and the weighted average number of shares 
assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive 
potential Ordinary Shares.

The if-converted method used in the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share assumes the conversion of convertible securities at the later of the 
beginning of the reported period or issuance date, if dilutive.

v) New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been 
published that are not mandatory for the year ended 31 December 
2010. The Company’s assessment of the impact of these new standards 
and interpretations which have not been adopted is set out below.

i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (not yet endorsed for use in the EU) 
is effective for accounting periods commencing 1 January 2013. 
The expected impact is still being assessed by management, but is 
expected to only impact disclosures of the Group.

ii) IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (endorsed by the EU during 2010) 
was revised by the IASB in 2009 and is effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The changes 
introduced relate mainly to disclosure requirements for government-
related entities, and the definition of a related party, and are  
not expected to have a significant impact on the disclosures  
of the Group. 

iii) The amendments to IAS 32 “Classification of Rights Issues” 
(endorsed by the EU in 2009) and IFRS 7 “Disclosures – Transfer of 
Financial Assets” and IAS 12 “Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 
Assets” (not yet endorsed by the EU) are effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010, 1 July 2011 and  
1 January 2012 respectively. They are not expected to have a 
significant impact upon the Group’s net results, net assets  
or disclosures.

iv) Improvements to IFRS (endorsed by the EU in February 2011) was 
issued in May 2010 and contains amendments to several individual 
accounting standards which are effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011. None of the 
amendments are expected to have a significant impact upon the 
Group’s net results, net assets or disclosures.

The following IFRIC amendments and interpretations have been issued 
but are not yet adopted by the Group:

 Amendments to IFRIC 14 “Prepayments of a Minimum Funding  >
Requirement”. 
 IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity  >
Instruments”.

The amendments and interpretations are effective for accounting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011 and 1 July 2010 
respectively. None of the amendments or interpretations are expected 
to have a significant impact upon adoption. There is no impact 
expected from any other standards that are available for early adoption 
but that have not been adopted.

3  r i s k  m a n ag e m e n t
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise 
as a result of its exploration, development, production and financing 
activities. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

a) Financial risk management
i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when transactions and recognised assets 
and liabilities of the Group entity concerned are denominated in a 
currency that is not the Company’s functional currency. The Group 
operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from currency exposures to the US dollar.

There are no forward exchange rate contracts in place at, or subsequent 
to, 31 December 2010.

At 31 December 2010, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened/
weakened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held 
constant, the loss from continuing operations for the year would have 
been $8,000 (31 December 2009 – $536,000) higher/(lower), mainly 
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Canadian 
dollar-denominated general and administrative expenses and cash  
in bank.

At 31 December 2010, if the Russian rouble had strengthened/weakened 
by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 
the loss from continuing operations for the year would have been 
$(761,000) (31 December 2009 – $(557,000) higher/(lower), mainly as a 
result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Russian rouble-
denominated cash in bank and monetary assets and liabilities.

At 31 December 2010, if the GB pound sterling had strengthened/
weakened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held 
constant, the loss from continuing operations for the year would have 
been $611,000 (31 December 2009 – $2,309,000) higher/(lower), mainly 
as a result of GB pound sterling-denominated general and administrative 
expenses and foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of GB pound 
sterling-denominated long-term loan.

At 31 December 2010, if the Swiss franc had strengthened/weakened 
by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, 
the loss from continuing operations for the year would have been 
$728,000 (31 December 2009 –$(300,000) higher/(lower), mainly as 
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of Swiss franc-
denominated cash at bank.

ii) Commodity price risk
The Company is exposed to commodity price risk to the extent that it 
sells its entitlement to petroleum, condensate and liquid petroleum gas 
production on a floating price basis. The Company may consider partly 
mitigating this risk in the future.
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The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the 
relevant oil/condensate/LPG benchmark on the Company’s loss for the 
year. The analysis is based on the assumption that commodity prices 
had increased/decreased by 5% with all other variables held constant:

 Year ended 31 December

  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Brent light crude   120 70 

   120 70

The loss from continuing operations for the year would increase/
decrease as a result of commodity revenues received.

iii) Interest rate risk
The Group had fixed rate convertible bonds in the years under review, 
therefore it was not exposed to interest rate risk with respect to this  
fixed rate borrowing. In January 2005, a wholly owned subsidiary  
of the Company received a sterling denominated loan of £4.5 million  
to refinance the acquisition of a corporate office. Interest on the  
loan was fixed at 6.515% for the first five years and is then variable  
at a rate of Bank of Scotland base rate plus 1.4% (note 16). In October 
2007, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company received a long-term 
loan of $9.45 million with a variable rate of LIBOR plus 1.6% (note 16).  
An increase/decrease of LIBOR by 1% would result in an increase/ 
decrease of the Company’s loss from continuing operations for the  
year by $144,000 (31 December 2009 – $85,000).

iv) Credit risk
All of the Company’s production in 2009 and 2010 was derived from 
Russia. In 2009 and 2010 sales were to a maximum of nine customers.

Trade debtors of the Company are subject to internal credit review to 
minimise the risk of non-payment. The Company does not anticipate 
any default as it transacts with creditworthy counterparties. No credit 
limits were exceeded during the reporting years and management does 
not expect any losses from non-performance by these counterparties. 

The Company is also exposed to credit risk in relation to regular joint 
venture billings which are typically outstanding for one month and in 
relation to its cash balances held with reputable banks.

v) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have sufficient funds to 
meet liabilities. Cash forecasts identifying liquidity requirements of the 
Group are produced quarterly. These are reviewed regularly to ensure 
sufficient funds exist to finance the Company’s current operational and 
investment cash flow requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s cash position 
on the basis of expected cash flow.

The Group had available cash of $598 million at 31 December 2010. 
Based on its current plans and knowledge, its projected capital 
expenditure and operating cash requirements, the Group has sufficient 
cash to finance its operations for more than 12 months from the date of 
this report. 

The Company’s financial liabilities consist of trade and other payables 
and borrowings. Trade and other payables are due within 12 months, 
and borrowings fall due as outlined in notes 15 and 16.

b) Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
Capital consists of share capital and retained earnings/(deficit)  
and reserves.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt 
is calculated as total borrowings (including “borrowings”, “trade 
and other payables”, “liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale”, “current tax liabilities” and “provisions” as shown in the 
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 
capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated balance 
sheet plus net debt.
 Year ended 31 December

  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000

Total borrowings  189,080 166,361
Less cash and cash equivalents (note 14)  (598,275) (208,094)

Net cash  (409,195) (41,733)

Total equity  1,122,825 389,663

Total capital  1,122,825 389,663

Gearing ratio  0% 0%

4   c r i t i c a l  ac c o u n t i n g  e s t i m at e s , 
a s s u m p t i o n s  a n d  J u d g e m e n t s

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, which 
are described in note 2, management makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below:

a) Recoverability of E&E costs
Under the modified full cost method of accounting for E&E costs, certain 
costs are capitalised as intangible assets by reference to appropriate cost 
pools, and are assessed for impairment when circumstances suggest that 
the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable value.

Such circumstances include, but are not limited to:

i) the period for which the entity has the right to explore in the specific 
area has expired during the period, or will expire in the near future, 
and is not expected to be renewed;

ii) substantive expenditure on further exploration for, and evaluation of, 
mineral resources in the specific area is neither budgeted nor planned;

iii) exploration for, and evaluation of, mineral resources in the specific 
area have not led to the discovery of commercially viable quantities 
of mineral resources and the entity has decided to discontinue such 
activities in the specific area; and
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iv) sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in 
the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the 
exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full 
from successful development or by sale.

This assessment involves judgement as to: (i) the likely future 
commerciality of the asset and when such commerciality should be 
determined; (ii) future revenues and costs pertaining to any wider 
cost pool with which the asset in question is associated; and (iii) the 
discount rate to be applied to such revenues and costs for the purpose 
of deriving a recoverable value. Note 10 discloses the carrying amounts 
of the Group’s E&E assets. Consequently, major uncertainties affect the 
recoverability of these costs which is dependent on the Group achieving 
commercial production or the sale of the assets. Note 23 discloses 
contingencies relating to title risks. The Company assessed whether 
these risks are contingencies or indicators of impairment and concluded 
that they are contingencies. There are licences that are due for renewal in 
2011. The Group is confident they will be renewed.

b) Reserve estimates
Estimates of recoverable quantities of proved and probable reserves 
include assumptions regarding commodity prices, exchange rates, 
discount rates, production and transportation costs for future cash 
flows. It also requires interpretation of complex and difficult geological 
and geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, 
shape, depth and quality of reservoirs and their anticipated recoveries. 
The economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate 
reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported 
reserves can impact asset carrying values and the asset retirement 
obligation due to changes in expected future cash flows. Reserves are 
integral to the amount of depletion charged to the income statement 
and the calculation of inventory.

The level of estimated commercial reserves is also a key determinant in 
assessing whether the carrying value of any of the Group’s development 
and production assets has been impaired.

c) Fair value of financial instruments
The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the 
determination of the fair value of financial instruments. Fair values 
have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods:

i) Non-derivative financial instruments
These comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, current 
tax liabilities and trade and other payables. Non-derivative financial 
instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments 
not at fair value through the income statement, any directly attributable 
transaction costs.

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the applicable market rate of interest at 
the reporting date.

ii) Derivatives
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair 
value. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and 
accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and risks of 
the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, 
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative 
would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument 
is not measured at fair value through the income statement.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is based on their listed 
market prices, if available. If a listed market price is not available, then fair 
value is estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual 
forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the 
contract using a risk free interest rate (based on government bonds).

IFRS 7 requires the classification of fair value measurements using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 
the assessments. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 > : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.
Level 2 > : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 > : inputs for the assets or liability are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).
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5  s e g m e n t  i n f o r m at i o n
The Group has a single class of business which is international exploration, development and production of petroleum oil and natural gas. The 
geographical areas are defined by the Company as operating segments in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The Group operates in 
a number of geographical areas based on location of operations and assets, being Russia, the DRC, Kurdistan, Pakistan, Tanzania, Malta, Mali, 
Uganda (discontinued) and Oman (discontinued). The Group’s reporting segments comprise each separate geographical area in which it operates.

  Year ended 31 December 2010

         Depreciation,  
    External Segment Total Total Capital depletion and 
     revenue result assets liabilities additions  amortisation 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Russia    5,015 (1,892) 52,534 1,343 4,878 1,306
DRC    – (1,645) – – 57 –
Kurdistan    – – 130,385 16,595 55,143 –
Pakistan    – – 4,619 75 2,375 –
Tanzania    – (8,890) 22,925 8,376 11,557 –
Mali    – – 3,037 – 1,018 –
Malta    – – 13,778 85 2,613 –
Uganda – discontinued operations    – 1,267,211 – – 23,444 –

Total for reportable segments    5,015 1,254,784 227,278 26,474 101,085 1,306
Corporate    – (31,799) 1,084,627 162,606 42,914 805
Elimination of discontinued operations   – (1,267,211) – – (23,444) –

Total from continuing operations    5,015 (44,226) 1,311,905 189,080 120,555 2,111

  Year ended 31 December 2009

         Depreciation,  
    External Segment Total Total Capital depletion and 
     revenue result assets liabilities additions  amortisation 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Russia    2,705 (1,776) 48,959 572 3,265 762
DRC    – – 1,688 – 81 –
Kurdistan    – (7) 80,612 6,660 37,120 –
Pakistan    – – 1,734 – 53 –
Tanzania    – – 20,402 199 6,904 –
Mali    – – 2,018 – 769 –
Malta    – – 11,111 44 2,457 –
Uganda – discontinued operations    – (1,811) 163,415 12,559 28,487 –
Oman – discontinued operations    – (699) – – 500 –

Total for reportable segments    2,705 (4,293) 329,939 20,034 79,636 762
Corporate    – (35,054) 226,085 146,327 632 948
Elimination of discontinued operations   – 2,510 (163,415) (12,559) (28,987) –

Total from continuing operations    2,705 (36,837) 392,609 153,802 51,281 1,710

The Group’s 2010 revenue of $5,015,000 was from nine Russian based customers. Five customers had purchases for more than 10% of revenue 
($502,000). The total revenue relating to these five customers was $4,629,000. The remaining four customers account for revenue of $386,000.

There have been no changes to the basis of segmentation or the measurement basis for the segment result since 31 December 2009. In 2010, 
an impairment loss relating to Tanzania of $8,890,000 (2009 – nil), the DRC of $1,645,000 (2009 – nil) and corporate of $1,854,000 (2009 – 
$2,933,000) is included in segmental result. 

6  d i s c o n t i n u e d  o p e r at i o n s
Uganda
On 18 December 2009, Heritage announced that the Company and HOGL had entered into a SPA, with Eni for the sale of the Ugandan Assets 
and on 17 January 2010, Tullow exercised its rights of pre-emption. The sale of the Ugandan Assets completed on 26 July 2010; Tullow paid cash 
of $1.45 billion, including $100 million from a contractual settlement, of which Heritage received and retained $1.045 billion. 

The URA contends that income tax is due on the capital gain arising on the disposal and it raised assessments amounting to $404,925,000 prior 
to completion of the disposal. Heritage’s position, based on comprehensive advice from leading legal and tax experts in Uganda, the United 
Kingdom and North America, is that no tax should be payable in Uganda on the disposal of the Ugandan Assets.
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In order to allow the disposal to proceed, the Group agreed with Tullow a mechanism to provide Government with security over the disputed 
amounts through depositing some of the proceeds with the URA and placing a further amount in escrow.

Tullow paid cash consideration of $1.35 billion and an additional contractual settlement amount of $100 million. On closing, Heritage deposited 
$121,477,000 with the URA, amounting to 30% of the disputed tax assessment of $404,925,000. $121,477,000 has been classified as a deposit in 
the balance sheet at 31 December 2010. A further $283,447,000 has been retained in escrow, pursuant to an agreement between HOGL, Tullow 
and Standard Chartered Bank pending resolution between Government and HOGL of the tax dispute. Including accrued interest, an amount of 
$286,603,000 is classified as restricted cash in the balance sheet at 31 December 2010. 

In August 2010, the URA issued a further income tax assessment of $30 million representing 30% of additional contractual settlement amount of 
$100 million. HOGL disputed this assessment and no provision has been made for this amount. There is a tax tribunal ongoing in Uganda, and 
HOGL continues to review options to recover monies held in relation to the Uganda tax dispute, which could include arbitration in London.

Although disputes of this nature are inherently uncertain, the Directors believe that the monies on deposit and held in escrow account will 
ultimately be recovered by Heritage.

As at 31 December 2010, working capital adjustments with respect to the disposal of the Ugandan Assets of $13.6 million was owed by Tullow. 
This was paid in March 2011.

On 15 April 2011, Heritage and its wholly owned subsidiary HOGL received Particulars of Claim filed in the High Court of Justice in England 
by Tullow seeking $313,447,500 for alleged breach of contract as a result of HOGL’s and Heritage’s refusal to reimburse Tullow in relation 
to a payment made by Tullow of $313,447,500 on 7 April 2011 to the URA. Heritage and HOGL believe that the claim has no basis and will 
vigorously and robustly defend it. Heritage and HOGL have also reserved their other rights against Tullow and against Government.

On 15 April 2011, HOGL sent a request to Tullow, as a co-signatory to the escrow account with Standard Chartered Bank, for the release of 
$283,447,000 plus interest to HOGL. HOGL contends that, consequent on Tullow’s admission that its payment of $313,447,500 to the URA has 
discharged HOGL’s alleged tax liability, funds no longer need to be held in escrow.

The results of the Ugandan operations have been classified as discontinued operations. Gain/(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations as at  
31 December 2010 and 2009 is as follows: 
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Gain/(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations       1,267,211 (1,811)

         1,267,211 (1,811)

The following table provides additional information with respect to the discontinued operations amounts included in the balance sheet at  
26 July 2010.
         26 July  
         2010 
         $’000

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Intangible exploration and evaluation assets        181,963

Property, plant and equipment         472

          

Total assets         182,435

 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables         3,105

          3,105

Non-current liabilities 
Provisions         269

          269

Total liabilities         3,374

Net assets         179,061
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6  d i s c o n t i n u e d  o p e r at i o n s  c o n t i n u e d
The profit on disposal of discontinued operations has been derived as follows:
        Year ended  
        31 December 2010 
        $’000

Consideration received 
Sales proceeds including contractual settlement        1,450,000
Working capital adjustments         13,636

Total disposal consideration         1,463,636

Add:

Revenue – transitional services agreement        1,489

Less:  
Carrying amount of net assets sold        (179,061)
Other expenses         (17,421)
Expenses – transitional services agreement        (1,432)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations        1,267,211

              
        Year ended  
        31 December 2010 
        $’000

Cash flow from (used in) discontinued operations:
Net cash used in operating activities         (300)
Net cash from investing activities         1,005,788

Net cash flows from discontinued operations        1,005,488

Oman
On 7 April 2009, the Company completed the sale of Eagle Energy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heritage, to RAK Petroleum Oman Limited for 
$28 million, plus a working capital adjustment of $0.4 million. Eagle Energy holds a 10% interest in Block 8, Oman. 

The effective date of the transaction was 1 January 2009. The cash consideration of $28 million and a working capital adjustment of $0.4 million 
have been received. The Company acquired Eagle Energy, which has a 10% interest in Block 8 offshore Oman, in 1996. Block 8 contains the 
Bukha field which commenced production in 1994 and the West Bukha field which commenced production in February 2009.

The following table provides additional information with respect to the discontinued operations amounts included in the balance sheet at  
7 April 2009.
         7 April  
         2009 
         $’000

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Intangible exploration and evaluation assets        1,051
Property, plant and equipment         27,449

          28,500

Current assets
Accounts receivable         247
Inventories         65

          312

Net assets         28,812
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6  d i s c o n t i n u e d  o p e r at i o n s  c o n t i n u e d
The loss on disposal of discontinued operations has been derived as follows:
         7 April  
         2009 
         $’000

Consideration received 
Sales proceeds         28,000
Working capital adjustments         390

Total disposal consideration         28,390

Less:  
Carrying amount of net assets sold        (28,812)

 Other expenses         (277)

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations        (699)

 
7  ot h e r  f i n a n c e  c o s t s  
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Interest on long-term debt        303 656
Interest on convertible bonds        10,168 11,023
Accretion of convertible debt        5,255 4,111
Accretion of asset retirement obligation       45 52

         15,771 15,842
Amount capitalised        (12,801) (11,513)

Finance costs expensed        2,970 4,329

Finance costs are capitalised in various balance sheet categories.

8  i n c o m e  ta x  e x p e n s e
Recognised in the income statement:
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Current tax expense         197 –

Total tax expense        197 –

Current tax expense relates to the profit on operations of the Group’s UK subsidiary.

The Group did not recognise any income tax in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The Group is subject to income taxes in certain 
territories in which it owns licences or has taxable operations. All of the Group’s operating activities are outside of Jersey. In the UK, the tax 
rate applicable to the Group’s operations is 28%. It is the UK government’s intention to enact legislation which will reduce the main rate of UK 
corporation tax to 24% by 2014.

The Group has available tax deductions of $17,607,000 (31 December 2009 – $23,857,000) and tax losses of $140,376,000 (31 December 2009 
– $125,768,000), of which $103,665,000 expires from 2011 to 2030, and the remaining $36,711,000 (31 December 2009 – $45,128,000) does 
not have an expiry period. No deferred tax assets have been recognised for the benefit of tax deductions and tax losses because realisation of the 
deferred tax assets in the foreseeable future is not sufficiently likely.
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8  i n c o m e  ta x  e x p e n s e  c o n t i n u e d
Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year:
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) for the year        1,223,182  (39,347)
Standard tax rate        0% 0%
Tax on profit/(loss) at standard rate        – –
Effect of higher tax rates in foreign jurisdiction        (5,242) (5,912)
Effective weighted average tax rate        0.43% 15.03%
Change in statutory tax rate        372 604
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes       1,265 1,489
Foreign exchange gains/(losses)        1,675 (686)
Effect of tax losses not recognised        2,127 4,505

Current tax charge        197 –

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:  
Available tax losses and deductions        33,281 31,154

Deferred tax asset (unrecognised)        33,281 31,154

The tax rate applied in respect of foreign jurisdictions is the local tax rate applicable to the nature of the profits arising.

9  s ta f f  c o s t s
The average number of employees (including Directors) and consultants employed/contracted by the Group during the year, analysed by  
category, was:
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009

Jersey        4 3
Canada        5 5
Russia        40 40
Europe        27 27
Uganda        31 48
Kurdistan        20 23
Pakistan        17 –
Tanzania        11 10
Mali        1 –
South Africa        7 8

Total        163 164

The aggregate payroll expenses of those employees (including Executive Directors) and consultants was as follows:
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits       30,117 19,759
Share-based compensation        4,256 5,270

Total employee remuneration        34,373 25,029

Capitalised portion of total remuneration       15,733 10,752

Key management compensation was:
   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits       8,291 6,350
Share-based compensation        2,988 3,355

         11,279 9,705

See note 22 “Related Party Transactions” for disclosures relating to the arbitration settlement with a former director of HOC.
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10  i n ta n g i b l e  e x p lo r at i o n  a n d  e Va l uat i o n  a s s e t s
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

At 1 January        121,278 211,346
Effect of movement in exchange differences       (83) (131)
Exercise of third party back-in rights for Miran       – (6,738)
Additions        72,764 76,371
Disposal of Oman assets        – (1,051)
Impairment loss        (10,535) –
Transfer of assets held for sale        – (158,519)

At 31 December        183,424 121,278

No assets have been pledged as security. 

The balances at the end of the years are as follows:
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Russia        11,151 11,235
DRC        – 1,588
Kurdistan        128,930 73,786
Pakistan        3,988 1,613
Malta        13,641 11,028
Mali        3,013 1,994
Tanzania        22,701 20,034

Balance – end of year        183,424 121,278

In many of the countries in which the Group operates, land title systems are not developed to the extent found in many industrial countries and 
there may be no concept of registered title. The risk of title disputes associated with Kurdistan and Malta is described in note 23.

In 2010, the Group recognised an impairment of intangible exploration and evaluation assets of $10,535,000 (2009 – nil) comprised of two 
elements. Following changes in future plans management decided to write-off expenditure of $1,645,000 incurred with respect to interests in 
Block 1 and 2 in the DRC. After a technical review management decided to write-off expenditure of $8,890,000 incurred with respect to the 
Kisangire and Lukuliro licence areas in Tanzania.

Exercise of third party back-in rights
In April 2009, in accordance with the option outlined in the PSC in Kurdistan, the Kurdistan Regional Government (“KRG”) nominated a third 
party participant in the Miran Block. The Company remains the operator with a 75% working interest in the Miran Block and has received the 
pro rata share of 25% of all past work programme expenditures and the third party pays its share of future costs. The transaction was completed 
upon the receipt of approximately $6.7 million in costs incurred by the Group to 31 January 2009. No gain/loss resulted from this transaction 
and intangible exploration assets reduced by $6.7 million. The KRG and the Group have replaced the agreement under which they had agreed in 
principle (subject to certain conditions which had not been satisfied) to jointly develop a refinery with an agreement under which the Group has 
agreed to make payments of up to $35 million from future oil and gas sales from the licence.
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11  p r o p e r t y,  p l a N t  a N D  e q u i p M e N t
    Petroleum and  Drilling  
    natural gas and barge  Land and  
    interests equipment  buildings Aircraft Other Total 
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost     
At 1 January 2009    71,368 3,545 11,985 12,639 2,685 102,222
Additions    3,265 – – – 632 3,897
Disposals    (31,092) – – – – (31,092)
Effect of movements in exchange rates   (546) – – – – (546)

At 31 December 2009    42,995 3,545 11,985 12,639 3,317 74,481
Additions    4,878 – – 42,850 63 47,791
Disposals    – – – – (60) (60)
Effect of movements in exchange rates   (128) – – – – (128)

At 31 December 2010    47,745 3,545 11,985 55,489 3,320 122,084

Depletion, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses     
At 1 January 2009    (8,519) (2,898) (591) (1,180) (995) (14,183)
Charge for the year    (762) – (139) (524) (285) (1,710)
Impairment losses    – – – (2,933) – (2,933)
Disposals    3,643 – – – – 3,643

At 31 December 2009    (5,638) (2,898) (730) (4,637) (1,280) (15,183)
Charge for the year    (1,307) – – (401) (403) (2,111)
Impairment losses    – – – (1,854) – (1,854)
Disposals    – – – – (943) (943)

At 31 December 2010    (6,945) (2,898) (730) (6,892) (2,626) (20,091)

Net book value:     

At 31 December 2009    37,357 647 11,255 8,002 2,037 59,298

At 31 December 2010    40,800 647 11,255 48,597 694 101,993

The corporate office, which represents the land and building category, and an aircraft serve as security for long-term loans (note 16).

The carrying value of an aircraft was written down to the fair value less cost to sale of $5.9 million ($8.1 million in 2009) because of a reduction 
in fair value of an aircraft due to unfavourable economic conditions. This resulted in an impairment write down of $1.9 million ($2.9 million in 
2009) recognised in the income statement during the year ended 31 December 2010 and 2009. 

12  ot h e r  F i N a N c i a l  a S S e t S
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Investment in warrants         2,050 1,154

         2,050 1,154

The investment in Afren warrants is classified as held for trading. The estimate of the fair value of the warrants is determined using the Black-
Scholes model and relevant market inputs. The fair value measurement of investment in warrants is categorised as Level 2.
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13  t r a d e  a n d  ot h e r  r e c e i Va b l e s
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Trade receivables        8 1
Receivable from the acquirer of the Ugandan Assets on completion of the disposition (note 6)    13,636 –
Other receivables        6,596 2,203

         20,240 2,204

Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the invoice date. Joint ventures billings are typically paid within 30 days from the invoice date. 
Interest is not normally charged on the receivables. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable.

As of 31 December 2010, trade and other receivables of $20,240,000 (31 December 2009 – $2,204,000) were neither past due nor impaired.  
Trade and other receivables relate to a number of independent customers and joint ventures partners for whom there is no recent history of 
default. The ageing analysis of these trade and other receivables is as follows:
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Up to 3 months        19,431 1,800
3 to 6 months        365 133
6 to 12 months        444 271

         20,240 2,204

Trade and other receivables analysed by currency are as follows:
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

US dollars        19,943 1,816
Russian roubles        93 49
Swiss francs        30 63
Canadian dollars        19 214
GB pounds sterling        124 –
Euros        31 62

         20,240 2,204

14  c a s h  a n d  c a s h  e Q u i Va l e n t s
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand        598,275 208,094

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash held in interest-bearing accounts.

15  t r a d e  a n d  ot h e r  paYa b l e s  d u e  W i t h i n  o n e  Y e a r
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $ $

Trade payables        19,525 11,329
Withholding tax accrual        8,271 –
Other payables and accrued liabilities       26,287 11,948

         54,083 23,277

Trade and other payables and accrued liabilities comprise current amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The carrying 
amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.
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16  b o r r o W i n gs
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Non-current borrowings  
Convertible bonds – unsecured        120,468 115,277
Non-current portion of long-term debt       13, 047 14,277

         133,515 129,554

Long-term debt – secured  
Current        896 616
Non-current        13,047 14,277

         13,943 14,893

2007 convertible bonds
On 16 February 2007, the Company raised $165 million by completing the private placement of convertible bonds. Issue costs amounted to 
$6,979,000 resulting in net proceeds of $158,021,000. HOC issued 1,650, $100,000 unsecured convertible bonds at par, which have a maturity 
of five years and one day and an annual coupon of 8% payable semi-annually on 17 August and 17 February of each year. Bondholders have the 
right to convert the Bonds into Ordinary Shares at a price of $4.70 per share at any time. The number of Ordinary Shares receivable on conversion 
of the Bonds is fixed. The Company had the right to redeem, in whole or part, the Bonds for cash at any time on or before 16 February 2008, at 
150% of par value. This right was not exercised. 

The fair value of the host liability component of the Bonds (net of issue costs) was estimated at $140,154,000 on 16 February 2007. The difference 
between the $165 million due on maturity and the initial liability component is accreted using the effective interest rate method and is recorded 
as finance costs. As the Company call option meant that conversion feature could be settled in cash in accordance with IAS 32 the conversion was 
treated as a derivative liability. The fair value of this derivative liability (estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model) was $17,867,000 
at 16 February 2007 and subsequent gains and losses were recorded in finance income and costs up to the expiry of the Company call option on 
17 February 2008. As a result of the expiry of this option, and hence the cash settlement feature, the Company has reassessed the classification of 
the conversion option and determined that it qualifies to be treated as equity under IAS 32, being an option to convert a fixed amount of cash for 
a fixed number of shares. Therefore, the fair value of the conversion option was reclassified to equity at that date.

Bondholders have a put option requiring the Company to redeem the Bonds at par, plus accrued interest, in the event of a change of control of 
the Company or revocation or surrender of the Zapadno Chumpasskoye licence in Russia (the “contingent put option”). In the event of a change 
of control and redemption of the Bonds or exercise of the conversion rights, a cash payment of up to $19,700 on each Bond will be made to a 
Bondholder, the amount of which depends upon the date of redemption and market value of shares at the date of any change of control event.  
The contingent put option has been valued separately. The fair value of the contingent put option has been estimated de minimis by the Company at 
31 December 2010 (31 December 2009 – de minimis). The fair value measurement of the contingent put option is categorised as Level 2.
 
During 2009, Bondholders with $30.9 million of Bonds gave notices of the exercise of the conversion rights on 309 Bonds. These Bondholders 
received 6,574,456 Ordinary Shares (note 18). As a result of this conversion, $28,207,000 was transferred to share capital from convertible bonds 
and accrued liabilities and $5,993,000 was transferred from the equity portion of convertible debt to share capital.

On 18 December 2009, the Company announced it had entered into a SPA for the sale of the Ugandan Assets (note 6). The Company also 
announced that it would consider returning a portion of the disposal proceeds to shareholders through a special dividend on completion of the 
proposed transaction. Under the terms and conditions of the Bonds, the Company was restricted from making or declaring a dividend or making 
any other distributions to its shareholders which constitutes on a consolidated basis more than 30% of its earnings for the immediately preceding 
financial year.

In December 2009, the Company approached Bondholders with the proposal to agree to remove this restriction and to make some other changes 
in the terms and conditions of the Bonds. In considerations the Company proposed to pay to those Bondholders who vote on the proposal the 
sum of $2,000.00 per $100,000 of Bonds held by such Bondholders. The majority of the Bondholders voted in favour of this proposal at a meeting 
on 31 December 2009 and the restriction of making or declaring a dividend or making any other distributions to shareholders has been removed. 
On 15 January 2010, the Company paid $2,378,000 to the Bondholders who voted. In accordance with IAS 39, this amendment to the terms and 
conditions of the Bonds does not constitute a redemption and therefore this amount was offset against the convertible bonds liability and will be 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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16  b o r r o W i n gs  c o n t i n u e d
Long-term debt
In January 2005, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company received a sterling denominated loan of £4.5 million to refinance the acquisition of 
a corporate office. Interest on the loan was fixed at 6.515% for the first five years and is now variable at a rate of Bank of Scotland base rate plus 
1.4%. The loan, which is secured on the property, is scheduled to be repaid by 240 instalments of capital and interest at monthly intervals, subject 
to a residual debt at the end of the term of the loan of $3.5 million (£1.86 million). The principal balance outstanding as at 31 December 2010 was 
$6,030,000 (£3.9 million) (31 December 2009 – $6,574,000 (£4.1 million)).

In October 2007, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company received a loan of $9.45 million to refinance the acquisition of an aircraft. Interest on 
the loan is variable at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.6%. The loan, which is secured on the aircraft, is scheduled to be repaid by 19 consecutive quarterly 
instalments of principal. Each instalment equals $118,000 with the final instalment being $7,218,000. The Corporation provided a corporate 
guarantee to the lender. The additional security of $2,454,000 was paid to the bank on 19 January 2010 to maintain the loan to value ratio 
specified in the loan agreement.

Fair values
At 31 December 2010, the fair values of borrowings were approximately $120.5 million (31 December 2009 – $115.3 million) for the convertible 
bonds, $71.1 million (31 December 2009 – $89.2 million) for the equity/convertible element of the convertible bonds and $13.9 million  
(31 December 2009 – $14.9 million) for the long-term debt.

17  p r o V i s i o n s
The Group’s asset retirement obligation results from net ownership interests in petroleum and natural gas assets including well sites and gathering 
systems. The Group estimates the total undiscounted inflation adjusted amount of cash flows required to settle its asset retirement obligation to 
be approximately $783,000, which is expected to be incurred in the period between 2012 and 2024. A cost pool specific discount rate related to 
the liability of 9% was used to calculate the fair value of the asset retirement obligation in Uganda and Russia (2009 – 9%) and 10% was used in 
Kurdistan in 2010 (2009 – 10%).

A reconciliation of the asset retirement obligation is provided below:
   31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

At 1 January        355 720
Additions        – 117
Settlement        – (239)
Revision (due to farm-in, Kurdistan)        – (38)
Accretion expense (note 7)        45 52
Transferred to disposal group held for sale       – (257)
Disposal        (11) –

At 31 December        389 355

18  s h a r e  c a p i ta l
The Company was incorporated under the Jersey Companies Law on 6 February 2008. The Company’s authorised share capital is an unlimited 
number of Ordinary Shares without par value. At incorporation, there was one Ordinary Share issued at $42. On 22 February 2008, a second 
Ordinary Share was issued at $41.

As part of the Reorganisation described in the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts, the rights of different classes of shares are the same and 
therefore economically equivalent. As such, Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares were treated as one class of shares for the net earnings/(loss) per 
share calculation.

Ordinary Shares   
  Year ended 31 December 2010 Year ended 31 December 2009

      Number Amount Number Amount 
       $’000  $’000

At 1 January      284,842,830 457,697 251,858,374 215,509
Issue of shares      – – 25,400,000 205,028
Exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Ordinary Shares    57,000 49 225,000 192
Issued on exercise of share options (note 21)     – – 785,000 2,768
Issued on conversion of Bonds      – – 6,574,456 34,200

At 31 December      284,899,830 457,746 284,842,830 457,697
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18  s h a r e  c a p i ta l  c o n t i n u e d
Special Voting Share
  Year ended 31 December 2010 Year ended 31 December 2009

      Number Amount Number Amount 
       $’000  $’000

At 1 January      1 – 1 –
Issued during the year      – – – –

At 31 December      1 – 1 –

Exchangeable Shares of HOC each carrying one voting right in the Company
    
  Year ended 31 December 2010 Year ended 31 December 2009

      Number Amount Number Amount 
       $’000  $’000

At 1 January      3,024,108 2,583 3,249,108 2,775
Exchange of Exchangeable Shares for Ordinary Shares    (57,000) (49) (225,000) (192)

At 31 December      2,967,108 2,534 3,024,108 2,583

Balance of Ordinary Shares of the Company and Exchangeable Shares of HOC at 31 December 287,866,938 460,280 287,866,938 460,280

On 18 June 2009, the Company completed the placing of 25,400,000 new Ordinary Shares at a price of £5.20 per share for gross proceeds of 
$216,849,000 (£132,080,000) to the Company. Share issue costs were $11,821,000 (£7,157,000).

Special dividend
On 2 August 2010, Heritage announced the declaration of a special dividend of 100 pence per Ordinary Share of the Company and HOC, 
the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, also announced the declaration of a special dividend of Cdn$1.62 per Exchangeable Share of HOC, 
calculated at an exchange rate of £1.00:Cdn$1.62. The special dividend was paid on 27 August 2010. 

The special dividend resulted in a payment to Bondholders. As disclosed in the announcement of 31 December 2009, certain amendments to 
the terms of the Bonds were approved by Bondholders. Pursuant to such amendments, no adjustments will be made to the Conversion Rights in 
respect of any dividend paid or made by the Company; instead, the Company agreed to pay the holder of each Bond outstanding on the record 
date for such dividend a Pass-through Dividend which is equal to the dividend which would be received by the holder of a number of Ordinary 
Shares equal to the number of Ordinary Shares to which the Bondholder would have been entitled if it had exercised its Conversion Rights on the 
record date of 13 August 2010. 

The aggregate principal amount of Bonds outstanding on the record date was $127,100,000. These Bonds are convertible into 27,043,000 
Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Conversion Rights and accordingly the Company paid to Bondholders a Pass-through Dividend of £27,043,000 
on 27 August 2010.

19  r e s e r V e s 
a) Available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of available-for-sale investments such as equities, classified as available-
for-sale financial assets, are taken to the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve (note 2j). Amounts are recognised in the income 
statement when the associated assets are sold or impaired.

b) Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign controlled entity are included in the foreign currency translation reserve (note 2r).  
The reserve will be recognised in the income statement when the net investment is sold.

c) Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve (note 2s), is used to recognise the fair value of options and LTIP awards issued, but not exercised, to employees.

d) Equity portion of convertible debt
The fair value of the conversion feature of convertible bonds is classified as the equity portion of convertible debt which is included in reserves in 
the balance sheet.
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2 0  e a r n i n gs / ( lo s s )  p e r  s h a r e
The following table summarises the weighted average Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares used in calculating net earnings per share:

   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009

Weighted average Ordinary and Exchangeable Shares  
Basic        287,866,938 273,117,649
Diluted        331,012,512 289,643,434

The reconciling item between basic and diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares is the dilutive effect of share options, LTIP awards 
and convertible bonds. A total of nil options (31 December 2009 – nil), nil shares relating to the LTIP (31 December 2009 – nil) and nil shares 
relating to the convertible bonds (31 December 2009 – 27,042,553) were excluded from the above calculation, as they were anti-dilutive. 
However, since the Company has made a loss in 2009 for the purposes of calculating diluted loss per share, all potential Ordinary Shares have 
been treated as anti-dilutive in that year. In calculation of 2010 loss per share from continuing operations 27,042,553 of shares relating to the 
convertible bonds were excluded from the above calculation, as they were anti-dilutive.

2 1  s h a r e - b a s e d  paY m e n t s
Share options
The Company had a share option plan whereby certain Directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Group have been granted options to 
purchase Ordinary Shares. Under the terms of the plan, options granted normally vest one third immediately and one third in each of the years 
following the date granted and have a life of five years. 

Ordinary Share options outstanding and exercisable:
  Year ended 31 December 2010 Year ended 31 December 2009

      Number Average Number Average 
      of options exercise price of options exercise price 
        (GBP) £  (GBP) £

At 1 January      23,597,010 1.52 24,382,010 1.51
Exercised (note 18)      – – (785,000) 1.29
Balance – end of year      23,597,010 1.52 23,597,010 1.52

Exercisable – at 31 December      23,597,010 1.52 23,597,010 1.52

   Number of options 

         Remaining 
Exercise price (GBP)       Outstanding Exercisable life (years)

£0.48       2,000,000 2,000,000 0.00
£0.81       150,000 150,000 0.48
£1.08–£1.43       17,447,010 17,447,010 0.95
£2.45–£2.51       4,000,000 4,000,000 1.93

        23,597,010 23,597,010 1.03

Following the payment of a special dividend of 100 pence per share in August 2010 (see note 18), share options holders are entitled to receive £1 
per share when an option is exercised. 

Heritage was in blackout period during 2010 and so share option holders could not exercise their share options. In accordance with the terms of 
share option plan, the expiry date of 2,000,000 options which were scheduled to expire in 2010 has been extended and the options have been 
treated as outstanding and exercisable.
  
Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
On 19 June 2008, shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company approved the 2008 LTIP. Under the terms of the plan, the 
LTIP awards will be in the form of full-value shares (Performance Shares), subject to performance and time-vesting conditions. Eligible employees 
will normally be considered by the Remuneration Committee for an award once each year. Awards made to the Executive Directors of the 
Company under the LTIP are called First Awards. Participants in the First Award, however, will not be entitled to any further awards until the 2011 
financial year. Awards will normally be made during the period of 42 days following the announcement of year end or half-year financial results. 
Exceptionally, the First Awards under the plan on 19 June 2008, were permitted to be made within 42 days following approval of the LTIP at the 
June 2008 AGM. 
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2 1  s h a r e - b a s e d  paY m e n t s  c o n t i n u e d
The plan is intended to apply to Executive Directors and other employees in senior management or leadership roles. By exception, other higher 
performing and high potential employees may be considered for awards. Participants in the LTIP are not entitled to any further awards under the 
2008 Scheme.

The vesting of shares under award are subject to performance conditions agreed by the Remuneration Committee when the award is made. 
For the First Awards made in 2008 the performance conditions are the relative Total Shareholder Returns (“TSR”) (capital gain plus dividends) 
performance of the Company versus that of a comparator group of international oil companies and a requirement for the share price of the 
Company to have increased by 20% over the vesting period of three years. Furthermore, there is an additional holding period of one year 
following the awards vesting. 

The Remuneration Committee, in consultation with executive reward consultants, approved grants of shares to Executive Directors, senior 
management and other employees in leadership roles under the LTIP. The maximum annual, individual award for participants who are not 
Executive Directors is 250% of base package (expressed as the “face value” of the shares). The First Award to the Executive Directors is 1,200%  
of base package for the CEO and 800% of base package for the CFO. 

The First Awards vest after three years provided that the performance conditions are met. The awards granted to senior management and other 
employees in leadership roles are in three tranches that vest after three, four and five years respectively, provided that the performance condition 
is met at that time.

The awards will vest in line with the following schedule:
       Senior management 
       and other employees 
       in leadership 
      First Awards role awards 
TSR performance versus comparator group of 18 companies     proportion vesting  proportion vesting

3rd place and above      100% of the award 100% of the award
4th place      80% 100%
5th place      50% 100%
6th place      30% 100%
7th place and below      0% 100%
9th place (median)      0% 100%
10th place and below       0% 0%

TSR is measured in comparison to a peer group of 18 oil companies selected based on one of or a combination of size (market capitalisation, 
revenue, turnover, cash expenditure or a combination thereof), area of operations and country of domicile. The TSR measurement is conducted 
by independent consultants in discussion with the Remuneration Committee. 

Since there are market-related conditions the awards of the shares under LTIP were fair valued using the Monte Carlo model which takes into 
account the market-based performance conditions which effectively estimate the number of shares expected to vest. No subsequent adjustment 
is made to the fair value charge for shares that do not vest in the event that these performance conditions are not met. Adjustments are, however, 
made for leavers. The fair value of the awards is recognised as an employee expense with the corresponding increase in equity. The total amount 
to be expensed is spread over the vesting period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares and options. 

The table below summarises the main assumptions used to fair value the awards made under the above LTIP and the fair values of the  
shares granted.

      First Awards 
Award date      19 June 2008 19 June 2008 19 June 2008 19 June 2008

Vesting period      3 3 4 5
Exercise price      nil nil nil nil
Share price at date of grant      £3.45 £3.45 £3.45 £3.45
Expected volatility      40% 40% 40% 40%
Expected dividend yield      0% 0% 0% 0%
Fair value as at grant date      £1.55 £2.49 £2.61 £2.70
Number of shares granted      3,507,246 473,061 473,061 473,061

The share-based payment recognised with respect to share options and LTIP awards previously granted, in the year ended 31 December 2010 was 
$4,255,000 (31 December 2009 – $5,270,000) out of which $1,086,000 (31 December 2009 – $2,063,000) was capitalised.
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2 2  r e l at e d  pa r t Y  t r a n s ac t i o n s
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company incurred transportation costs of $93,000 (31 December 2009 – $270,000) with respect 
to the services provided by a company indirectly owned by Mr. Anthony Buckingham, CEO and a Director of the Company.

In 2010, the Company accrued $7.7 million in general and administrative expenses, in relation to an arbitration settlement to a former director of 
HOC whose services were terminated in 2006. Further arbitration proceedings have been initiated by this individual.

2 3  c o m m i t m e n t s  a n d  c o n t i n g e n c i e s
Heritage’s net share of outstanding contractual commitments at 31 December 2010 was estimated at:

      Less than   After 
     Total 1 year 1–3 years 4–5 years 5 years 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Long-term debt, including interest     15,569 930 8,327 615 5,697
Convertible bonds, including interest    142,394 13,957 128,437 – –

      157,963 14,887 136,764 615 5,697
Effect of interest     (16,793) (14,221) (1,691) (197) (684)

Total repayments of borrowings     141,170 666 135,073 418 5,013

Operating leases     7,420 476 672 672 5,600
Work programme obligations1     106,489 19,955 66,534 20,000 –

Total contractual obligations     113, 909 20,431 67,206 20,672 5,600

 
1  Work programme obligation includes minimum required financial commitments for the Group to fulfil the requirements of licences and production sharing contracts. 

The Company may have a potential residual obligation to satisfy any shortfall in officers’ and former officers’ secured real estate borrowings in the 
event of default, a shortfall on the proceeds from the disposal of the properties and the individuals being unable to repay the balance. The value of 
the residual obligation was estimated as insignificant.

In many of the countries in which the Group operates, land title systems are not developed to the extent found in many industrial countries 
and there may be no concept of registered title. Although the Group believes that it has title to its oil and gas properties, it cannot control or 
completely protect itself against the risk of title disputes or challenges. There can be no assurance that claims or challenges by third parties against 
the Group’s properties will not be asserted at a future date. 

The Group received a letter from the Iraq Ministry of Oil dated 17 December 2007 stating that the PSC signed with the KRG without the prior 
approval of the Iraqi government is considered to be void by the Iraqi government as they have stated it violates the “prevailing Iraqi law”.  
The Directors believe that the PSC is valid and effective pursuant to the applicable laws. 

The Group received a letter from the Chairman of the Management Committee of the National Oil Company of Libya dated 28 February 2008 
stating that the Block 7 licence area lies within the Libyan continental shelf and a portion of this area has already been licensed to Sirte Oil 
Company. This letter also demands that the Group refrain from any activities over, or concerning, the Block 7 licence area and asserts the Libyan 
government’s right to invoke Libyan and international law to protect its rights in the Block 7 licence area. The Directors believe that the Libyan 
government’s claims are unfounded.

24  n o n - c a s h  i n V e s t i n g  a n d  f i n a n c i n g  ac t i V i t i e s  s u p p l e m e n ta r Y  i n f o r m at i o n

   Year ended 31 December

        2010 2009 
        $’000 $’000

Capitalised portion of share-based compensation       (1,086) (2,063)

Capitalised portion of interest        (12,801) (11,513)

Non-cash property, plant and equipment additions relating to the capitalised portion of share-based compensation  13,887 13,576
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f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s  g l o s s a r Y

$  US dollars unless otherwise stated
a f r e n  Afren plc
a p i  a specific gravity scale developed by the American Petroleum Institute for measuring the relative
 density of various petroleum liquids, expressed in degrees
b b l / b b l s  barrel
b c f  billion cubic feet
b o e  barrels of oil equivalent1

b o e / d  o r  b o e d  barrels of oil equivalent per day
b o n d s  $165,000,000 8.00% convertible bonds due 2012
b b l s / d  o r  b o p d  barrels of oil per day 
c e o  Chief Executive Officer
c f o  Chief Financial Officer
c o m pa n Y  Heritage Oil Plc
c o n d e n s at e  low density, high API hydrocarbon liquids that are present in natural gas fields where it
 condensates out of the raw gas if the temperature is reduced to below the hydrocarbon dew
 point temperature of the raw gas
c o n V e r s i o n  r i g h t s  conversion rights under the terms of the Bond
d r c  the Democratic Republic of Congo 
e p s  Earnings per share 
e & e  exploration and evaluation
e n i  ENI International B.V. 
e ag l e  e n e r g Y  Eagle Energy (Oman) Limited
e u  European Union
g e n e l  e n e r g Y  Genel Energy International Limited
g o V e r n m e n t  Government of Uganda
h o c  o r  c o r p o r at i o n   Heritage Oil Corporation, incorporated in Canada and a wholly owned subsidiary  
 for the Company
i f r s  International Financial Reporting Standards
h o g l  Heritage Oil & Gas Limited
J e r s e Y  c o m pa n i e s  l aW  Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 (as amended) 
k r g  Kurdistan Regional Government
k u r d i s ta n  Kurdistan Region of Iraq
l s e  London Stock Exchange
lt i p  Long Term Incentive Plan
p s a  o r  p s c  production sharing agreement or production sharing contract
pa s s -t h r o u g h  d i V i d e n d   special dividend paid to Bondholders
s e a d r ag o n  SeaDragon Offshore Limited
s pa  Sale and Purchase Agreement
tc f  trillion cubic feet
t s r  Total Shareholder Return
t u l lo W  Tullow Uganda Limited
u g a n da n  a s s e t s  HOGL’s 50% interests in Blocks 1 and 3A in Uganda
u r a  Uganda Revenue Authority

1  boes may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf: 1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner 
tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead.

c o n V e r s i o n  ta b l e 
The following table sets forth standard conversions from Standard Imperial Units to the International System of Units (or metric units). 

To convert from        To Multiply by

boe        mcf 6
mcf        cubic metres 28.174
cubic metres        cubic feet 35.494
bbls        cubic metres 0.159
cubic metres        bbls oil 6.290
feet        metres 0.305
metres        feet 3.281
miles        kilometres 1.609
kilometres        miles 0.621
acres        hectares 0.405



Heritage Oil Plc is an independent oil and gas 
exploration company with a Premium Listing on the 
London Stock Exchange (“LSE”) (symbol HOIL). 
The Company is a member of the FTSE 250 Index. 
The Company has Exchangeable Shares listed on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) (symbol HOC) 
and the LSE (symbol HOX).

The Company has exploration assets in the 
Kurdistan Region of Iraq (“Kurdistan”), Malta, 
Tanzania, Mali and the Democratic Republic of 
Congo (the “DRC”) and a producing asset in Russia.
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c o m pa n y  s e c r e ta r y   
Woodbourne Secretaries (Jersey) Limited
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road 
St Helier JE4 8PW Jersey
Channel Islands

r e g i s t e r e d  o f f i c e  o f  
t h e  c o m pa n y 
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road
St Helier JE4 8PW Jersey
Channel Islands

h e a d  o f f i c e  a n d  d i r e c to r s’ 
B u s i n e s s  a d d r e s s   
Fourth Floor
Windward House
La Route de la Liberation
St Helier JE2 3BQ Jersey
Channel Islands

u K  o f f i c e  o f  t h e  c o m pa n y  
34 Park Street
London W1K 2JD
United Kingdom

B r o K e r  a n d  f i n a n c i a l 
a d v i s e r s   
J.P. Morgan Securities Limited
10 Aldermanbury
London EC2V 7RF
United Kingdom

e n g l i s h  l e g a l  a d v i s e r s  
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
McCarthy Tétrault
Registered Foreign Lawyers & Solicitors
125 Old Broad Street, 26th Floor
London EC2N 1AR
United Kingdom

J e r s e y  l e g a l  a d v i s e r s 
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
Mourant Ozannes
22 Grenville Street
St Helier JE4 8PX Jersey
Channel Islands

c a n a d i a n  l e g a l  a d v i s e r s  
to  t h e  c o m pa n y  
McCarthy Tétrault LLP
Suite 3300
421–7th Avenue SW
Calgary Alberta
T2P 4K9
Canada

au d i to r s  o f  t h e  c o m pa n y
KPMG Audit Plc
15 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5GL
United Kingdom

r e g i s t r a r s  o f  t h e  c o m pa n y
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Ltd
Queensway House
Hilgrove Street
St Helier JE1 1ES Jersey
Channel Islands

p r i n c i pa l  B a n K e r s  o f  
t h e  c o m pa n y
Standard Bank (Europe)
Barclays Bank
Bank of Scotland (Europe)
Investec

i n d e p e n d e n t  p e t r o l e u m 
e n g i n e e r i n g  c o n s u lta n t s 
to  t h e  c o m pa n y   
RPS Energy
309 Reading Road
Henley-on-Thames
Oxfordshire RG9 1EL
United Kingdom

p r e s s  ag e n t s   
Pelham Bell Pottinger
6th Floor
Holborn Gate
330 High Holborn
London WC1V 7QD
United Kingdom

f i n a n c i a l  c a l e n da r
Group results for the year to 31 December 
are announced in March/April. The Annual 
General Meeting is held during the second 
quarter. Half year results to 30 June are 
announced in August. Additionally, the Group 
will issue an Interim Management Statement 
between 10 weeks after the beginning and six 
weeks before the end of each half year period.

w e B s i t e
www.heritageoilplc.com

The Heritage Oil Plc Annual Report and 
Accounts 2010 consists of four documents  
as detailed below. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance 
Report provides detailed 
information on all aspects 
of Heritage’s corporate 
governance.

Corporate Social
Responsibility
The CSR Report provides 
detailed information 
concerning Heritage’s  
CSR activities.

Financial Statements
The Financial Statements 
Report provides detailed 
information on Heritage’s 
financial position.

Annual Review
The Annual Review 
provides an overview  
of Heritage, its processes 
and a Business Review.



e x c e l l e n c e   p e r f o r m a n c e

f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s
2 0 1 0

w w w. h e r i ta g e o i l p l c . c o m

h e r i t a g e  o i l

fourth floor, windward house
la route de la liberation

Je2 3BQ Jersey
channel islands

t: +44 (0) 1534 835 400 
f: +44 (0) 1534 835 412
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